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COMP  
THOMAS   F.   CHRISTENSEN,   ESQ.  
Nevada   Bar   No.   2326  
CHRISTENSEN   LAW   OFFICES,   LLC  
1000   S.   Valley   View   Blvd.  
Las   Vegas,   Nevada   89107  
T:   702-870-1000  
F:   702-870-6152  
courtnotices@injuryhelpnow.com  
 

DISTRICT   COURT  
CLARK   COUNTY,   NEVADA  

 
Damaso   S.   Puente,   individually   and   on   behalf   of  
the   Estate   of   Damaso   I.   Puente,   Maria   Puente,  
Daniel   Malone,   and   Diane   Malone,   individually  
and   on   behalf   of   the   Estate   of   Christa   Puente,   
  
  

Plaintiffs,   
vs.  
 
Henry   Biderman   Aparicio,   Morgan   Hurley,   Dave  
&   Buster’s   of   Nevada,   Inc   dba   Dave   &   Buster’s;  
Dave   &   Buster’s   Inc;   MAT-SUMMERLIN   LLC,  
dba   Casa   del   Matador   Summerlin;   MATADOR  
INVESTMENTS,   LLC;   OPPER   MELANG   5410,  
LLC;   MEL-OPP   &   GRIFF,   LLC;   OPP   MEL   &  
GRIFF,   INC.;   MOCORE,   LLC;   DOES   I   -   V,   and  
ROE   CORPORATIONS    I   -   V,    ROE  
MANUFACTURER   I   -   V;    ROE   WHOLESALER,  
I   -   V;    ROE   RETAILER,   I   -   V;  

 
Defendants.   
 
 

 
CASE   NO:  
DEPT.   NO:   
 
COMPLAINT  
 
(Exempt   from   Arbitration;  
amount   in   controversy  
Exceeds   $50,000.00   and   claim   
for   declaratory   relief)  

 
COME  NOW  the  Plaintiffs,  Damaso  S.  Puente,  individually  and  on  behalf  of  the  Estate  of                

Damaso  I.  Puente,  Maria  Puente,  Diane  Malone,  individually  and  on  behalf  of  the  Estate  of                

Christa  Puente,  and  Daniel  Malone,  by  and  through  Plaintiffs’  attorney,  THOMAS            

CHRISTENSEN,  of  the  law  firm  of  CHRISTENSEN  LAW  OFFICES,  and  complain  against  the              

Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   as   follows:  

 
1  

Case Number: A-20-813787-C

Electronically Filed
4/17/2020 9:45 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

CASE NO: A-20-813787-C
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I. PARTIES/JURISDICTION  

1.  Upon  information  and  belief,  that  at  all  times  relevant  to  this  action,  the  Defendant,                

Henry   Biderman   Aparicio,   was   a   resident   of   Clark   County,   Nevada.  

2. Upon  information  and  belief,  that  at  all  times  relevant  to  this  action,  the  Defendant,               

Morgan   Hurley,   was   a   resident   of   Clark   County,   Nevada.  

3. Upon  information  and  belief,  that  at  all  times  relevant  to  this  action,  the  Defendant,               

MAT-SUMMERLIN  LLC  dba  Casa  del  Matador  Summerlin,  was  a  business  located  in  Clark              

County,   Nevada.  

4. Upon  information  and  belief,  that  at  all  times  relevant  to  this  action,  the  Defendant,  Dave                

&  Buster’s  of  Nevada,  Inc.  dba  Dave  &  Buster’s,  was  a  business  located  in  Clark  County,                 

Nevada.  

5. That  Plaintiff  Damaso  S.  Puente  is  the  Special  Administrator  of  the  Estate  of  Damaso  I.                

Puente,   who   died   in   Clark   County,   Nevada.  

6. That  Damaso  S.  Puente  and  Maria  Puente,  at  all  times  relevant  to  this  action  were  the                 

parents   of   and   are   the   heirs   of   Decedent   Damaso   I.   Puente.  

7. That  Plaintiff  Diane  Malone  is  the  Special  Administrator  of  the  Estate  of  Christa  Puente,               

who   died   in   Clark   County,   Nevada.  

8. That  Daniel  Malone  and  Diane  Malone,  at  all  times  relevant  to  this  action  were  the                

parents   of   and   are   the    heirs   of   Decedent   Christa   Puente.  

9. Upon  information  and  belief,  MAT-SUMMERLIN,  LLC  is  and  was  a  business  entity             

registered  in  the  State  of  Nevada  and  in  the  State  of  Washington,  doing  business  as  Casa  del                  

Matador   in   Clark   County,   Nevada.   

10. That  Defendants  MATADOR  INVESTMENTS,  LLC;  OPPER  MELANG  5410,  LLC;          

MEL-OPP  &  GRIFF,  LLC;  OPP  MEL  &  GRIFF,  INC.;  MOCORE,  LLC;  MATADOR             
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INVESTMENTS,  LLC;  OPPER  MELANG  5410,  LLC;  MEL-OPP  &  GRIFF,  LLC;  OPP  MEL             

&  GRIFF,  INC.;  MOCORE,  LLC;  are  Washington  State  and/or  Nevada  entities  doing  business              

as  Casa  del  Matador  and/or  El  Matador  (hereinafter  collectively  referred  to  as  “Matador”)  in  and                

subject  to  the  laws  of  the  State  of  Washington  and  doing  business  in  and  subject  to  the  laws  of                    

the   State   of   Nevada.  

11.  That  Defendant  Dave  &  Buster’s  of  Nevada,  Inc.  is  a  Delaware  Corporation,  registered               

as  a  foreign  Corporation  and  doing  business  in  and  subject  to  the  laws  of  the  State  of  Nevada;                   

Dave  &  Buster’s,  Inc  is  a  Texas  State  entity  doing  business  in  and  subject  to  the  laws  of  the                    

State   of    Texas   and   doing   business   in   and   subject   to   the   laws   of   the   State   of   Nevada.  

12.  That  the  true  names  and  capacities,  whether  individual,  corporate,  partnership,  associate             

or  otherwise,  of  Defendants  DOES  I  through  V,  and  ROES  I  through  V,  ROE               

MANUFACTURER  I  -  V;  ROE  WHOLESALER,  I  -  V;  ROE  RETAILER,  I  -  V;  are  unknown                 

to  Plaintiffs,  who  therefore  sues  said  Defendants  by  such  fictitious  names.  Plaintiffs  are              

informed  and  believe  and  thereon  allege  that  each  of  the  Defendants  designated  herein  as  DOE,                

ROE,  ROE  MANUFACTURER  I  -  V;  ROE  WHOLESALER,  I  -  V;  ROE  RETAILER,  I  -  V  is                  

responsible  in  some  manner  for  the  events  and  happenings  referred  to  and  caused  damages               

proximately  to  Plaintiffs  as  herein  alleged,  and  that  Plaintiffs  will  ask  leave  of  this  Court  to                 

amend  this  Complaint  to  insert  the  true  names  and  capacities  of  DOES  I  through  V  and  ROES  I                   

through  V,  ROE  MANUFACTURER  I  -  V;  ROE  WHOLESALER,  I  -  V;  ROE  RETAILER,  I  -                 

V    when   the   same   have   been   ascertained,   and   to   join   such   Defendants   in   this   action.  

II.   GENERAL   ALLEGATIONS  

13. Upon  information  and  belief,  at  all  times  relevant  hereto,  Defendant  Henry  Biderman             

Aparicio  was  the  operator  and  Defendant  Morgan  Hurley  was  the  owner  of  a  certain  2014                

Mercedes-Benz,  Nevada  license  plate  number  UNLV16935  (hereinafter  referred  to  as           
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"Defendant's  Vehicle").  He  was  operating  the  vehicle  with  the  knowledge  and  consent  of              

Defendant   Morgan   Hurley   and   in   carrying   out   a   joint   venture   common   purpose.  

14.  At  all  times  relevant  hereto,  Decedent  Damaso  I.  Puente  was  the  operator  of,  and                

Christa  Puente  was  a  passenger  in,  a  certain  2010  Toyota  Prius,  Nevada  license  plate  number                

240ATX   (hereinafter   referred   to   as   "Plaintiff's   Vehicle").  

15.  On  May  15,  2018  at  approximately  9:08  pm,  Defendant  Henry  Biderman  Aparicio  was               

operating  the  Defendant's  Vehicle  with  the  consent  of  Morgan  Hurley  for  a  common  purpose  in                

an  eastbound  direction  on  W.  Sahara  Ave  approaching  the  intersection  of  S.  Hualapai  Way,               

located   in   Clark   County,   Nevada.  

16.  Plaintiffs  are  informed  and  thereon  allege,  that  on  the  date  and  time  as  set  forth  in  the                   

preceding  paragraph,  Plaintiff’s  vehicle  was  stopped  for  a  red  light  in  the  first  eastbound  travel                

lane   of   West   Sahara   Ave.,   at   its   intersection   with   Hualapai   Way.  

17.  On  or  about  May  15,  2018,  Defendant  Henry  Biderman  Aparicio,  acting  in  the  course                

and  scope  of  his  employment  with  Defendants  and  each  of  them,  did  carelessly  and  negligently                

operate  Defendant’s  vehicle  so  as  to  cause  the  same  to  collide  with  the  rear  of  Plaintiff’s  vehicle                  

while   far   exceeding   the   posted   speed   of   45   mph   (hereinafter   “the   crash.”)  

18.  At  the  time  of  the  crash,  Defendant  Henry  Biderman  Aparicio  was  driving  under  the                

influence  of  alcohol  .204  Blood  Alcohol  Content  per  blood  test  performed  by  LVMPD,  which               

was  obtained  at  1:47am  and  was  4  hours  and  40  minutes  after  the  crash.  with  such  an  elevated                   

B.AC.  the  Defendant  showed  signs  of  sedation,  loss  of  memory  and  lack  of  comprehension,               

delayed  motor  reactions,  balance  problems,  blurred  vision  and  sensation  impairment,  at  the  time              

of   the   crash  

19.  Immediately  prior  to  the  crash,  Defendant  Henry  Biderman  Aparicio  and  Morgan             

Hurley,  acting  in  concert  and  as  part  of  a  joint  venture,  consumed  alcohol  on  the  premises  of  the                   
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business  of  other  named  Defendants  as  a  result  of  the  Defendants  illegal  dangerous  activities  and                

without   being   warned   of   the   dangerous   product.   

20. On  May  15th,  2018,  Defendant  Henry  Biderman  Aparicio  consumed  at  least  13  tequila               

based  alcoholic  beverages  in  3  hours  and  15  minutes,  before  colliding  with  the  Plaintiffs’               

vehicle.   

21.  Defendant  Aparacio  with  the  knowledge  and  consent  of  Morgan  Hurley  willfully             

consumed   alcohol   while   knowing   that   he   would   later   operate   a   motor   vehicle.   

22.  Defendants,  and  each  of  them,  promoted  and  encouraged  the  acts  of  the  other               

Defendants.   

23.    Defendant   did   not   eat   food   during   the   time   he   consumed   alcoholic   drinks.  

24.  Plaintiffs  are  informed  and  thereon  allege  that  Henry  Biderman  Aparicio  was  employed              

by  Casa  Del  Matador  and  that  five  of  the  beverages  were  consumed  at  Casa  Del  Matador  just                  

prior   to   the   crash.   

25.  At  the  time  Defendant  was  served  at  Casa  Del  Matador,  he  was  obviously  intoxicated                

within  the  meaning  of  Clark  County  Ordinance  8.20.300  and  Washington  Code RCW  66.44.200              

(1) .  Morgan  Hurley  and  Aparicio’s  co-employees  knew  he  was  intoxicated  and  knowingly             

conspired   to   violate   company   policy   and   the   law   by   providing   alcohol   to   an   intoxicated   person.  

26.  Defendant  Aparicio  was  served  alcoholic  drinks  despite  his  obvious  intoxication            

because  he  was  an  employee  and  was  given  preferential  treatment;  he  and  his  joint  venturer,                

Defendant  Morgan  Hurley,  were  served  drinks  until  Defendant  Hurley  fell  off  her  barstool  due  to                

her  drunken  state  and  Defendant  Aparicio  staggered  to  the  vehicle  in  the  parking  lot  with  the  aid                  

of  fellow  employees.  Defendants  continued  alcohol  service  because  Aparicio  and  Hurley  were             

known  by  Aparicio’s  co-workers  and  given  preferential  treatment  in  violation  of  company  policy              

due   to   Aparicio’s   employment   status   at   Casa   Del   Matador.  
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27.  On  or  about  January  11,  2018,  and  at  other  times  and  in  similar  ways,  Casa  del  Matador                   

Summerlin  used  a  photograph  of  Aparicio,  holding  a  bottle  of  Tequila,  advertising  happy  hour               

on   social   media.   

28.  On  or  about  January  15,  2018  and  at  other  times  and  in  similar  ways  Casa  del  Matador                   

Summerlin  posted  on  Instagram:  “Start  your  week  right  with  our  bottomless  MONDAYS!!!  All              

you  can  eat  tacos  and  Margaritas  for  $25.  #tequila  #tgifridays  #mondays  #tacos  #mlkweekend              

#downtownsummerlin”.  

29.  On  or  about  July  13,  2018  and  at  other  times  and  in  similar  ways,  Casa  del  Matador                   

Summerlin  posted  on  Instagram  a  picture  with  the  caption  “You  have  10  minutes  to  drink  30                 

tequila   shots…who’s   your   team?”   

30. The  Plaintiffs  have  been  required  to  retain  the  law  firm  of  Christensen  Law  Offices,  LLC                

to   prosecute   this   action,   and   are   entitled   to   a   reasonable   attorney's   fee.  

III.   CAUSES   OF   ACTION  

FIRST   CAUSE   OF   ACTION   

31. Plaintiffs  repeat  and  reallege  each  and  every  allegation  contained  in  the  foregoing             

paragraphs   and   incorporate   the   same   herein   by   reference.   

32. Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   owed   a   duty   of   care   to   Plaintiffs.   

33. Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   breached   the   duty   of   care   owed   to   Plaintiffs.  

34. Defendants,  and  each  of  them,  were  negligent  so  as  to  proximately  cause  the  crash               

described   herein   which   resulted   in   the   deaths   of   Damaso   I.   Puente   and   Christa   Puente.  

35. That,  at  all  times  mentioned  herein,  Defendants  acted  recklessly,  maliciously  and            

willfully,   as   set   forth   herein,   whereupon   Defendants   breached   their   duty   of   care.   

36. That  as  a  direct  and  proximate  result  of  the  aforesaid  negligence  and/  or  reckless,               

malicious  and  willful  acts  of  Defendants,  and  each  of  them,  Decedents  Damaso  I.  Puente  and                
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Christa  Puente  sustained  grievous  and  serious  personal  injuries  and  damages,  which  caused  their              

deaths.   

37. At  the  time  of  the  crash  herein  complained  of,  and  immediately  prior  thereto,  Defendant,               

Henry  Biderman  Aparicio,  and/or  Defendant  Morgan  Hurley  and  each  of  the  defendants  in              

breaching  a  duty  owed  to  Plaintiffs,  and  each  of  them,  were  negligent  and  careless,  inter  alia,  in                  

the   following   particulars:  

a. In   failing   to   keep   Defendant's   vehicle   under   proper   control;  

b. In   operating   Defendant's   vehicle   without   due   caution   for   the   rights   of   Decedents;  

c. In   failing   to   keep   a   proper   lookout   for   Decedents;   

d. In  driving  recklessly  and  with  reckless  disregard  for  the  safety  of  Damaso  I  and  Christa                

Puente;   

e. In  operating  the  Defendant’s  vehicle  under  the  influence  of  alcohol  and/or  other  controlled              

or   prescribed   substances;   

f. In   entrusting   the   vehicle   to   the   driver   of   the   vehicle;   and  

g. In  violating  certain  Nevada  revised  statutes  and  Clark  County  Ordinances,  including  but             

not  limited  to  NRS  484.377,  484.379  and  484.3795;  the  Plaintiffs  will  pray  leave  of               

Court   to   insert   additional    statutes   or   ordinances   at   the   time   of   trial.  

38. Defendant  was  convicted  of  the  crime  of  driving  under  the  influence  and  reckless  driving               

and   is   therefore   civilly   liable   under    NRS   41.133    for   all   damages   caused   pursuant   to   Nevada   law.  

SECOND   CAUSE   OF   ACTION  

39. Plaintiffs  repeat  and  reallege  each  and  every  allegation  contained  in  the  foregoing             

paragraphs   and   incorporate   the   same   herein   by   reference.   

/   /   /   /   
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40.  That  at  the  time  of  the  crash  herein  complained  of,  and  immediately  prior  thereto,                

Defendant  Morgan  Hurley,  in  breaching  a  duty  owed  to  the  Plaintiffs,  was  negligent  and               

careless,   inter   alia,   in   the   following   particulars:  

a. In   failing   to   properly   maintain   the   Defendant’s   Vehicle;  

b. In   negligently   entrusting   the   Defendant’s   Vehicle   to   Defendant   Aparicio;  

c. Vicarious   liability   through   operation   of   NRS   41.440;   and  

d. The   Defendant   violated   certain   state   and   local   statutes,   rules,   regulations,   codes   and  

ordinances,   and   the   Plaintiff   will   pray   leave   of   Court   to   insert   the   exact   citations   at   the   time  

of   trial.  

41. Alternatively,   Plaintiffs   allege   Defendant   Hurley   was   the   driver   in   the   crash.   

THIRD   CAUSE   OF   ACTION   

42. Plaintiffs   repeat   and   reallege   each   and   every   allegation   contained   in   the   foregoing  

paragraphs   and   incorporate   the   same   herein   by   reference.   

43. Defendants,   in   concert   with   each   other,   carried   on   an   abnormally   dangerous   activity   that  

risked   harm   to   the   person   of   Decedent,   which   was   foreseeable   even   if   reasonable   care   had   been  

used.   

44.   The   carrying   on   of   this   activity   resulted   in   harm   to   the   person   of   the   Decedents.  

FOURTH   CAUSE   OF   ACTION  

45.     Plaintiffs   repeat   and   reallege   each   and   every   allegation   contained   in   the   foregoing  

paragraphs   and   incorporate   the   same   herein   by   reference.   

/   /   /   /  

/   /   /   /  

/   /   /   /   

/   /   /   /  
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46. Defendant   ROE   RETAILER   is   an   unknown   entity   engaged   in   the   business   of   selling  

tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages   at   retail   and   was   and   is   the   distributor,   retailer   and/or   seller  

of   the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages   and   as   such   did   transport,   ship,   introduce   and/or  

cause   said   product   to   be   introduced   into   the   State   of   Nevada,   the   State   of   Washington,   and   other  

states,   for   the   purpose   of   its   sale,   distribution   and/or   use   within   the   State   of   Nevada,   the   State   of  

Washington   and   other   states.   

47. Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   expected   the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages   so   sold  

to   reach   consumers   or   users   in   the   condition   in   which   it   was   sold.  

48. Defendant   Aparicio   either   purchased   or   was   provided   with    tequila   and   other   alcoholic  

beverages    from   ROE   RETAILER   for   a   drink   and   actually   used   the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic  

beverages    as   a   drink,   and   Aparicio’s   use   and   manner   of   use   of   the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic  

beverages    was   reasonably   foreseeable   by   the   Defendants,   and   each   of   them.   

49. Plaintiff   is   informed   and   believes,   and   in   reliance   thereon   alleges,   that   the   tequila   and  

other   alcoholic   beverages    were   then   and   there   in   the   condition   existing   when   Defendant   ROE  

MANUFACTURER   sold   and/or   delivered   it   to   Defendant   ROE   WHOLESALER,   and   in   the   same  

condition   existing   when   Defendant   ROE   WHOLESALER   sold   and/or   delivered   it   to   ROE  

RETAILER.   

50. Plaintiff   is   informed   and   believes,   and   in   reliance   thereon   alleges,   that   the   same   condition  

of   the   product   existed   when   Defendant   ROE   RETAILER   sold   and/or   delivered   the   tequila   and  

other   alcoholic   beverages    to   Aparicio,   and   the   condition   of   the   product   remained   unchanged  

when   Aparicio   used   the   product   which   resulted   in   injuries   and   damages   because   of   the  

unreasonably   dangerous   condition   of   the   product.  

/   /   /   /  

/   /   /   /  
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51. When   Plaintiffs   sustained   the   injuries   hereinafter   alleged,   the   tequila    and   other   alcoholic  

beverages   were   in   a   defective   condition   and   were   unreasonably   dangerous   to   a   user   or   consumer  

in   that   the   tequila   was   defective   and   unreasonably   dangerous.  

52. Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   knew   or   through   the   exercise   of   reasonable   care   and  

diligence,   should   have   known   of   such   defective   and   unreasonably   dangerous   conditions.  

53. Plaintiffs   relied   on   the   duty   of   Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   to   deliver   the   tequila   and  

other   alcoholic   beverages    at   the   time   of   sale   and/or   delivery   by   each   in   a   condition   fit   for   use   for  

the   purpose   intended.    The   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages    were   defective,   unreasonably  

dangerous,   and   were   in   fact   not   fit   for   the   purposes   and   uses   for   which   they   were   intended.   

54. The   breach   of   such   duty   by   Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   and   such   defective   condition   of  

the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages,   were   a   proximate   cause   of   the   injuries   sustained   by  

Plaintiff.  

55. By   reason   of   the   premises   and   as   a   direct   and   proximate   result   of   all   of   the   foregoing,  

Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   are   strictly   liable   to   Plaintiff   for   the   injuries   and   damages  

hereinabove   set   forth.  

56. Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   owed   a   duty   to   all   persons   who   could   reasonably   be  

foreseen   to   use   the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages    or   be   injured   as   a   result   of   the   use   of   the  

tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages,   and   such   a   duty   was   specifically   owed   to   Plaintiff.  

57. Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   breached   a   duty   owed   to   the   Plaintiff   consisting   of,   among  

other   things,   the   following:  

a. Failure  to  warn  by  statement  on  the  product,  in  the  instruction  booklet,  or  otherwise,  of  the                 

unreasonably   dangerous   conditions   of   the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages;  

/   /   /   /  

/   /   /   /  

 
10  AA011



 

b. Failure  to  properly  design  the  tequila  and  other  alcoholic  beverages  in  such  a  manner  as  to                 

avoid  or  minimize  the  unreasonable  danger  to  users  of  the  tequila  and  other  alcoholic               

beverages;  

c. Failure  to  properly  and  adequately  test  and  inspect  the  tequila  and  other  alcoholic              

beverages  to  ascertain  its  unreasonably  dangerous  condition;  Failure  to  give  adequate            

instructions  regarding  the  safe  use  of  the  tequila  and  other  alcoholic  beverages;  i.e.  Tequila               

and  other  alcoholic  beverages  should  not  be  consumed  on  an  empty  stomach,  should  not               

be  consumed  quickly,  designed  to  be  sipped  and  not  taken  in  shot  form.  Failure  to  use  due                  

care   to   avoid   misrepresentations,   cannot   operate   machinery.  

58. As  a  direct  and  proximate  result  of  the  actions  and  inactions  of  Defendants,  and  each                

of   them,   Plaintiffs   were   caused   to   suffer   the   injuries   and   damages   hereinabove   set   forth.  

59. The  Alcoholic  Beverage  Labeling  Act  (ABLA)  of  The  Anti-Drug  Abuse  Act  of             

1988,  enacted  November  18,  1988,  is  United  States  federal  law  requiring  that  (among  other               

provisions)  the  labels  of  alcoholic  beverages  carry  a  government  warning.  The  warning  reads:  (1)               

According  to  the  Surgeon  General,...  (2)  Consumption  of  alcoholic  beverages  impairs  your  ability              

to  drive  a  car  or  to  operate  machinery  ....;  The  ABLA  also  contains  a  declaration  of  policy  and                   

purpose,  which  states  the  United  States  Congress  finds  that:  The  American  public  should  be               

informed  about  the  health  hazards  that  may  result  from  the  consumption  or  abuse  of  alcoholic                

beverages,  and  has  determined  that  it  would  be  beneficial  to  provide  a  clear,  non-confusing               

reminder  of  such  hazards,  and  that  there  is  a  need  for  national  uniformity  in  such  reminders  in                  

order  to  avoid  the  promulgation  of  incorrect  or  misleading  information  and  to  minimize  burdens               

on   interstate   commerce.  

60. Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   placed   on   the   market   a   defective   product.  

61.   Decedents’   deaths   were   caused   by   the   defect   in   the   product.  

 
11  AA012



 

62. Such  defects  existed  when  the  product  left  the  hands  of  the  Defendants  and  each  of                

them.  

63. It  is  unreasonably  dangerous  to  place  the  product  in  the  hands  of  a  consumer  without                

adequate   warning   concerning   its   safe   and   proper   use.  

64. As  a  direct  and  proximate  result  of  the  defective  product,  Plaintiffs  have  been              

deprived  of  the  services,  assistance,  comfort,  society,  support  maintenance,  and  companionship  of             

Damaso  I.  Puente  and  Christa  Puente,  and  were  caused  great  emotional  damage  and  injury  in  an                 

amount  to  be  more  specifically  determined  at  the  time  of  trial,  but  which  is  an  amount  in  excess                   

of   $15,000.00.   

65. As  a  direct  and  proximate  result  of  the  defective  product,  Damaso  I.  Puente  and               

Christa  Puente  were  caused  great  pain  and  suffering  in  an  amount  to  be  more  specifically                

determined   at   trial,   but   which   is   an   amount   in   excess   of   $15,000.00.  

FIFTH   CAUSE   OF   ACTION  

66. Plaintiffs   repeat   and   reallege   each   and   every   allegation   contained   in   the   foregoing  

paragraphs   and   incorporate   the   same   herein   by   reference.   

67. Prior   to   the   purchase   or   use   of   the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages,   Defendants,  

and   each   of   them,   in   order   to   induce   the   purchase   or   use   of   the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic  

beverages,   provided   express   warranties   and   representations,   including,   but   not   limited   to,   the  

warranty   that   the   products   were   fit   for   use   for   the   purpose   intended.  

68. The   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages   were   purchased   and/or   used   in   reliance   on  

said   express   warranties   and   representations.  

69. Said   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages   were   defective   and   unreasonably  

dangerous,   were   not   fit   for   the   purposes   and   uses   for   which   they   were   intended,   and   were   not   of  

merchantable   quality.  
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70. As   a   direct   and   proximate   result   of   the   breach   of   express   warranties   and  

representations   by   the   Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   Plaintiff   was   caused   to   suffer   the   injuries  

and   damages   as   herein   set   forth.  

SIXTH   CAUSE   OF   ACTION  

71. Plaintiffs   repeat   and   reallege   each   and   every   allegation   contained   in   the   foregoing  

paragraphs   and   incorporate   the   same   herein   by   reference.   

72. Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   impliedly   warranted   that   the   tequila   and   other  

alcoholic   beverages   were   fit   for   use   for   the   purpose   for   which   they   were   designed,   and   that   the  

tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages    were   fit   and   suitable   for   the   use   in   fact   made   by   Aparicio.  

73. In   purchasing   and   using   the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages,   Aparicio   relied   on  

the   skill   and   judgment   of   Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   and   the   implied   warranty   of   fitness   for  

the   purpose   for   which   Aparicio   purchased   and/or   used   the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages.  

74. The   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages   were   not   fit   for   use   for   its   intended  

purpose   and   Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   breached   the   implied   warranty   of   fitness.  

75. As   a   direct   and   proximate   result   of   the   breach   of   implied   warranty   of   fitness   by  

Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   Plaintiffs   were   caused   to   suffer   said   injuries   and   damages   herein  

set   forth.  

SEVENTH   CAUSE   OF   ACTION   

76. Plaintiffs   repeat   and   reallege   each   and   every   allegation   contained   in   the   foregoing  

paragraphs   and   incorporate   the   same   herein   by   reference.  

77. The   Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   promoted   a   dangerous   activity   with   a   complete  

lack   of   disregard   for   the   safety   of   the   community   in   which   they   live   and   do   business.   

78. The   Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   were   promoting   and   encouraging    drinking   and  

driving.  
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79. There   is   a   special   relationship   between   the   Defendants   and   Defendant   Aparicio;   

the   harm   created   by   Aparicio's   conduct   is   foreseeable.  

80. Defendants   condone   bartenders   to   do   shots   with   customers.  

81. Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   failed   to   warn   or   take   steps   to   provide   transportation  

for   competitors    in   any   of   these   drinking   challenges.   

EIGHTH   CAUSE   OF   ACTION  

82. Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   were   negligent   and   careless   in   failing   to   adequately  

investigate   the   background,   personality   traits   and   work   history   of   their   employees,   and   each   of  

them,   subsequent   to   hiring.   

83. Defendants,   in   the   exercise   of   ordinary   care,   should   have   known   of   the   individual  

employees’   unfitness   to   act   as   responsible   employees   and   should   not   have   hired/retained   the  

employees.   

84. Defendants,   and   each   of   them,failed   to   adopt   and   administer   adequate   procedures   to  

protect   third   parties.   

85. Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   failed   to   evaluate,   supervise   and/or   investigate   factual  

indications   which   suggested   that   overserving   and/or   serving   to   employees   would   create   risks   to  

third   parties.   

86. Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   failed   to   reasonably   supervisor   or   monitor   service   of  

alcoholic   beverages   to   ensure   adequate   safety   precautions   were   taken   and   to   recognize   and  

evaluate   potential   risks   to   third   parties.   

87. Defendants,   and   each   of   them   was   negligent   and   careless   in   failing   to   adequately  

train   and   educate   its   employees   on   the   dangers   of   serving   intoxicated   co-workers,    patrons   and  

friends.   
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88. Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   failed   to   adequately   evaluate,   supervise   and/or  

investigate   activities   on   its   premises   that   indicated   danger   to   society.  

89. Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   failed   to   use   reasonable   care   to   protect   third   parties  

from   risk.  

90.   At   all   times   material   to   this   complaint,   Defendant   Henry   Biderman   Aparicio   was  

employed   at   Casa   Del   Matador   working   behind   the   bar.   Defendant   Casa   Del   Matador,   and   DOE  

1-2   knew   or   should   have   known   that   this   Defendant   exhibited   known   vicious,   dangerous,   and  

lawless   propensities   that   posed   a   substantial   risk   of    harm   to   the   public.   These   known   propensities  

included:  

a. Arrest   for   drug   use;  

b. Reckless   driving   on   the   wrong   side   of   the   road;  

c. Arrest   for   carrying   a   concealed   weapon   around   schools;  

d.   Social   media   posts   indicating   a   contempt   for   the   law   and   law   enforcement  

91. At   all   times   complained   of,     Morgan   Hurley,    Casa   Del   Matador   and   its   employees  

acted   in   concert   with   Defendant   Aparicio.    Due   to   Aparicio’s   employment   relationship   with   Casa  

Del   Matador,   Defendants   escorted   him   out   of   the   establishment   and   looked   in   on   him   while   in  

his   vehicle   in   the   parking   lot,   knowing   that   Aparicio   was   going   to   operate   a   motor   vehicle   on   a  

public   roadway   while   intoxicated   in   violation   of   State   Law.  

92.   Defendants   Casa   Del   Matador   and   their   employees   violated   their   duty   of   care   by:  

a. Affirmatively   aiding   a   severely   intoxicated   person   to   operate   a   motor   vehicle;  

b. Affirmatively   participating   in   the   commission   of   a   crime;  

c. Failing   to   render   aid   to   a   severely   intoxicated   person   unable   to   safely   operate   a  

motor   vehicle;  

d. Failing   to   obtain   transportation   for   Defendant   Aparicio   and   Hurley;  
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e. Failing   to   call   the   police   to   prevent   a   crime.  

93. As   a   direct   and   proximate   result   of   the   conduct   of   Defendants   and   Henry   Biderman  

Aparicio’s   employment   at   Casa   Del   Matador,   Damaso   I.   Puente   and   Christa   Puente   were   killed,  

all   to   Plaintiffs’   damages   as   are   hereinafter   alleged.  

94. The   Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   under   the   doctrine   of   respondeat   superior,   are  

liable   to   the   Plaintiffs   for   their   damages   caused   by   the   Defendant   Aparicio.  

95. The   actions   of   Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   in   this   matter   have   been   intentional,  

fraudulent,   malicious,   oppressive,   reckless,   and   in   conscious   disregard   of   Plaintiffs'   rights   and  

therefore   Plaintiffs   are   entitled   to   punitive   damages   in   an   amount   in   excess   of   Fifteen   Thousand  

Dollars   ($15,000.00).  

96. Casa   Del   Matador   knew   or   should   have   known   that   Defendant   was   not   fit   for   the  

employment   and   was   a   danger   to   others   and   still   employed   Aparicio.    Defendant   breached   a   duty  

in   hiring   an   employee   knowing   or   should   have   known   of   dangerous   propensities.     Matador   and  

Casa   Del   Matador   ratified   the   acts   of   Defendant   Aparicio   and   his   co-actor.    Matador   and   Casa  

del   Matador   promoted   illegal   behavior.     Employees   received   preferential   treatment   which  

directly   caused   injuries   and   damages   to   Plaintiffs.   

97. The   actions   of   Defendants   were   reckless   and   in   violation   of   NRS   42.010   and   give  

rise   to   punitive   damages   pursuant   to   that   section   and   other   state   laws.   

98. Defendants   knew   that   driving   under   the   influence   was   breaching   a   duty   owed   to  

Plaintiffs.  

99. Defendants   substantially   assisted   and   encouraged   Aparicio’s   conduct   and   Plaintiffs  

thereby   sustained   damages.  

100. As   a   result   of   the   foregoing   wrongful   conduct,   Plaintiffs   have   suffered   great   physical  

and   mental   harm,   mental   anxiety,   grief   and   sorrow.   
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NINTH   CAUSE   OF   ACTION   

101. Plaintiffs   repeat   and   reallege   each   and   every   allegation   contained   in   the   foregoing  

paragraphs   and   incorporate   the   same   herein   by   reference.  

102. Clark   County   code   section   8.20.300   provides   that   it   is   unlawful   for   any   licensee  

under   the   provisions   of   this   chapter,   or   any   of   his   servants   or   employees,   to   sell,   serve   or   give  

away   alcoholic   liquor   to   any   intoxicated   person.     Matador   is   subject   to   the   Statutes   of  

Washington   including   RCW   66.44.200   (1)   which   provides   that   no   person   shall   sell   any   liquor   to  

any   person   apparently   under   the   influence   of   liquor.  

103. Violation   of   these   statutory   and   code   provisions   establish   negligence   per   se   on   the  

part   of   Defendants.   

104. That    Defendants’   actions   are   not   protected   by   NRS   41.1305   as   they   were   outside   of  

the   limited   merely   “serves,   sells   or   otherwise   furnishes”   alcoholic   beverages.   

105. As   a   result   of   the   foregoing   wrongful   conduct,   Plaintiffs   have   suffered   great   physical  

and   mental   harm,   mental   anxiety,   grief   and   sorrow.   

TENTH   CAUSE   OF   ACTION  

106. Plaintiffs   repeat   and   reallege   each   and   every   allegation   contained   in   the   foregoing  

paragraphs   and   incorporate   the   same   herein   by   reference.  

107. To   the   extent    NRS   41.1305   is   ambiguous   or   protects   the    Defendants   under   the   facts  

of   this   case,   it   is   an   unconstitutional   taking   and   violation   of   the   equal   protection   of   the   law   and   a  

taking   of   life   liberty   and   the   pursuit   of   happiness   of   the   Plaintiffs   without   due   process   of   law.  

NRS   41.1305   is   unconstitutional.   

/   /   /   /  

/   /   /   /  

/   /   /   /  

 
17  AA018



 

108. Plaintiffs   further   allege   that   application   of   NRS   41.1305   immunity   against  

“dramshop”   type   civil   claims   under   the   facts   of   this   case   is   a   violation   of   Plaintiff’s   Civil   rights  

under   the   Due   Process   and   Equal   Protection   provisions   of   the   Constitution   of   the   State   of   Nevada,  

and   the   Constitution   of   the   United   States   of   America.   

109. An   actual   controversy   has   arisen   and   now   exists   between   Plaintiffs   and   Defendants  

concerning   the   respective   rights   and   duties   under   the   law   and   related   to   the   law.   

110. Plaintiffs   desire   a   judicial   determination   of   their   rights   and   duties   and   a   declaration  

as   to   their   rights   and   remedies   under   the   law   and   that   the   law   is   unconstitutional.  

ELEVENTH    CAUSE   OF   ACTION   

111.   Plaintiffs   repeat   and   reallege   each   and   every   allegation   contained   in   the   foregoing  

paragraphs   and   incorporate   the   same   herein   by   reference.   

112. Upon   information   and   belief,   at   all   times   herein   mentioned   each   of   the   Defendants  

was   the   agent   and   employee   of   the   other   Defendants   and   was   acting   within   the   course,   scope   and  

authority   of   said   agency;   each    Defendant   approved,   ratified   and   authorized   the   acts   of   each   of   the  

other   Defendants   as   herein   alleged;   each   Defendant    was   subject   to   a   right   of   control   by   the   other  

Defendants;   each   Defendant   was   authorized   to   act   for   each   and   all   of   the   other   Defendants;   and  

each   Defendant   is   a   successor   in   interest   to   each   of   the   other   Defendants.   

113. Upon   information   and   belief,   Defendant   Aparicio,   was   employed   by   Defendants,  

and   each   of   them,   and   was   acting   within   the   course   and   scope   of   his   employment   when   the  

incident   herein   complained   of   occurred.  

114. Under   the   doctrine   of   respondeat   superior,   Defendants   are   jointly   and   severally  

liable   for   the   torts   and   conduct   of   its   employees   herein   referenced   directly   and   proximately  

damaging   the   Plaintiffs   in   an   amount   to   be   more   specifically   determined   at   the   time   of   trial.  

IV.   DAMAGES  
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115. By   reason   of   the   premises,   and   as   a   direct   and   proximate   result   of   the   aforesaid  

negligence,   carelessness,   criminal   and   other   wrongful   acts   of   Defendants,   and   each   of   them,  

delineated   herein,   Decedents   Damaso   I.   Puente   and   Christa   Puente,   sustained   multiple   blunt   force  

trauma   injuries,   and   conscious   pain   and   suffering,   which   were   the   proximate   cause   of   their   death,  

amounting   to   damage   in   an   amount   in   excess   of   $15,000.00.  

116. Prior   to   the   injuries,   complained   of   herein,   Decedents   Damaso   I.   Puente   and   Christa  

Puente   were   able-bodied   persons,   capable   of   being   gainfully   employed   and   capable   of   engaging  

in   all   other   activities   for   which   they   were   otherwise   suited   and   have   thereby   suffered   a   loss   of  

future   earnings   and   household   services.   

117. That   Damaso   S.   Puente,   Maria   Puente,   Daniel   Malone   and   Diane   Malone,   were   each  

caused   to   suffer   grief   and   sorrow,   loss   of   probable   support,   companionship,   society,   comfort   and  

consortium   as   a   result   of   the   death   and   disfigurement   of   Damaso   I.   Puente   and   Christa   Puente,  

amounting   to   damage   in   an   amount   in   excess   of   $15,000.00.  

118. By   reason   of   the   premises,   and   as   a   direct   and   proximate   result   of   the   aforesaid  

negligence   and   carelessness,   criminal   and   other   wrongful   acts   of   Defendants,   and   each   of   them,  

Plaintiffs   have   been   caused   to   expend   monies,   for   funeral   and   miscellaneous   expenses   incidental  

thereto   as   of   this   time   in   the   approximate   amount   of   $15,000.00   and   may   in   the   future   be   caused  

to   expend   additional   monies   for   funeral   expenses   and   miscellaneous   expenses   incidental   thereto,  

in   a   sum   not   yet   presently   ascertainable,   and   leave   of   Court   will   be   requested   to   include   said  

additional   damages   when   the   same   have   been   fully   determined.  

119. The   Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   are   guilty   of   oppression,   fraud   and   malice,  

express   or   implied,   and   Plaintiffs   in   addition   to   compensatory   damages,   should   recover   punitive  

damages,   pursuant   to   NRS   42.010   and   other   legal   basis,   for   the   sake   of   example   and   by   way   of  

punishing   the   Defendants,   and   each   of   them.   
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120. The   Plaintiffs   have   been   required   to   retain   the   law   firm   of   Christensen   Law   Offices,  

LLC   to   prosecute   this   action,   and   are   entitled   to   a   reasonable   attorney's   fee.  

WHEREFORE,  Plaintiffs,  expressly  reserving  the  right  herein  to  include  all  items  of             

damage,   demand   judgment   against   the   Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   as   follows:  

1. General   damages   in   an   amount   in   excess   of   $15,000.00;  

2. General   damages   in   an   amount   in   excess   of   $15,000.00;  

3. Special   damages   in   an   amount   in   excess   of   $15,000.00;  

4. Pecuniary   damages   for   Plaintiffs’   grief   and   sorrow   in   excess   of   $15,000.00  

5. For   damages   for   conscious   pain,   suffering,   disfigurement,   mental   anguish   and   loss   of  

enjoyment   of   life   of   the   Decedents   in   an   amount   in   excess   of   $15,000.00;   

6. For   loss   of   earning   capacity   and   future   loss   of   earning   capacity   of   Decedents   in   amounts  

to   be   proven   at   trial;   

7. Special   damages   for   medical,   funeral   and   other   expenses   according   to   proof;  

8. For   damages   for   wrongful   death   in   an   amount   in   excess   of   $15,000.00;  

9. Punitive   damages   in   excess   of   $15,000.00;  

10. For   declaratory   judgment;   

11. Costs   of   this   suit;  

12. Attorney's   fees;  

13. For   such   other   and   further   relief   as   to   the   Court   may   seem   just   and   proper   in   the  

premises.  

/   /   /   /  

/   /   /   /  

/   /   /   /  

/   /   /   /  
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DATED   THIS   ____   day   of   April,   2020.  

  
      CHRISTENSEN   LAW   OFFICES,   LLC  
 
 
       BY:___________________________  

THOMAS   CHRISTENSEN,   ESQ.   
Nevada   Bar   No.   2326  
1000   S.   Valley   View   Blvd.   
Las   Vegas,   Nevada    89107  
Attorney   for   Damaso   Puente,   Maria   Puente,   

 Daniel   Malone   and   Diane   Malone  
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MICHAEL P. LOWRY, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10666 
E-mail: Michael.Lowry@wilsonelser.com  
VIRGINIA T. TOMOVA, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 12504 
E-mail: Virginia.Tomova@wilsonelser.com   
6689 Las Vegas Blvd. South, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 
Tel: 702.727.1400/Fax: 702.727.1401 
Attorneys for Dave & Buster’s of Nevada, Inc. 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

Mr. Aparicio drove drunk and killed Damaso & Christa Puente.  He was convicted for his 

actions and is serving a 15 year sentence.  In Nevada, the person who drove drunk is responsible 

for his actions, not the restaurants where he drank.  The facts pled in the complaint do not state a 

claim upon which Plaintiffs could recover because NRS 41.1305 bars any recovery from Dave & 

Buster’s in this scenario.  Consequently the complaint should be dismissed as to Dave & Buster’s 

per NRCP 12(b)(5). 

 

 

   Damaso S. Puente, individually and on behalf of the 
Estate of Damaso I. Puente; Maria Puente; Daniel 
Malone; and Diane Malone, individually and on 
behalf of the Estate of Christa Puente,  

Plaintiffs,  

vs.  

Henry Biderman Aparicio; Morgan Hurley; Dave & 
Buster’s of Nevada, Inc. dba Dave & Buster’s; Dave 
& Buster’s, Inc.; MAT-Summerlin, LLC dba Casa 
del Matador Summerlin; Matador Investments, LLC; 
Opper Melang 5410, LLC; Mel-Opp & Griff, LLC; 
Opp Mel & Griff, Inc.; Mocore, LLC; Does I-V, and 
Roe Corportations I-V, Roe Manufacturer I-V; Roe 
Wholesaler I-V; Roe Retailer I-V,  

Defendants. 

 Case No.: A-20-813787-C 
Dept. No.: 18 
 
 
Dave & Buster’s of Nevada, Inc.’s 
Motion to Dismiss 
 
Hearing Requested 

   

Case Number: A-20-813787-C

Electronically Filed
5/20/2020 10:12 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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DATED this 20th day of May, 2020. 

 
/s/ Michael P. Lowry 

BY:    
MICHAEL P. LOWRY, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10666 
VIRGINIA T. TOMOVA, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 12504 
6689 Las Vegas Blvd. South, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 
Attorneys for Dave & Buster’s of Nevada, Inc. 
 

Memorandum of Points & Authorities 

I. Plaintiffs are suing for Aparicio’s decision to drive drunk. 

The facts alleged that are relevant to this motion are taken from the complaint.  Plaintiffs 

allege that on May 15, 2018 Aparicio drank at least 13 tequila based drinks in the 3 hours and 15 

minutes.1  At least five of those drinks were consumed at Casa del Matador.2  Aparicio consumed 

no food while he was drinking.3  While at Casa del Matador Aparicio was obviously intoxicated 

but was still served drinks.4  When he left, Casa del Matador’s employees assisted Aparicio to the 

Hurley’s vehicle.5 

Aparicio then drove Hurley’s car, with her permission, eastbound on Sahara.6  At the same 

time, the Puentes were stopped at a red signal on eastbound Sahara, at its intersection with 

Hualapai.7  Aparicio struck the Puentes’ vehicle and killed them.8  A blood draw taken hours after 

the collision indicated Aparicio’s blood-alcohol content was 0.204%.9 

Plaintiffs have alleged numerous causes of action, but either they contain no additional 

facts as to Dave & Buster’s, or the causes of action themselves do not apply to Dave & Buster’s. 

 

                                                
1 Complaint at ¶ 20. 
2 Id. at ¶ 24. 
3 Id. at ¶ 23. 
4 Id. at ¶ 25. 
5 Id. at ¶ 26. 
6 Id. at ¶ 15. 
7 Id. at ¶¶ 14, 16. 
8 Id. at ¶¶ 17, 115. 
9 Id. at ¶ 18. 
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a. First Cause of Action 

This cause of action appears to allege negligence.  The specific negligent acts alleged all 

pertain to Aparicio’s operation of Hurley’s vehicle and Hurley’s negligent entrustment of that 

vehicle to Aparicio.10  This cause of action contains no allegations as to Dave & Buster’s. 

b. Second Cause of Action 

This cause of action appears to expressly allege negligent entrustment against Hurley.11  It 

alternatively alleges Hurley was driving when the collision occurred.12  This cause of action 

contains no allegations as to Dave & Buster’s. 

c. Third Cause of Action 

It is unclear specifically what legal theory this cause of action attempts to invoke.  It 

simply alleges “defendants, in concert with each other, carried on an abnormally dangerous 

activity that risked harm to the person of Decedent, which was foreseeable even if reasonable care 

had been used.”13  It appears Plaintiffs are alleging that Aparicio and Hurley acted in concert to 

engage in drunk driving, which is an abnormally dangerous activity.  Regardless, this cause of 

action contains no allegations as to Dave & Buster’s. 

d. Fourth Cause of Action 

The fourth cause of action appears to allege products liability against fictional defendants 

who manufactured, distributed, and sold the tequila Aparicio consumed.  Specifically, that “the 

tequila and other alcoholic beverages were in a defective condition and were unreasonably 

dangerous to a user or consumer in that the tequila was defective and unreasonably dangerous.14  

However, the cause of action contains no specific allegations against Dave & Buster’s. 

e. Fifth Cause of Action 

This cause of action seems to allege a breach of an express warranty.  It alleges 

unidentified defendants “provided express warranties and representations, including, but not 

                                                
10 Id. at ¶ 37 
11 Id. at ¶ 40. 
12 Id. at ¶ 41. 
13 Id. at ¶ 43. 
14 Id. at ¶ 51. 
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limited to, the warranty that the products were fit for use for the purpose intended.”15  This would 

again relate to a product claim.  Again, the cause of action contains no specific allegations against 

Dave & Buster’s. 

f. Sixth Cause of Action 

This cause of action alleges the tequila Aparicio consumed was “not fit for use for its 

intended purpose and Defendants, and each of them, breached the implied warranty of fitness.”16  

But it contains no specific allegations against Dave & Buster’s. 

g. Seventh Cause of Action 

The theory of liability this cause of action alleges is unclear.  Plaintiffs allege defendants 

“promoted a dangerous activity with a complete lack of disregard [sic] for the safety of the 

community in which they live and do business.”17  Plaintiffs further allege that defendants “were 

promoting and encouraging drinking and driving” and had a “special relationship” with 

Aparicio.18  Plaintiffs also alleged defendants “failed to warn or take steps to provide 

transportation for competitors in any of these drinking challenges.”19  The cause of action contains 

no specific factual allegations against Dave & Buster’s. 

It appears instead this cause action relates to Casa del Matador’s advertising.  Plaintiffs 

allege on January 11, 2018 Casa del Matador advertised its happy hour using a picture of Aparicio 

holding a bottle of tequila.20  They allege on January 15, 2018 Casa del Matador advertised “all 

you can eat tacos and margaritas for $25.”21  Plaintiffs also allege that, approximately two months 

after Aparicio drove drunk, Casa del Matador advertised a team tequila drinking contest.22 

h. Eighth Cause of Action 

This cause alleges negligent hiring as to Aparicio.  However, the facts pled with this cause 

of action assert only that Aparicio was an employee of Casa del Matador.23  It contains no 

                                                
15 Id. at ¶ 67. 
16 Id. at ¶ 74. 
17 Id. at ¶ 77. 
18 Id. at ¶¶ 78-79. 
19 Id. at ¶ 81. 
20 Id. at ¶ 27. 
21 Id. at ¶ 28. 
22 Id. at ¶ 29. 
23 Id. at ¶¶ 90-91. 
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allegations that Aparicio was an employee of Dave & Buster’s, or any other allegations against 

Dave & Buster’s. 

i. Ninth Cause of Action 

This cause of action alleges negligence per se for a violation of Clark County Code § 

8.20.300.  As with other causes of action, it contains no specific allegations against Dave & 

Buster’s. 

j. Tenth Cause of Action 

This section alleges that NRS 41.1305 is unconstitutional.  Regardless of whether that is an 

independent cause of action or a theory of liability, there are no specific allegations against Dave 

& Buster’s. 

k. Eleventh Cause of Action 

This cause asserts only that respondeat superior applies to all defendants.  However it does 

not distinguish between any of them or identify specific factual allegations against Dave & 

Buster’s. 

II. Plaintiffs must plead a set of facts that could entitle them to relief. 

When evaluating a motion to dismiss per NRCP 12(b)(5), the district court accepts all 

factual allegations in the complaint as true and draw all inferences in the plaintiffs favor.  

Dismissal is appropriate “only if it appears beyond a doubt that [the plaintiff] could prove no set 

of facts, which, if true, would entitle [her] to relief.”24 

III. Plaintiffs have not pled facts against Dave & Buster’s that could entitle them to relief. 

To summarize, Plaintiffs’ complaint alleges they were injured because Aparicio was 

served alcoholic drinks, consumed them, and drove drunk.  But NRS 41.1305 bars any recovery 

from Dave & Buster’s under this fact pattern. 

a. The complaint contains no specific factual allegations against Dave & Buster’s. 

Assuming the allegations that Aparicio drove drunk, Hurley negligently entrusted him with 

her car, and Casa del Matador employees helped Aparicio get to that car are all true, the complaint 

                                                
24 Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas, 124 Nev. 224, 228, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008).  Dave & 
Buster’s urges an appellate court to discard this standard in favor of the federal Iqbal standard, but 
acknowledges Buzz Stew controls the district court’s evaluation at this time. 
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still contains no specific factual allegations as to Dave & Buster’s.  The complaint does not even 

expressly allege that Aparicio was at Dave & Buster’s or consumed alcohol there. 

In short, although Nevada may be a notice pleading state, a plaintiff must still provide fair 

notice of the allegations against a defendant.  Here there are numerous defendants but the factual 

allegations asserted relate to only three: 1) Aparicio; 2) Hurley; and 3) Casa del Matador. 

b. NRS 41.1305 bars liability against Dave & Buster’s under the facts alleged. 

For purposes of this motion Dave & Buster’s assumes that if Plaintiffs filed an amended 

complaint, it would allege that 1) Dave & Buster’s sells alcoholic beverages; 2) sold them to 

Aparicio; 3) a result of Dave & Buster’s selling alcoholic drinks to Aparicio, Aparicio drove 

drunk; and 4) injured plaintiffs.  NRS 41.1305(1) expressly prohibits this exact type of liability. 

 
A person who serves, sells or otherwise furnishes an alcoholic beverage to another 
person who is 21 years of age or older is not liable in a civil action for any damages 
caused by the person to whom the alcoholic beverage was served, sold or furnished as 
a result of the consumption of the alcoholic beverage.25 
 

NRS 41.1305(2) creates the only exception to NRS 41.1305(1)’s prohibition.  That 

exception allows liability if the person served was underage, but Plaintiffs do not allege Aparicio 

was less than 21 years old so the exception does not apply.  In short, even if Plaintiffs proved all 

the facts alleged, NRS 41.1305(1) prohibits liability against Dave & Buster’s. 

NRS 41.1305 was enacted in 1995 and represented the Legislature’s codification of a 

common law doctrine, but with a twist.  The Supreme Court had twice ruled refused to allow a tort 

claim for negligence arising out of the distribution of alcohol.  Instead it had concluded the 

proximate cause of any damage resulting from a person who has consumed alcohol is the 

consumption of alcohol itself, not its distribution.26  The motivation for NRS 41.1305 seems to 

have been Hinegardner v. Marcor Resorts, which refused in 1992 to even allow such a claim 

against vendors who serve alcohol to minors.27  NRS 41.1305 was then enacted in 1995 and 

expressly allowed a claim only when minors are served. 

                                                
25 NRS 41.1305(1). 
26 Hamm v. Carson City Nugget, Inc., 85 Nev. 99, 450 P.2d 358, 359 (1969); Snyder v. Viani, 110 
Nev. 1339, 885 P.2d 610, 612 (1994). 
27 108 Nev. 1091, 844 P.2d 800, 803 (1992). 
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c. NRS 41.1305 is constitutional. 

Plaintiffs’ complaint argues NRS 41.1305 is unconstitutional.  “Statutes are presumed to 

be valid, and the challenger bears the burden of showing that a statute is unconstitutional. In order 

to meet that burden, the challenger must make a clear showing of invalidity.”28  “When the law . . . 

does not implicate a suspect class or fundamental right, it will be upheld as long as it is rationally 

related to a legitimate government interest.”29 

NRS 41.1305 does not involve a suspect class such as one based upon race, religion, 

gender, etc.  The statute also does not impede a fundamental right.  In ruling on challenges to 

Nevada’s medical malpractice statutes the Supreme Court stated the “right of malpractice 

plaintiffs to sue for damages caused by medical professionals does not involve a fundamental 

constitutional right.”30  Consequently, NRS 41.1305 is valid if it is rationally related to a 

legitimate government interest. 

A similar challenge was brought to Wisconsin’s equivalent to NRS 41.1305.  The 

Wisconsin Supreme Court upheld the statute, concluding distinguishing between two groups of 

persons who furnish alcohol beverages to others was rationally related to the legitimate 

governmental purpose of protecting persons under the legal drinking age.31  This logic is equally 

applicable to NRS 41.1305, so the rational review standard is met. 

d. NRS 41.1305 overrides Clark County Code § 8.20.300. 

The ninth cause of action seems to allege negligence per se, relying upon Clark County 

Code (“CCC”) 8.20.300, enacted in 1965.  “It is unlawful for any licensee under the provisions of 

this chapter, or any of his servants or employees, to sell, serve or give away alcoholic liquor to any 

intoxicated person.”  Plaintiffs then allege that CCC 8.20.300 creates liability to Dave & Buster’s 

that NRS 41.1305 does not. 

Plaintiffs are incorrect.  CCC chapter 8.20 creates regulations for liquor licenses.  CCC 

8.20.300 states only that it is unlawful for a licensee to act in a certain manner.  Its text does not 

                                                
28 Tam v. Dist. Ct., 131 Nev. Adv. Rep. 80, 358 P.3d 234, 237-38 (2015). 
29 Zamora v. Price, 125 Nev. 388, 395, 213 P.3d 490, 495 (2009). 
30 Tam, 131 Nev. at 798, 358 P.3d at 239. 
31 Doering v. WEA Ins. Group, 532 N.W.2d 432 (Wis. 1995). 
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purport to create liability civil liability against the licensee for a violation of the regulation.  To 

this extent, CCC 8.20.300 is consistent with NRS 41.1305. 

But CCC 8.20.300 cannot be read to create civil liability to Dave & Buster’s because it 

would then conflict with NRS 41.1305.  “[C]ounties are legislative subdivisions of the state.  

Because counties obtain their authority from the legislature, county ordinances are subordinate to 

statutes if the two conflict.”32 

IV. Plaintiffs have not pled a claim for relief against Dave & Buster’s. 

This case involves a tragic set of facts, but these facts do not create liability against Dave 

& Buster’s.  NRS 41.1305 and Nevada common law that preceded it clearly state that when 

Aparicio decided to consume alcohol and drive drunk, he was responsible for the consequences of 

his choices, not the place where he was served.  Plaintiffs have not pled a set of facts against Dave 

& Buster’s that could entitle them to relief, so Dave & Buster’s should be dismissed per NRCP 

12(b)(5). 

DATED this 20h day of May, 2020. 

 
/s/ Michael P. Lowry 

BY:    
MICHAEL P. LOWRY, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10666 
VIRGINIA T. TOMOVA, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 12504 
6689 Las Vegas Blvd. South, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 
Attorneys for Dave & Buster’s of Nevada, Inc. 

 

  

                                                
32 Falcke & Herbig Props. v. Cty. of Douglas, 116 Nev. 583, 588, 3 P.3d 661, 664 (2000). 

AA031



 

-9- 
1601879v.1 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Certificate of Service 

 Pursuant to NRCP 5, I certify that I am an employee of Wilson Elser Moskowitz Edelman 

& Dicker LLP, and that on May 20, 2020, I served Dave & Buster’s of Nevada, Inc.’s Motion to 

Dismiss as follows: 

 
 by placing same to be deposited for mailing in the United States Mail, in a sealed 

envelope upon which first class postage was prepaid in Las Vegas, Nevada;  
 

 via electronic means by operation of the Court’s electronic filing system, upon each 
party in this case who is registered as an electronic case filing user with the Clerk;  

 
 

 
 
 
 

Thomas F. Christensen 
Christensen Law 
1000 S Valley View Blvd 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89107 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

 

BY: /s/ Cynthia Kelley 
 An Employee of 
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OMD(CIV)  
THOMAS   F.   CHRISTENSEN,   ESQ.  
Nevada   Bar   No.   2326  
CHRISTENSEN   LAW   OFFICES,   LLC  
1000   S.   Valley   View   Blvd.  
Las   Vegas,   Nevada   89107  
T:   702-870-1000  
F:   702-870-6152  
courtnotices@injuryhelpnow.com  
 

DISTRICT   COURT  
CLARK   COUNTY,   NEVADA  

 
Damaso   S.   Puente,   individually   and   on   behalf   of  
the   Estate   of   Damaso   I.   Puente,   Maria   Puente,  
Daniel   Malone,   and   Diane   Malone,   individually  
and   on   behalf   of   the   Estate   of   Christa   Puente,   
  
  

Plaintiffs,   
vs.  
 
Henry   Biderman   Aparicio,   Morgan   Hurley,   Dave  
&   Buster’s   of   Nevada,   Inc   dba   Dave   &   Buster’s;  
Dave   &   Buster’s   Inc;   MAT-SUMMERLIN   LLC,  
dba   Casa   del   Matador   Summerlin;   MATADOR  
INVESTMENTS,   LLC;   OPPER   MELANG   5410,  
LLC;   MEL-OPP   &   GRIFF,   LLC;   OPP   MEL   &  
GRIFF,   INC.;   MOCORE,   LLC;   DOES   I   -   V,   and  
ROE   CORPORATIONS    I   -   V,    ROE  
MANUFACTURER   I   -   V;    ROE   WHOLESALER,  
I   -   V;    ROE   RETAILER,   I   -   V;  

 
Defendants.   
 
 

 
CASE   NO:A-20-813787-C  
DEPT.   NO:   
 
 

 
PLAINTIFFS’   OPPOSITION   TO   DAVE   &   BUSTER’S   MOTION   TO   DISMISS  

COME  NOW  the  Plaintiffs,  Damaso  S.  Puente,  individually  and  on  behalf  of  the  Estate  of                

Damaso  I.  Puente,  Maria  Puente,  Diane  Malone,  individually  and  on  behalf  of  the  Estate  of                

Christa  Puente,  and  Daniel  Malone,  by  and  through  Plaintiffs’  attorney,  THOMAS            

CHRISTENSEN,  of  the  law  firm  of  CHRISTENSEN  LAW  OFFICES,  and  hereby  submit  this              
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Opposition  to  Dave  &  Buster’s  of  Nevada,  Inc.’s  Motion  to  Dismiss.  This  Opposition  is  made  and                 

based  upon  the  pleadings  on  file  herein,  the  following  Points  and  Authorities,  and  any  arguments                

elicited   at   the   hearing   of   this   matter.   

 DATED   THIS   ____   day   of   June,   2020.  
  
      CHRISTENSEN   LAW   OFFICES,   LLC  
 
       BY:___________________________  

THOMAS   CHRISTENSEN,   ESQ.   
Nevada   Bar   No.   2326  
1000   S.   Valley   View   Blvd.   
Las   Vegas,   Nevada    89107  
Attorney   for   Damaso   Puente,   Maria   Puente,   

 Daniel   Malone   and   Diane   Malone  
 

MEMORANDUM   OF   POINTS   AND   AUTHORITIES  
Introduction   

Dave  &  Buster’s  of  Nevada,  Inc.,  (hereinafter  “Dave  &  Buster’s”)  has  filed  a  Motion  to                

Dismiss,  alleging  that  the  facts  pled  in  the  Plaintiffs’  Complaint  do  not  state  a  claim  upon  which                  

Plaintiffs  could  recover.  However,  Dave  &  Busters  simply  ignores  many  factual  allegations  in              

the  Complaint.  These  facts  must  be  taken  as  true  in  evaluation  of  the  Motion. Simpson  v.  Mars,                  

Inc.,  113  Nev.  188,  929  P.2d  966  (1997). A  district  court  order  granting  an  NRCP  12(b)(5)  motion                  

to  dismiss  is  subject  to  rigorous  appellate  review. Lubin  v.  Kunin,  117  Nev.  107,  110-11,  17  P.3d                  

422,  425  (2001) . Notably,  the  following  paragraphs  (numbered  as  they  are  in  the  Complaint)  give                

rise  to  the  Plaintiffs’  causes  of  action  against  Dave  &  Buster’s,  but  have  been  ignored  by  the                  

Defendant:   

19.  Immediately  prior  to  the  crash,  Defendant  Henry  Biderman  Aparicio  and  Morgan  Hurley,              

acting  in  concert  and  as  part  of  a  joint  venture,  consumed  alcohol  on  the  premises  of  the  business                   

of  other  named  Defendants  as  a  result  of  the  Defendants  illegal  dangerous  activities  and  without                

being   warned   of   the   dangerous   product.   
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20. On  May  15th,  2018,  Defendant  Henry  Biderman  Aparicio  consumed  at  least  13  tequila               

based  alcoholic  beverages  in  3  hours  and  15  minutes,  before  colliding  with  the  Plaintiffs’               

vehicle.   

21.  Defendant  Aparacio  with  the  knowledge  and  consent  of  Morgan  Hurley  willfully             

consumed   alcohol   while   knowing   that   he   would   later   operate   a   motor   vehicle.   

22.        Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   promoted   and   encouraged   the   acts   of   the   other   Defendants.  

43.       Defendants,   in   concert   with   each   other,   carried   on   an   abnormally   dangerous   activity   that  

risked   harm   to   the   person   of   Decedent,   which   was   foreseeable   even   if   reasonable   care   had   been  

used.   

52.       Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   knew   or   through   the   exercise   of   reasonable   care   and  

diligence,   should   have   known   of   such   defective   and   unreasonably   dangerous   conditions.  

53.       Plaintiffs   relied   on   the   duty   of   Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   to   deliver   the   tequila   and  

other   alcoholic   beverages    at   the   time   of   sale   and/or   delivery   by   each   in   a   condition   fit   for   use   for  

the   purpose   intended.    The   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages    were   defective,   unreasonably  

dangerous,   and   were   in   fact   not   fit   for   the   purposes   and   uses   for   which   they   were   intended.   

54.       The   breach   of   such   duty   by   Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   and   such   defective   condition   of  

the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages,   were   a   proximate   cause   of   the   injuries   sustained   by  

Plaintiff.  

55.       By   reason   of   the   premises   and   as   a   direct   and   proximate   result   of   all   of   the   foregoing,  

Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   are   strictly   liable   to   Plaintiff   for   the   injuries   and   damages  

hereinabove   set   forth.  

56.       Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   owed   a   duty   to   all   persons   who   could   reasonably   be  

foreseen   to   use   the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages    or   be   injured   as   a   result   of   the   use   of   the  

tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages,   and   such   a   duty   was   specifically   owed   to   Plaintiff.  

 
3  AA036



 

57.       Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   breached   a   duty   owed   to   the   Plaintiff   consisting   of,   among  

other   things,   the   following:  

a. Failure  to  warn  by  statement  on  the  product,  in  the  instruction  booklet,  or  otherwise,  of  the                 

unreasonably   dangerous   conditions   of   the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages;  

b. Failure  to  properly  design  the  tequila  and  other  alcoholic  beverages  in  such  a  manner  as  to                 

avoid  or  minimize  the  unreasonable  danger  to  users  of  the  tequila  and  other  alcoholic               

beverages;  

c. Failure  to  properly  and  adequately  test  and  inspect  the  tequila  and  other  alcoholic              

beverages  to  ascertain  its  unreasonably  dangerous  condition;  Failure  to  give  adequate            

instructions  regarding  the  safe  use  of  the  tequila  and  other  alcoholic  beverages;  i.e.  Tequila               

and  other  alcoholic  beverages  should  not  be  consumed  on  an  empty  stomach,  should  not               

be  consumed  quickly,  designed  to  be  sipped  and  not  taken  in  shot  form.  Failure  to  use  due                  

care   to   avoid   misrepresentations,   cannot   operate   machinery.  

67. Prior  to  the  purchase  or  use  of  the  tequila  and  other  alcoholic  beverages,  Defendants,  and                 

each  of  them,  in  order  to  induce  the  purchase  or  use  of  the  tequila  and  other  alcoholic  beverages,                   

provided  express  warranties  and  representations,  including,  but  not  limited  to,  the  warranty  that              

the   products   were   fit   for   use   for   the   purpose   intended.  

72.       Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   impliedly   warranted   that   the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic  

beverages   were   fit   for   use   for   the   purpose   for   which   they   were   designed,   and   that   the   tequila   and  

other   alcoholic   beverages    were   fit   and   suitable   for   the   use   in   fact   made   by   Aparicio.  

77.       The   Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   promoted   a   dangerous   activity   with   a   complete   lack   of  

disregard   for   the   safety   of   the   community   in   which   they   live   and   do   business.   

78.       The   Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   were   promoting   and   encouraging    drinking   and   driving.  

79.       There   is   a   special   relationship   between   the   Defendants   and   Defendant   Aparicio;   
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the   harm   created   by   Aparicio's   conduct   is   foreseeable.  

80.       Defendants   condone   bartenders   to   do   shots   with   customers.  

81.       Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   failed   to   warn   or   take   steps   to   provide   transportation   for  

competitors    in   any   of   these   drinking   challenges.   

86.      Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   failed   to   reasonably   supervisor   or   monitor   service   of  

alcoholic   beverages   to   ensure   adequate   safety   precautions   were   taken   and   to   recognize   and  

evaluate   potential   risks   to   third   parties.   

87.        Defendants,   and   each   of   them   was   negligent   and   careless   in   failing   to   adequately   train   and  

educate   its   employees   on   the   dangers   of   serving   intoxicated   co-workers,    patrons   and   friends.   

88.       Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   failed   to   adequately   evaluate,   supervise   and/or   investigate  

activities   on   its   premises   that   indicated   danger   to   society.  

89.       Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   failed   to   use   reasonable   care   to   protect   third   parties   from  

risk.  

95.       The   actions   of   Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   in   this   matter   have   been   intentional,  

fraudulent,   malicious,   oppressive,   reckless,   and   in   conscious   disregard   of   Plaintiffs'   rights…  

102.     Clark   County   code   section   8.20.300   provides   that   it   is   unlawful   for   any   licensee   under   the  

provisions   of   this   chapter,   or   any   of   his   servants   or   employees,   to   sell,   serve   or   give   away  

alcoholic   liquor   to   any   intoxicated   person.   

103.       Violation   of   these   statutory   and   code   provisions   establish   negligence   per   se   on   the   part   of  

Defendants.   

104.       That    Defendants’   actions   are   not   protected   by   NRS   41.1305   as   they   were   outside   of   the  

limited   merely   “serves,   sells   or   otherwise   furnishes”   alcoholic   beverages.   
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The  above  allegations,  taken  directly  from  the  Complaint,  support  causes  of  action  against              

Dave  &  Buster’s  for  negligence,  gross  negligence,  willful  and  wanton  misconduct,  strict  products              

liability,  breach  of  express  and  implied  warranties,  acting  in  concert  in  an  abnormally  dangerous               

activity,  negligent  supervision  and  hiring,  and  negligence  per  se.  The  complaint  further  alleges              

that  NRS  41.1305,  if  applied  as  Dave  &  Buster’s  has  alleged  in  its  Motion  to  Dismiss,  is                  

unconstitutional.  Dave  &  Buster’s  sole  defense  is  that  NRS  41.1305  is  a  complete  bar  to  all                 

causes  of  action  involving  alcohol  in  Nevada,  except  providing  alcohol  to  a  minor.  Since  that  is                 

not  the  law  in  Nevada,  and  Dave  &  Buster’s  failed  to  even  address  the  various  valid  causes  of                   

action  that  were  pled,  its  motion  must  be  denied.  Further,  since  Dave  &  Buster’s  did  not  present                  

any  affirmative  reasons  in  their  motion  to  dismiss,  it  cannot,  in  any  reply,  now  address  those                 

issues.   

A   NEVADA   LIQUOR   LICENSE   IS   NOT   A    LICENSE   TO   KILL  
 

The  tragic  collision  giving  rise  to  this  litigation  took  the  lives  of  the  Puentes,  two                

successful  and  appreciated  members  of  this  community,  on  May  15,  2018.  That  evening,  Henry               

Aparicio  and  Morgan  Hurley  were  served  alcoholic  drinks  by  Dave  &  Busters  of  Nevada,  Inc.,                

after  they  were  clearly  intoxicated.  The  Court  must  construe  the  pleadings  liberally  and  accept               1

all  factual  allegations  in  the  Complaint  as  true. Blackjack  Bonding  v.  City  of  Las  Vegas  Municipal                 

Court ,  116  Nev.  1217  (2000). The  appropriate  standard  requires  a  showing  beyond  a  doubt.  B uzz                

Stew,  LLC  v.  City  of  N.  Las  Vegas ,  181  P.  3d  670,  (2008). Plaintiffs  herein  assert  that  their                   

complaint   alleges   facts   upon   which   to   support   their   claims.   

1     “19.    Immediately   prior   to   the   crash,   Defendant   Henry   Biderman   Aparicio   and   Morgan   Hurley,   acting   in  
concert   and   as   part   of   a   joint   venture,   consumed   alcohol   on   the   premises   of   the   business   of   other   named  
Defendants   as   a   result   of   the   Defendants   illegal   dangerous   activities   and   without   being   warned   of   the  
dangerous   product.”    --This   is   one   of   the   30   preliminary   or   general   allegations   that   apply   to   the   eleven  
causes   of   action   that   follow,   even   without   the   “repeat   and   reallege”   paragraph.    There   are   a   number   of  
entity   defendants   and   rather   than   list   the   name   of   every   defendant   each   time,   a   reference   is   made.   Plaintiffs  
used   the   term   “defendants”   to   refer   to   all   defendants   including   Dave   &   Buster’s   of   Nevada,   Inc.,   dba   Dave  
and   Buster’s.   
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The  history  of  Alcohol  related  problems:  The  common  law  is  continually  developing  and              
has   continued   to   move   towards   general   negligence   principles   applicable   to   all   situations.   
 

By  the  mid-1700s,  England  had  gone  to  great  lengths  to  encourage  the  production  of  gin                

after  the  more  expensive  and  less  potent  ale  and  port  fell  out  of  favor.  Not  long  afterward,                  

England  regretted  its  gin  policy  and  began  imposing  taxes  and  ever-stiffer  regulations  governing              

the  production  and  sale  of  “hard  liquor.”  Meanwhile  in  the  fledgling  United  States,  alcohol  was                

fast  becoming  a  serious  problem  as  well.  Connecticut  was  typical.  By  1779,  the  state  had  passed                 

80  major  laws  concerning  alcoholic  beverages  based  mostly  on  the  teachings  of  the  church.               

Despite  the  teachings  and  the  laws,  drinking  excesses  mounted  throughout  the  colonies  as              

communities  distilled  their  own  spirits.  Attempts  to  impose  taxes  and  controls  on  the  financially               

lucrative  enterprise  gave  rise  in  1794  to  the  Whiskey  Rebellion  in  western  Pennsylvania.  The               

uprising  was  brought  under  control  only  when  then-President  Washington  amassed  13,000  troops             

to  restore  law  and  order.  Initially,  the  common  law  did  not  afford  a  claim  against  a  provider  of                   

alcohol  because  of  proximate  cause  and  because  the  person  most  likely  to  be  injured  was  the                 

drinker   himself.    Cruse   v.   Aden ,   127   Ill.   231,   234,   20   N.E.   73,   74   (1889).   

Prohibition:   States   license   and   control   sales   of   alcohol   

Temperance  movements  have  since  come  and  gone  with  the  likes  of  hatchet-swinging             

Carry  Nation  in  Kansas  to  the  creation  of  the  Prohibition  Party  to  the  Prohibition  Era  in  the  early                   

20th  Century  under  the  18th  Amendment.  Just  before  Christmas  in  1933,  Congress  adopted  the               

21st  Amendment  which  repealed  the  18th,  thereby  bringing  an  end  to  Prohibition  and  federal               

control  of  alcohol.  Since  then,  states  have  been  largely  responsible  for  control  of  alcoholic               

beverages  through  the  operation  of  the  common  law  and  enactment  of  dram  shop  liability  laws.                

“Dram  shops”  refers  to  establishments  that  served  alcohol  by  the  dram,  a  unit  of  liquid  measure                 

used  in  the  United  States  during  the  colonial  period.  These  laws  stipulate  that  people  who  serve                 
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alcoholic  beverages  may  be  liable  under  state  laws  for  damages  resulting  from  the  consumption               

of  those  beverages.  Liability  may  be  imposed  either  under  specific  state  laws  (“dram  shop  acts”)                

or   under   the   general   law   of   negligence   or   both.   

Early   Dram   Shop   Decisions:   Proximate   cause   limited   liability   under   the   common   law.   
 
This  view  limiting  liability  for  the  sale  of  alcohol  to  intoxicated  people  because  of               

proximate  cause  concerns,  even  if  the  service  or  sale  of  the  alcohol  resulted  in  the  intoxicated                 

person  injuring  himself  or  others  continued  into  the  20th  century. Manuel  v.  Weitzman,  191               

N.W.2d  474,  476  (Mich.  1971).  In  the  beginning  the  common  law  considered  “the  act  of  selling                 

the  intoxicating  beverage  as  too  remote  to  serve  as  the  proximate  cause  of  an  injury  resulting                 

from  the  negligent  conduct  of  the  purchaser  of  the  drink.  Nevada  subscribes  to  the  common  law                 

rule.”    Snyder   v.   Viani ,   110   Nev.   1339,   1342-43   (Nev.   1994).  

Once  the  automobile  was  invented,  things  changed. “The  court  concluded  that  the  danger              

was  "particularly  evident  in  current  times  when  traveling  by  car  to  and  from  the  tavern  is  so                  

commonplace  and  accidents  resulting  from  drinking  are  so  frequent." Id. ” Snyder  v.  Viani ,  110               

Nev.  1339,  1345  (Nev.  1994)  Dram  Shop  statutes  were  interpreted  "to  fill  a  void  in  the  law,  not                    

to  remove  the  well-recognized  duty  of  a  tavern  keeper  to  exercise  due  care  for  the  welfare  and                  

safety   of   invited   patrons."    Id .   

The  modern  era  of  dram  shop  liability  began  in  1959,  when  two  courts—  the  Seventh                

Circuit  in Waynick  v.  Chicago's  Last  Department  Store , 269  F.2d  322  (7th  Cir.  1959), cert.  denied ,                 

362  U.S.  903 , 80  S.Ct.  611 , 4  L.Ed.2d  554  (1960),  and  the  New  Jersey  Supreme  Court  in                  

Rappaport  v.  Nichols , 31  N.J.  188 , 156  A.2d  1  (1959)  —  held  that  a  third  party  injured  by  an                    

intoxicated  person  may  bring  a  negligence  action  against  the  commercial  vendor  who  sold  liquor               

to  the  intoxicated  person.  Both  decisions  rejected  the  defendants'  contention  that  the  sale  or               

service  of  an  alcoholic  beverage  could  not,  as  a  matter  of  law,  be  the  proximate  cause  of  injury  to                    
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a  third  party.  The Rappaport  court  said:  "Where  a  tavern  keeper  sells  alcoholic  beverages  to  a                 

person  who  is  visibly  intoxicated  or  to  a  person  he  knows  or  should  know  from  the  circumstances                  

to  be  a  minor,  he  ought  to  recognize  and  foresee  the  unreasonable  risk  of  harm  to  others  through                   

action   of   the   intoxicated   person   or   the   minor."    Id. 156   A.2d   at   8.   

The Largo  court  recognized  the  clear  foreseeability  of  injury  resulting  from  drivers             
whose  abilities  and  judgment  are  impaired  by  intoxicants.  Moreover,  the  court            
described  as  "outdated  and  ill-reasoned,"  the  old  common  law  rule  that  "the  person              
who  consumed  alcohol  became  a  superseding  cause  of  the  injury  and  broke  the              
causal   relation   between   the   vendor's   conduct   and   the   plaintiff's   injuries."    Id.    at   1103.  

Snyder   v.   Viani ,   110   Nev.   1339,   1345   (Nev.   1994).  

As   I   observed   in   dissent   in    Hinegardner ,  

[t]he  role  of  alcohol  in  the  death  and  maiming  of  countless  numbers  of  men,  women                
and  children  each  year  is  well  and  indisputably  attested.  The  shattered  concourses  of              
victims  of  alcohol-related  accidents  have  combined  with  a  restive  and  angry  society             
to  create  a  responsive,  solid  majority  of  courts  that  have  recognized  a  cause  of  action                
against   negligent   vendors   of   alcohol.    108   Nev.   at   1097,    844   P.2d   at   805 .  

Snyder   v.   Viani ,   110   Nev.   1339,   1346   (Nev.   1994).  

In  our  modern  society,  where drunk- driving  crashes  claim  more  than  10,000  lives per  year               

in  the  United  States, to  allege  there  is  no  foreseeable  unreasonable  risk  of  harm  to  others  through                  

the   action   of   an   intoxicated   person,   of   any   age,   is   simply   disregarding   reality.   

Nevada’s  lack  of  a  dram  shop  law  imposing  greater  liability  is  not  a  shield  for  all  wrongful                  
conduct.  
 
As  with  all  statutes  modifying  the  common  law,  a  statute  must  clearly  remove  rights               
established   under   common   law   or   the   common   law   is   still   operative.   
 

In  the  absence  of  statutory  restrictions  of  the  common  law  right  [of  action  upon               
judgments],  then  the  common  law  rule  must  prevail,  and  the  question  be  determined              
by   such   rule   only.     Mandlebaum   v.   Gregovich ,   24   Nev.   154,   160   (Nev.   1897).  
 
Even  in  jurisdictions  that  recognize  dram  shop  liability,  the  dram  shop  statute  is  not  the                 

exclusive  remedy  when  an  independent  cause  of  action  recognized  at  common  law,  like              

negligence,  exists. Id. ,  at  477.  For  example,  in  Harris  v.  Gower ,  Inc .,  the  plaintiff‘s  husband                

drank  himself  into  an  unconscious  state  in  the  defendant's  establishment. Harris ,  506  N.E.2d  624,               
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625  (Ill.  App.  1987).  While  unconscious,  the  plaintiff‘s  husband  was  dragged  outside  and  placed               

in  his  car,  where  he  subsequently  froze  to  death. Id .  The  Illinois  court,  which  recognizes  dram                 

shop  liability,  held  that  the  plaintiff  was  entitled  to  maintain  her  cause  of  action  in  common  law                  

negligence  because  her  complaint  was  based  on  defendant's  negligent  conduct  toward  her             

husband  after  he  became  intoxicated,  rather  than  defendant's  negligence  in  serving  him  liquor.  Id.               

Therefore,  the  defendant  could  be  found  negligent  for  placing  the  plaintiff's  husband  in  obvious               

peril.    Id.   

Also,  even  in  the  absence  of  dram  shop  legislation,  the  common  law  imposes  liability  on                

establishments  that  serve  liquor  based  on  ordinary  negligence. Alegria  v.  Payonk ,  619  P.2d  135,               

137  (Idaho  1980).  An  establishment  that  serves  liquor  is  not  abrogated  from  claims  of  ordinary                

negligence. Manuel ,  at  477.  Here,  it  is  irrelevant  where  the  operator  of  the  subject  vehicle                

consumed  the  alcohol,  be  it  on  Defendants’  premises  or  that  of  another  establishment.  Like  the                

Plaintiff  in Harris ,  Plaintiffs’  claims  herein  also  arise  out  of  the  negligent  conduct  of  Dave  &                 

Buster’s  personnel  when  they  placed  Plaintiffs  in  peril  by  allowing  Aparicio  and  Hurley  into               

society   in   their   obviously   intoxicated   state.  

In  a  negligence  action,  the  plaintiff  must  show:  "(1)  that  the  defendant  had  a  duty  to                 

exercise  due  care  with  respect  to  the  plaintiff;  (2)  that  the  defendant  breached  this  duty;  (3)  that                  

the  breach  was  both  the  actual  and  proximate  cause  of  the  plaintiff's  injury;  and  (4)  that  the                  

plaintiff  was  damaged." Joynt  v.  California  Hotel  and  Casino ,  108  Nev.  539,  542,  835  P.2d  799,                 

801   (1992).  

All  of  these  elements  have  been  alleged  against  Defendant  Dave  &  Buster’s  in  the               

Plaintiffs’  complaint  herein.  It  is  axiomatic  that  whether  or  not  Defendants  were  negligent  in  the                

present  case  is  a  question  of  fact  for  a  jury  to  decide.  "...[F]oreseeability,  duty, proximate  cause                 

and  reasonableness  usually  are  questions  of  fact  for  the  jury." Thomas  v.  Bokelman ,  86  Nev.  10,                 
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13,  462  P.2d  1020,  1022  (1970).  The  Nevada  Supreme  Court  has  held  that  businesses  have  a  duty                  

to  act  reasonably  toward  patrons  like  Aparicio,  even  if  the  patron  is  intoxicated  or  considered  a                 

trespasser.    Billingsley   v.   Stockmen's   Hotel   Inc. ,   111   Nev.   1033,   1037,   901   P.2d   141,   144   (1995).   

In Billingsley ,  an  intoxicated  patron  at  the  defendant's  hotel  fell  asleep  in  the  empty               

showroom. Id .,  111  Nev.  at  1034,  901  P.2d  at  142.  Hotel  Security  officers  woke  him  up,  and                  

evicted  him  from  the  hotel.  Id. ,  111  Nev.  at  1035,  901  P.2d  at  143.  The  plaintiff  was                  

uncooperative,  and  an  altercation  ensued,  resulting  in  injury  to  the  plaintiff. Id.  The  defendant  in                

Billingsley  argued  that  the  only  duty  it  owed  to  an  intoxicated  patron  was  to  refrain  from  willfully                  

and  wantonly  injuring  him. Id. ,  111  Nev.  at  1037,  901  P.2d  at  144.  The  Nevada  Supreme  Court                  2

disagreed,  and  held  that,  while  the  court  can  consider  intoxication  and  other  factors  in               

determining  reasonableness,  proprietors  have  a  duty  to  act  reasonably  toward  patrons. Id.             

"[T]he  overriding  factor  is  whether  the  land  owner  or  occupier  has  acted  reasonably  toward  the                

plaintiff   under   the   circumstances."    Id.  

Here,  Dave  and  Buster’s  had  a  duty  to  act  reasonably  toward  Aparicio  and  Hurley.               

Whether  continuing  to  serve  patrons  after  they  reached  an  obvious  state  of  intoxication,  when  the                

server  know  or  should  have  known  the  patrons  would  be  driving  from  the  premises,  was  "act[ing]                 

reasonably  toward  [Aparicio  and  Hurley]  under  the  circumstances,"  is  a  genuine  issue  of  material               

fact  for  a  jury  to  decide.  The  general  duty  of  Dave  and  Buster’s  to  act  reasonably  toward  the                   

guests  aside,  Dave  and  Buster’s  created  an  additional  affirmative  duty  when  it  encouraged  the               

guests  to  drink  more,  in  order  to  obtain  a  greater  profit  from  the  compromised  guest.  This  profit                  

approach  to  this  industry  disregarding  the  foreseeable  consequences  to  the  public  is  no  different               

2  Plaintiffs   allege   wilful   and   wanton   misconduct   by   Dave   &   Buster’s,   as   set   forth   below   and   in   the  
complaint.  
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from  the  conduct  condemned  in  auto  manufacturers. Grimshaw  v.  Ford  Motor  Co. ,  119  Cal.  App.                

3d   757,   174   Cal.   Rptr.   348   (1981).  

When  a  defendant  enters  into  an  affirmative  course  of  conduct  that  affects  the  interests  of                

another  person,  he  assumes  a  duty  to  exercise  reasonable  care  toward  that  person's  safety,  and  the                 

defendant  will  be  liable  thereafter  for  negligent  acts  or  omissions. Brockett  v.  Kitchen  Boyd  Motor                

Co. ,  264  Cal.  App.  2d  69,  71  (1968).  The  facts  of  the Brockett  case  are  relevant  and  analogous  to                    

the  facts  of  the  present  case.  In Brockett ,  the  defendant's  employee,  Jimmie  Huff,  became               

intoxicated  at  the  company's  holiday  party.  Id.  at  70.  A  representative  of  the  company  placed  Huff                 

in  his  car  and  directed  him  to  drive  home.  Id.  Huff  subsequently  had  a  car  accident. Id.  While  the                    

Brockett Court  recognized  that  providing  alcohol  does  not  ordinarily  make  a  defendant  liable  for               

the  acts  of  the  consumer,  the  affirmative  act  of  placing  Huff  in  his  car  and  directing  him  to  drive                    

home  established  a  duty  on  the  defendant  to  exercise  reasonable  care.  Specifically,  the Brockett,               

court  held  that  the  defendant  "activated  the  tort,  and  anyone  hurt  as  a  consequence  should  be                 

entitled  to  recover  from  it."  Id.  at  73.  In  the  present  case,  Dave  &  Buster’s  "activated  the  tort"  to  a                     

far  greater  extent  than  the  defendant  in  Brockett by  continuing  to  provide  further  debilitating               

substances  to  an  already  compromised  guest  to  obtain  greater  profit.  As  a  consequence,  Plaintiffs               

have  suffered  overwhelmingly  debilitating  injuries,  and  they  are  entitled  to  have  the  question  of               

Dave   &   Buster’s   negligence   submitted   to   the   jury.   

Dave   &   Buster’s   violated   its   own   internal   policies   and   industry   standards.  

Further,   while   a   defendant   may   ordinarily   have   no   duty   to   anticipate   the   conduct   of   another  

  person,   the   law   will   impose   an   affirmative   duty   to   abide   by   an   established   standard   of   care.   An   

established  company  policy  is  evidence  of  a  standard  of  care  which  the  company  finds               

appropriate  to  serve  the  purpose  of  the  policy. O'Toole  v.  Carlsbad  Shell  Service  Station ,  202  Cal.                 

App.  3d  151  (1988).  "A  violation  of  a  rule  of  care  established  by  a  party  to  the  litigation  is                    
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evidence  of  negligence." Id.  The  undersigned  counsel  believes  that  discovery  in  this  case  -  which                

has  not  yet  commenced  -  will  reveal  that  Dave  &  Buster’s  has  violated  its  own  company  policy.                  

Specifically,  Dave  &  Buster’s  likely  has  a  formal  policy  to  cease  service  to  intoxicated  persons,                

encourage  them  to  obtain  a  taxi,  and  even  report  disorderly  conduct  to  police.  This  fairly  standard                 

policy  serves  to  protect  patrons  like  Hurley  and  Aparicio,  and  when  reasonably  followed,  also               

avoids   an   establishment’s   “activating   the   tort”   as   occurred   in    Brockett .   

Additionally,  NRS 369  re quires  that  restaurant  and  bar  businesses  in  Nevada,  such  as  Dave               

&  Buster’s,  have  their  employees  certified  in  alcohol  awareness  training  that  presumably  instructs              

them  to  decline  service  to  intoxicated  persons. Dave  &  Buster’s  likely  breached  its  own  company                

policy  and  the  NRS  369  educational  directives  against  directing  intoxicated  patrons  (and  intended              

occupants)  into  their  vehicles,  endangered  the  exact  group  of  persons  the  policy  and  law  were                

intended  to  protect,  and  this  constitutes  further  support  for  the  claim  of  negligence  against  Dave                

&   Buster’s   here.   

Foreseeability   and   proximate   cause   are   also   genuine   issues   of   material   fact   for   the   jury   to   

decide,   both   of   which   are   important   factors   in   this   case.   Negligence   is   actionable   when   the   injury  

resulting  from  the  wrongful  act  should  have  been  foreseen  in  light  of  the  circumstances. Van                

Cleve  v.  Kietz-Mill  Minit  Mart ,  97  Nev.  414,  416,  633  P.2d  1220,  1221  (1981),  citing Crosman  v.                  

Southern  Pacific  Co. ,  42  Nev.  92,  108-109,  173  P.  112,  228  (1918).  Unquestionably,  on  the  facts                 

of  this  case,  the  jury  may  decide  that  it  was  reasonably  foreseeable  that  plying  the  customers  with                  

alcohol  well  beyond  their  limits  could  result  in  substantial  harm.  Further,  the  jury  will  be  entitled                 

to  conclude  that  facilitating  driving  while  intoxicated  was  a  substantial  factor  in  the  resulting               

accident,  and  the  catastrophic  injuries  suffered  by  Plaintiffs. A  civil  statute's  violation  establishes              

the  duty  and  breach  elements  of  negligence  when  the  injured  party  is  in  the  class  of  persons                  

whom  the  statute  is  intended  to  protect  and  the  injury  is  of  the  type  against  which  the  statute  is                    
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intended  to  protect. Ashwood  v.  Clark  County,  113  Nev.  80,  86,  930  P.2d  740,  744  (1997) ;                 

Sagebrush   Ltd.   v.   Carson   City,    99   Nev.   204,   208,   660   P.2d   1013,   1015   (1983) .  

Liability   is   not   based   on   merely   furnishing   alcohol   that   is   then   consumed   in   moderation.  

The  present  case  is  very  different  from  the  dram  shop  cases,  like Van  Cleve ,  which  hold                 

that  the  consumption,  not  the  sale,  of  alcohol  is  the  proximate  cause  of  the  resulting  injuries                 

because  the  seller  cannot  foresee  what  the  purchaser  will  do  with  the  alcohol. Id.  97  Nev.  at  417,                   

633  P.2d  at  1222.  In  this  case,  assuming  the  facts  most  favorable  to  the  Plaintiff,  the  employees                  

of  Dave  &  Buster’s  knew  exactly  what  was  being  done  with  the  alcohol  and  what  the  results  of                   

the  ingestion  of  the  alcohol  were  and  violated  Dave  &  Buster’s  own  policies  and  the  statutorily                 

required  education  they  received,  because  they  knew,  or  at  least  should  have  known,  that  serving                

an  intoxicated  driver  and  his  passengers  would  "very  probably"  result  in  drunk  driving.  In  fact,                

the  allegations  of  the  complaint  are  that  Dave  &  Buster’s  were  complicit  and  enabled  the  drunk                 

driving.  The  employees  should  have  foreseen  a  drunk  driving  accident,  and  resulting  injuries,              

based  upon  their  actions.  In  fact,  their  actions  did  result  in  two  deaths  that  very  evening.  "'As                  

long  as  the  injuries  incurred  were  the  reasonably  foreseeable  consequences  of  the  tortfeasor‘s              

conduct  .  .  .  the  question  of  foreseeability.  .  .  is  for  the  trier  of  fact." Crislip  v.  Holland ,  401  So.2d                      

1   l   15,   1117   (Fla.   1981).   

It  seems  to  us  that  the  aim  of  the  guest  statute  is  to  allow  recovery  if  the  host's                   

consumption  of  alcohol  proximately  caused  injury  to  (or  the  death  of)  his  guest.  The  term                

"intoxication"  is  to  be  construed  with  this  purpose  in  mind.  The  precise  degree  of  inebriation  is                 

relatively  unimportant  if,  in  fact,  the  host's  consumption  of  alcohol  was  the  proximate  cause  of                

injury.  Reasonable  jurors  can  make  this  determination. Frame  v.  Grisewood ,  399  P.  2d  450,               

(1965).  
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The  Nevada  Supreme  Court  has  clearly  stated  that  the  District  Court  errs  in  finding  that  a                 

defendant  acted  reasonably  when  the  defendant  does  not  address  reasonableness  in  its  motion  for               

Summary  Judgment.  Billingsley ,  111  Nev.  at  1038,  901  P.2d  at  144  (1995).  No  less  a  standard                 

should  apply  here.  Dave  &  Buster’s  did  not  address  reasonableness  or  any  other  factor  pertinent                

to  Plaintiff’s  negligence  cause  of  action  or  any  other  causes  of  action,  it  cannot  belatedly  do  it  in                   

its   reply,   therefore,   the   Court   should   deny   its   Motion.  

NRS  41.1305  did  not  usurp  the  common  law  in  Nevada---it  extended  it  and  applied  it  to                 
hosts   who   serve   even   a   moderate   amount   of   alcohol   to   minors.  
 

As  set  forth  above  and  below,  the  Nevada  Supreme  Court  has  been  slow  to  recognize  and                 

adopt  fully  the  modern  trend  regarding  dram  shop  liability,  which  would  bring  Nevada  in               

harmony  with  other  jurisdictions  and  in  harmony  with  the  Nevada  negligence  law  in  every  other                

type   of   negligence   claim.  

We  considered  whether  we  should  modify  existing  Nevada  law  to           
recognize  third  parties'  claims  for  relief  against  tavern  keepers  who  furnish            
alcoholic  beverages  to  an  underage  drinker,  but  concluded  that  any  "modern            
trend"  was  not  significant  enough  to  justify  the  abrogation  of  our  long  line  of               
decisions  denying  negligence  claims  against  tavern  keepers.  ...Our  continued          
adherence  to  the  bright-line  common  law  rule  necessitates  our  conclusion  that,            
as  with  injuries  to  third  parties,  consumption  is  the  proximate  cause  of             
alcohol-related  injuries  to  the  drinker. Snyder  v.  Viani ,  110  Nev.  1339,  1343             
(Nev.   1994).  

 
The  common  law  in  Nevada  never  provided  for  liability  for  merely  serving  or  even               

consuming  alcohol  appropriately.  After  this Snyder  decision  in  1994,  the  original  NRS  41.1303,              

which  Defendant  relies  upon,  was  passed. The  legislature  has  attempted  to  move  the  Court               

forward. This  was  a  signal  to  the  court  that  the  Nevada  legislature  felt  the  modern  trend  was  the                   

correct  one.  The  statute  continued  the  non-liability  of  liquor  licensees  who  provide  alcohol  in               

compliance  with  their  license.  NRS  41.1303  has no  language  removing  any  common  law              3

3  Section   two   imposes   liability   on   non-licensed   hosts   for   providing   liquor   to   minors   because   they   are   not  
regulated   and   trained   to   spot   situations   that   pose   a   risk   to   the   greater   community.    
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causes  of  action  regarding  alcohol, but  the  statute  did  remove  negligence  per  se  resulting  from                

failure  to  comply  with  licensing  statutes. T here  were  several  situations  where  the  court  found               

liability,  over  and  above  the  mere  consumption  of  alcohol,  discussed  below.  These  were  never               

removed   and   still   are   causes   of   action.   

Nevada  legislature  chose  not  to  enact  legislation  that  would  impose  civil            
liability  on  tavern  keepers  for  the  sale  of  alcoholic  beverages  to  underage             
drinkers.  This  choice  not  to  extend  liability  supports  our  decision  in            
Hinegardner  and  our  decision  here. Snyder  v.  Viani ,  110  Nev.  1339,  1343  (Nev.              
1994).  
 

   Negligence   per   se   for   serving   intoxicated   person   

 In  2007,  NRS  41.1305  was  amended.  The  amendment  reinstated  negligence  per  se  for  serving                

already  intoxicated  persons.  Thus  returning  the  common  law  principle  and  statutory  principle  of              

negligence  per  se  when  violating  a  statute.  This  concept  is  reinforced  in  Nevada  by NRS  41.133                 

which  provides  that  conviction  of  crime  is  conclusive  evidence  of  facts  necessary  to  impose  civil                

liability  for  related  injury.  Thus,  Clark  County  Code  (8.20.300)  is  applicable  to  the  finding  of                

negligence  per  se  of  Dave  &  Buster’s.  This  does  not  create  liability;  it  is  a  statute  that  established                   

the   standard   of   care   that   is   reasonable   under   the   common   law   negligence   liability.  

Willful   and   Wanton   misconduct   of   Dave   &   Buster’s   

Once  Aparicio  passed  the  threshold  of  intoxication,  he  was  no  longer  able  to  consent  to                

further  sales  and  consumption  of  alcohol.  Dave  &  Buster’s  had  stepped  into  control;  and               

instead  of  acting  reasonably,  acted  with  wanton  and  reckless  disregard  for  the  consequences  of               

its  actions.  This  illegal  activity  was  taken  for  the  sole  purpose  of  greater  profits  and  amounts  to                  

egregious  disregard  for  the  safety  of  the  patron  and  the  public. Ordinary  and  gross  negligence                 

differ  in  degree  of  inattention,  while  both  differ  in  kind  from  wilful  and  intentional  conduct                

which  is  or  ought  to  be  known  to  have  a  tendency  to  injury. (Emphasis  added.) Hart  v.  Kline , 61                    

Nev.   96,   101 ,    116   P.2d   672,   674    (1941),    D avies   v.   Butler ,   95   Nev.   763,   771   (Nev.   1980).  
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The  evidence  in  the  instant  case  supports  an  instruction  regarding  the  willful  or              
wanton  misconduct  of  the  respondents.  The  jury  could  conclude  that  the  intent  of              
respondents  was  to  administer  dangerous  quantities  of  alcohol  to  Davies  within  a             
short  period  of  time.  190  proof  alcohol  was  deliberately  chosen  to  be  administered,              
as  it  had  been  on  previous  occasions,  and  respondents  were  fully  aware  of  its               
nature.  Further,  they  were  aware  that  retention  of  large  amounts  of  alcohol  in  the               
system  can  be  highly  dangerous,  as  an  initiate  had  had  to  be  hospitalized  the  year                
before.  Despite  respondents'  protestation  that  they  assumed  decedent  would  not           
swallow  most  of  the  alcohol  administered  to  him,  they  admitted  having  no  way  to               
determine  whether  that  was  so,  while  continuing  to  put  bottles  of  liquor  to  his  lips                
and  screaming  at  him  to  drink  it.  Other  courts  have  had  no  difficulty  finding  willful,                
wanton,  or  reckless  misconduct  in  the  furnishing  of  alcohol  in  sufficient  quantities             
to  cause  death,  even  under  less  aggravated  circumstances. E.g. ,  Ewing  v.  Cloverleaf             
Bowl,    572   P.2d   1155    (Cal.   1978);   McCue   v.   Klein,   60   Tex.   168   (1883).  
Davies   v.   Butler ,   95   Nev.   763,   773   (Nev.   1980)  

 Dave  &  Buster’s  is  in  a  superior  position  to  measure  the  dangers  and  the  potency  of  the  at                     

least  eight  hard  liquor  drinks  it  provided  to  Aparicio.  This  callous  approach  to  the  obviously                

dangerous  situation  is  actionable.  Dave  &  Buster’s  cannot  hide  behind  consent  either  because  it               

knowingly   took   away   Aparicio’s   ability   to   consent   and   cannot   now   hide   behind   it.   

Furthermore,  capacity  to  consent  requires  the  mental  ability  to  appreciate  the            
"nature,  extent  and  probable  consequences  of  the  conduct  consented  to."           
Restatement,  Torts, supra ,  comment  b,  at  365.  As  noted  by  Prosser, Law  of  Torts ,  §                
18,  at  102  (4th  ed.  1971),  "[i]f  the  plaintiff  is  known  to  be  incapable  of  giving                 
consent  because  of  .  .  .  intoxication  .  .  .  his  failure  to  object,  or  even  his  active                   
manifestation   of   consent   will   not   protect   the   defendant."  
Davies   v.   Butler ,   95   Nev.   763,   774   (Nev.   1980).  

Intentional   criminal   act   in   concert   with   another   

Dave  &  Buster’s,  by  participating  and  taking  control  of  the  dangerous  instrumentality  of  an               

intoxicated  driver,  participated  in  the  tort.  Its  actions  in  creating  consequences  dangerous  to  the               

community   amount   to   participation   in   a   criminal   conspiracy.   

In McCue  v.  Klein , supra ,  the  widow  of  a  man  who  had  died  as  a  result  of                  
drinking  a  toxic  quantity  of  alcohol  sued  those  who  had  furnished  him  the              
alcohol   and   induced   him   to   drink   it,   on   a   wager.   The   court   held,   60   Tex.   at   169,  

[T]he  maxim  of volenti  non  fit  injuria  presupposes  that  the  party  is  capable  of               
giving  consent  to  his  own  injury.  If  he  is  divested  of  the  power  of  refusal  by                 
mental  faculties,  the  damage  cannot  be  excused  on  the  ground  of  consent  given.              
A  consent  given  by  a  person  in  such  condition  is  no  consent  at  all,  —  more                 
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especially  when  his  state  of  mind  is  well  known  to  the  party  doing  the  injury.  .  .  .                   
And  so  if  one  whose  mental  faculties  are  suspended  by  intoxication  is  induced  to               
swallow  spiritous  liquors  to  such  excess  as  to  endanger  his  life,  the  persons              
taking  advantage  of  his  condition  of  helplessness  and  mental  darkness  and            
imposing  the  draught  upon  him  must  answer  to  him  if  such  injury  should  fall               
short   of   the   destruction   of   life,   and   to   his   family   if   death   should   be   the   result.  
Davies   v.   Butler ,   95   Nev.   763,   774   (Nev.   1980).  

When   Dave   &   Buster’s   chose   to   place   greater   profit   above   reasonable   behavior,   as   alleged  

in   the   complaint   on   file   herein,   it   divested   power   from   its   patrons.   Instead,   without   warnings,   it  

plied   excessive   amounts   of   high   octane   alcohol   on   a   youthful   already   disabled   patron   in   wanton  

and   reckless   disregard   for   the   safety   of   its   patron   and   the   general   public.    A   situation   like   this   was  

no   different   than   handing   Aparicio   an   AR   15   with   a   full   clip   and   sending   him   out   the   door.   

Product   Liability   

The  dissent  authored  by  justices  Steffen  and  Mowbray  in Hinegardner  v.  Marcor  Resorts ,               

considered  the  vision  and  pervasive  impact  of  the  venerable  Judge  Cardozo  who,  writing  for  the                

MacPherson    court,   said:  

"Precedents  drawn  from  the  days  of  travel  by  stagecoach  do  not  fit  the              
conditions  of  travel  to-day.  The  principle  that  the  danger  must  be  imminent             
does  not  change,  but  the  things  subject  to  the  principle  do  change.  They  are               
whatever   the   needs   of   life   in   a   developing   civilization   require   them   to   be.  
.   .   .   .  
If  the  nature  of  a  thing  is  such  that  it  is  reasonably  certain  to  place  life  and                  
limb  in  peril  when  negligently  made  [such  as  an  intoxicated  human  ready             
to  operate  a  high-speed  vehicle],  it  is  then  a  thing  of  danger.  If  to  the                
element  of  danger  there  is  added  knowledge  that  the  thing  will  be  used  by               
persons  other  than  the  purchaser,  and  used  without  new  tests,  then,            
irrespective  of  contract,  the  manufacturer  of  this  thing  of  danger  is  under  a              
duty  to  make  it  carefully." Hinegardner ,  108  Nev.  at  109 7, 844  P.2d  804 -05              
(quoting    MacPherson ,    111   N.E.   at   1053 ).  
 

In  1994 ,  in  Snyder  v.  Viani ,  110  Nev.  1339,  1347  (Nev.  1994),  Justice  Steffan  again                

authored   a   dissenting   opinion,   this   time   joined   by   Justice   Springer:   

As  I  previously  observed  in Hinegardner ,  the  majority's  position  would           
place  them  in  solid  dissent  with  the  landmark  ruling  of MacPherson  v.  Buick              
Motor  Co. , 111  N.E.  1050  ( N  Y  1916),  on  grounds  that  liability  in  the               
manufacture  and  sale  of  products,  including  automobiles,  would  be  limited  to            
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those  comparatively  few  instances  where  there  was  contractual  privity  between           
the  manufacturer  and  the  purchaser  of  the  product. See  id.  at  109 7, 844  P.2d  at                
804  (STEFFEN,  J.,  dissenting).  Thus,  the  interpositioning  of  the  retailer  between            
the  manufacturer  and  the  consumer  who  would  ultimately  use  and  be  injured  by              
the  defective  product,  would  generally  leave  the  consumer  without  a  remedy  for             
his  or  her  injuries. See  MacPherso n , 111  N.E.  at  1053-54 .  Lik ewise,  in  negligent              
entrustment  cases,  the  majority's  reasoning  would  eliminate  the  cause  of  action  on             
grounds  that  it  is  the  action  of  the  party  to  whom  the  instrumentality  of  harm  is                 
negligently  entrusted  who  causes  the  harm  rather  than  the  one  who  negligently             
entrusts   the   instrumentality   to   someone   unsuited   to   the   trust.   
As  I  observed  in  dissent  in  Hinegardner,  “the  role  of  alcohol  in  the  death  and                
maiming  of  countless  numbers  of  men,  women  and  children  each  year  is  well  and               
indisputably  attested.  The  shattered  concourses  of  victims  of  alcohol-related          
accidents  have  combined  with  a  restive  and  angry  society  to  create  a  responsive,              
solid  majority  of  courts  that  have  recognized  a  cause  of  action  against  negligent              
vendors   of   alcohol.”    Snyder   v.   Viani,   110   Nev.   1339,   1346   (Nev.   1994)  

“Indeed,  it  is  not  consistent  with  the  rationale  applied  by  this  court  in  other  consecutive                

negligence  situations. See,  e.g. ,  Drummond  v.  Mid-West  Grower s , 91  Nev.  698,  704-5 , 542  P.2d               

198,  203  (1975)  (subsequ ent  negligence  of  a  third  party  toward  rescuer  of  negligent  defendant               

foreseeable;  defendant's  negligence  remains  proximate  cause).” Davies  v.  Butler ,  95  Nev.  763,             

776   (Nev.   1980).  

NRS  41.1305  is  unconstitutional  and  must  be  stricken.  The  statute  violates  the  equal              
protection   clause   and   has   a   disproportionate   effect   on   minorities   and   the   poor.   
 

 Dave  &  Buster’s  only  basis  for  dismissal  is  a  misreading  and  unconstitutional  application  of                

NRS   41.1305.   

The  "overwhelming  majority  of  courts"  have  advanced  the  common  law  to  meet             
the  conditions  of  our  present  society  because  it  should  be  clear  to  all  that  if                
vendors  of  alcoholic  beverages  are  factored  into  the  liability  equation,  there  will             
be  fewer  intoxicated  drivers,  like  Lovett ,  to  continue  the  highway  carnage  that             
truly  has  become  such  a  national  disgrace  and  tragedy.  Fewer  intoxicated  drivers             
translates  into  fewer  victims.  Depreciating  inebriated  drivers  results  in  the           
veneration  of  human  life. Placing  greater  value  on  human  life  than  economic             
advantage,  lifts  society  to  a  higher  plane.  Conversely,  emphasizing          
commercial  advantage  over  human  life  and  suffering  degrades  society  and           
lowers   the   quality   of   its   civilization.   
The  majority  would  have  us  believe  that  there  are  so  many  problems  and  nuances               
of  problems  involved  in  placing  negligent  vendors  of  alcohol  in  the  liability             
equation,  that  these  problems  and  the  difficulties  inherent  in  their  resolution            
outweigh  the  substantial  attenuation  of  human  misery  and  death  that  would  result             
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from  the  implementation  of  solutions.  I  suggest  that  the  majority's  fears  are  as              
unjustified  as  its  priorities. Dissent, Snyder  v.  Viani ,  110  Nev.  1339,  1347  (Nev.              
1994),   (emphasis   added.)  

 
The  Equal  Protection  Clause  of  the  Fourteenth  Amendment  to  the  United  States             

Constitution  guarantees  equal  protection  under  the  law.  The  first  step  in  the  equal  protection               

analysis  is  to  determine  the  appropriate  standard  of  scrutiny  to  apply  according  to  the  rights                

infringed   and   the   classification   created.    Hamm   v.   Arrowcreek   HOA ,   183   P.3dd   895   (2008).   

In  2015,  the  Nevada  Court  upheld  a  challenge  to  the  tort  reform  statutes  imposing  a  cap  on                  

damages  in  malpractice  actions.  “To  survive  an  equal  protection  challenge, NRS  41A.035  need              

only  be  rationally  related  to  a  legitimate  governmental  purpose.  ” Tam  v.  Eighth  Judicial  Dist.                

Court  of  State ,  358  P.3d  234,  239  (Nev.  2015)  “Thus,  we  conclude  that NRS  41A.035  does  not                  

violate  equal  protection  because  the  imposition  of  an  aggregate  cap  on  noneconomic  damages  in               

medical  malpractice  actions  is  rationally  related  to  the  legitimate  governmental  interests  of             

ensuring  that  adequate  and  affordable  health  care  is  available  to  Nevada's  citizens.  ” Tam  v.                

Eighth   Judicial   Dist.   Court   of   State ,   358   P.3d   234,   239   (Nev.   2015).   

NRS  41.1305  differs  from  NRS  41A.035  in  two  constitutionally  fatal  ways.  First,  the              

injured  victims  subject  to  NRS  41.1305  have  their  right  to  damages  completely  removed,  not               

limited  as  was  the  case  in  NRS  41A.035.  This  violates  the  language  in Tam  that  to  be                  

unconstitutional  “a  statute  must  make  the  right  practically  unavailable.” Barrett  v.  Baird, 111  Nev.               

1496,  1502 , 908  P.2d  689,  694  (1995)” Tam  v.  Eighth  Judicial  Dist.  Court  of  State ,  358  P.3d  234,                   

238   (Nev.   2015).   

Secondly,  there  is  no  legitimate  governmental  interest  in  protecting  the  financial  benefits  of              

serving  inebriated  persons  under  NRS  41.1305.  “To  survive  an  equal  protection  challenge, NRS              

41A.035  need  only  be  rationally  related  to  a  legitimate  governmental  purpose.” Tam  v.  Eighth               

Judicial  Dist.  Court  of  State ,  358  P.3d  234,  239  (Nev.  2015).  Protecting  the  profits  of  bars  is  not  a                    
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legitimate  governmental  interest  like  that  protected  in Tam :  “Based  on  this  express  goal, NRS               

41A.035 's  aggregate  cap  on  noneconomic  damages  is  rationally  related  to  the  legitimate             

governmental  interest  of  ensuring  that  adequate  and  affordable  health  care  is  available  to              

Nevada's   citizens.”    Tam   v.   Eighth   Judicial   Dist.   Court   of   State ,   358   P.3d   234,   239   (Nev.   2015).  

 The  decedents  herein  did  not  have  underinsured  motorists  coverage.  They  were  killed  by  a                

drunk  driver.  Their  lives  are  ravaged  and  the  root  cause  hides  behind  the  legislative  and  judicial                 

branches   of   government.  

 Given  the  fact  that  Nevada  has  a  singularly  strong  financial            
dependence  upon  segments  of  the  state  economy  that  dispense          
alcohol  as  a  significant  inducement  to  other  forms  of  business           
activity,  it  is  both  unrealistic  and  irresponsible  to  espouse  the           
fantasy  that  the  Legislative  branch  of  government  will  effectively          
consider  and  adopt  dram  shop  legislation.  Although  we  can  hardly           
fault  our  legislators  for  shunning  such  an  act  of  self-immolation,           
there  is  no  excuse  for  the  "non-political"  judicial  branch  of           
government  doing  the  same.  I  realize  the  unfortunate  fact  that           
judges,  including  the  members  of  this  court,  are  elected  in  this  state,             
but  that  constitutes  no  valid  excuse  for  this  court's  failing  to  respond             
to  the  clear  and  increasing  demands  of  our  society  to  give  relief  to              
the  growing  number  of  victims  who  fall  prey  to  inebriated  drivers            
on  our  highways.  Despite  the  apparent  need  to  substantially  finance           
judicial  elections  with  contributions  from  segments  of  our  state          
economy  that  are  purveyors  of  alcoholic  beverages,  "biting  the  hand           
that  feeds  you"  should  never  be  a  consideration  in  the  judicial            
process.    Dissent,     Snyder   v.   Viani ,   110   Nev.   1339,   1346   (Nev.   1994).  

 
As  reflected  by  the  positive  response  of  an  overwhelming  majority  of  the  common  law               

courts  of  this  nation,  there  is  a  compelling  need  for  the  judiciary  of  Nevada  to  provide  its  citizens                   

and  the  users  of  its  highways  with  relief  from  the  growing  menace  of  intoxicated  drivers.  We  can                  

realistically  look  to  no  other  source.  This  court  must  recognize  the  fact  that  irresponsible  and                

negligent  vendors  of  alcoholic  beverages  are  priming  people  for  roles  as  drunken  drivers  who  kill                

and  maim  the  innocent  travelers  on  Nevada's  highways.  Entire  families  are  wiped  out  and               

destroyed   by   this   menace.  
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Once  again,  the  majority  places  greater  emphasis  on  economic  concerns           
than  on  human  life…. This  court  will  have  only  so  many  opportunities  to             
address  the  issues  raised  in  the  instant  case. Each  time  we  fail  to  act,  we                
assure  the  proliferation  of  needless  human  death  and  suffering.  Since,           
in  my  humble  opinion,  we  have  far  too  long  perpetuated  a  condition  that              
cries  out  for  principled  remedies,  partial  though  they  may  be,  I  am  again              
forced  to  dissent  from  the  majority's  most  unfortunate  act  of  judicial            
forfeiture. Dissent,  Snyder  v.  Viani ,  110  Nev.  1339,  1348  (Nev.           
1994)(emphasis   added.)  

 
Minorities  and  the  poor  are  disadvantaged  in  electing  officials  and  obtaining  insurance             
coverage.   This   is   Systemic   racism   where   the   power   elite   oppress   minorities   and   the   poor.  
 

A  2014  article  authored  by  Jeffery  Stempel,  a  UNLV  law  professor,  discusses  Nevada’s              

approach   to   this   situation:   

Notwithstanding  the  flexibility  that  legislatures  and  courts  have  in          
defining  legal  obligations  and  status,  Nevada’s  current  protection  of  businesses           
already  favored  with  liquor  licenses  comes  uncomfortably  close  to  being  an            
equal  protection  problem,  even  if  it  is  not  clearly  constitutionally  disfavored            
favoritism  such  as  that  based  on  race,  religion,  gender,  ethnicity,  or  age.  Further,              
there  is  no  strong  public  policy  reason  for  being  so  protective  of  commercial              
hosts.    14   Nev.   L.J.   866,   at   894   (2014).  4

 
Stempel   goes   on   to   conclude:   
 

At  some  point,  Nevada’s  legal  system  must  ask  itself  whether  such  extensive             
immunity  for  commercial  hosts  can  be  justified.  Nevada’s  resistance  to  the  modern             
world  of  dram  shop  liability  is  embarrassing  enough.  Expanding  it  to  other  aspects              
of   the   hospitality   industry   only   adds   to   the   embarrassment.    Id .   at   896.  

 
Denial   of   trial   by   jury   

In  Nevada,  “[t]he  right  of  trial  by  Jury  shall  be  secured  to  all  and  remain  inviolate  forever.”                  

Nev.  Const.  art.  1,  §  3.  This  provision  guarantees  “the  right  to  have  factual  issues  determined  by  a                   

jury.”    Drummond   v.   Mid–West   Growers   Coop.   Corp., 91   Nev.   698,   711 ,   542   P.2d   198,   207   (1975).  

In  order  for  a  statute  to  violate  the  right  to  trial  by  jury,  a  statute  must  make  the  right  practically                     

unavailable. Barrett  v.  Baird, 111  Nev.  1496,  1502 ,  908  P.2d  689,  694  (1995)  (“[T]he  correct               

4   Stempel,   Jeffrey   W.   (2014)   "Making   Liquor   Immunity   Worse:   Nevada's   Undue   Protection   of  
Commercial   Hosts   Evicting   Vulnerable   and   Dangerous   Patrons,"    Nevada   Law   Journal :   Vol.   14   :  
Iss.   3   ,   Article   13.   Available   at:   https://scholars.law.unlv.edu/nlj/vol14/iss3/13.  
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standard  for  evaluating  whether  a  statute  unconstitutionally  restricts  the  right  to  a  jury  trial  is  that                 

the  right  must  not  be  burdened  by  the  imposition  of  onerous  conditions,  restrictions  or  regulations                

which  would  make  the  right  practically  unavailable.”  (internal  quotations  omitted)), overruled  on             

other  grounds  by  Lioce  v.  Cohen, 124  Nev.  1,  17, 174  P.3d  970,  980  (2008), Tam  v.  Eighth  Judicial                   

Dist.   Court   of   State ,   358   P.3d   234,   238   (Nev.   2015).  

Life  liberty  and  the  pursuit  of  happiness  are  fundamental  rights.  These  rights  may  not  be                

taken  away  except  with  due  process  of  law,  which,  in  this  case,  includes  trial  by  jury.  It  is  not  a                     

legitimate  state  interest  to  protect  the  profits  of  the  rich  and  powerful.  Most  decisions  regarding                

the  jury  trial  right  arise  in  the  criminal  context  and  have  focused  on  the  magnitude  of  the  possible                   

punishment  to  determine  whether  the  right  is  invoked.  Here  Plaintiffs’  descendants  received  the              

ultimate  punishment  of  death.  Their  right  to  have  all  negligent  parties  liability  determined  by  a                

jury   cannot   be   questioned.   

The  evolution  continued  in Duncan  v.  Louisiana , 391  U.S.  145  (1968),            
where  the  Supreme  Court  more  clearly  emphasized  the  maximum          
authorized  penalty  over  other  criteria  in  determining  whether  the  crime           
is  so  serious  as  to  require  a  jury  trial. Id.  at  159.  In Duncan ,  the  Supreme                 
Court  stated  that  "the  penalty  authorized  for  a  particular  crime  is  of             
major  relevance  in  determining  whether  it  is  serious  or  not  and  may  in              
itself,  if  severe  enough,  subject  the  trial  to  the  mandates  of  the  Sixth              
Amendment." Blanton  v.  North  Las  Vegas  Mun.  Ct. ,  103  Nev.  623,  629             
(Nev.   1987).  

 
 No  one  would  argue  that  a  death  penalty  case  would  need  to  be  tried  to  a  jury  under  the                     

criminal  law.  It  stands  to  reason  that  a  civil  case  seeking  to  establish  liability,  where  the  harm                  

suffered  or  “penalty”  was  death,  would  require  the  issues  establishing  liability  to  be  submitted  to                

a   jury   under   the   constitution.  

Moreover,  concerning  the  problems  that  are  of  such  paramount  concern           
to  the  majority,  I  refer  again  to  my  dissent  in Hinegardner  where,             
quoting  from  the  Colorado  Supreme  Court  in Largo ,  that  court           
instructed:  
"[A]s  to  the  consequences  of  imposing  such  a  burden  upon  tavern            
owners,  we  reject  Largo's  claim  that  civil  liability  for  the  negligent  sale             
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of  alcohol  would  impose  insurmountable  proof  problems  on  tavern          
owners.  Whatever  problems  of  proof  exist,  the  plaintiff  will  be           
confronted  with  the  same  obstacles  in  reconstructing  the  facts,  and  the            
plaintiff,  not  the  defendant,  will  bear  the  burden  of  proving  a  breach  of              
duty."    Snyder   v.   Viani ,   110   Nev.   1339,   1347-48   (Nev.   1994).  
 

Again,  Professor  Stempel’s  law  review  article,  under  the  heading  of  “Needlessly  Barring             

Jury   Consideration”   wrote:  

Perhaps  I’m  hopelessly  näıve  about  the  extent  to  which  a  hotel  or  other              
host  establishment  should  go  to  avoid  placing  patrons  (and  those  who            
they  may  encounter)  in  danger.  But  what  better  way  to  settle  the  issue              
than  to  have  trial  and  jury  consideration?  Judges  too  often  strain  to  grant              
summary  judgment  out  of  what  I  suspect  is  inordinate  fear  of  what  a  jury               
may  do  if  the  matter  is  tried.  But  such  fears  are  probably  misplaced.              
Jurors   are   not   Marxist   agents   of   income   redistribution.     Id.    at    883.  
 

  In   the   Alternative,   Plaintiffs   must   be   allowed   to   Amend   the   Complaint   herein.   

While  Plaintiffs  do  not  believe  the  complaint  is  deficient  to  warrant  Dave  &  Buster’s               

Motion  to  Dismiss,  in  the  alternative,  Plaintiffs  request  leave  to  amend  should  the  court  believe                

that  some  element  of  the  above  causes  of  action  has  not  been  sufficiently  pled.  Nevada  Rule  of                  

Civil  Procedure  15,  similar  to  Federal  Rule  of  Civil  Procedure  15,  provides  that  leave  to  amend                 

should  be  “freely”  granted  “when  justice  so  requires.”  As  a  result,  Courts  have  consistently  held                

that  a  district  court  abuses  its  discretion  in  denying  leave  to  amend  “unless  the  district  court                 

‘determines  that  the  pleading  could  not  possibly  be  cured  by  the  allegation  of  other  facts,’”                

Bly-Magee  v.  California ,  236  F.3d  1014,  1019  (9th  Cir.  2001)  (quoting Lopez  v.  Smith ,  203  F.3d                 

1122,   1127   (9th   Cir.   2000)   (en   banc)).  

///  

///  

///  

///  
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Conclusion:   Dave   &   Buster’s   motion   must   be   denied.  

Dave  &  Buster’s  has  ignored  the  allegations  in  the  pleadings,  failed  to  refute  each  of  the                 

causes  of  action  alleged  and  claimed  without  support  that NRS  41.1305  is  fatally  flawed.  Its                

motion   should   be   denied.   

  Dated   this   _______   day   of   June,   2020.  

 
                         CHRISTENSEN   LAW   OFFICES,   LLC  

 
                             BY:___________________________  

                               THOMAS   CHRISTENSEN,   ESQ.  
           Nevada   Bar   No.   2326  

                   1000   S.   Valley   View   Blvd.  
                                                                  Las   Vegas,   Nevada   89107  

         Attorney   for   Plaintiff  
 

 

CERTIFICATE   OF   SERVICE  
 

I  HEREBY  CERTIFY  that  on  the  ____  day  of  June,  2020,  this  document  was  filed                

electronically  with  the  Eighth  Judicial  District  Court’s  efiling  system,  Odyssey  Efile  &  Serve,              

and   was   thereby   served   upon   all   registered   users   for   this   case.   

__________________________________  
An   Employee   of   Christensen   Law   Offices  
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MICHAEL P. LOWRY, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10666 
E-mail: Michael.Lowry@wilsonelser.com
VIRGINIA T. TOMOVA, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 12504 
E-mail: Virginia.Tomova@wilsonelser.com
6689 Las Vegas Blvd. South, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 
Tel: 702.727.1400/Fax: 702.727.1401 
Attorneys for Dave & Buster’s of Nevada, Inc. 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

There are three arguments that apply to this motion: 1) Plaintiffs have not pled specific 

facts against Dave & Buster’s.  Generic allegations against multiple defendants are insufficient.  2) 

Assuming Plaintiffs intend to allege certain facts, NRS 41.1305(1) applies and prevents Plaintiffs 

from recovering against Dave & Buster’s.  3) If so, NRS 41.1305(1) is constitutional.  Plaintiffs’ 

position is largely a political one: they do not believe NRS 41.1305(1) should be the law of 

Nevada.  They are free to present these arguments to their elected officials to seek change, but the 

judiciary’s role is to apply the law as it exists.   

Damaso S. Puente, individually and on behalf of the 
Estate of Damaso I. Puente; Maria Puente; Daniel 
Malone; and Diane Malone, individually and on 
behalf of the Estate of Christa Puente,  

Plaintiffs,  

vs.  

Henry Biderman Aparicio; Morgan Hurley; Dave & 
Buster’s of Nevada, Inc. dba Dave & Buster’s; Dave 
& Buster’s, Inc.; MAT-Summerlin, LLC dba Casa 
del Matador Summerlin; Matador Investments, LLC; 
Opper Melang 5410, LLC; Mel-Opp & Griff, LLC; 
Opp Mel & Griff, Inc.; Mocore, LLC; Does I-V, and 
Roe Corportations I-V, Roe Manufacturer I-V; Roe 
Wholesaler I-V; Roe Retailer I-V,  

Defendants. 

Case No.: A-20-813787-C
Dept. No.: 18 

Dave & Buster’s of Nevada, Inc’s 
Reply re Motion to Dismiss 

Case Number: A-20-813787-C

Electronically Filed
6/24/2020 3:27 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

AA060



-2- 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Applied here, the Nevada Legislature and the Supreme Court of Nevada before it decided 

the person who drove drunk is responsible for his actions, not the establishments where he drank.  

It means Plaintiffs plead no claim against Dave & Buster’s upon which relief could be granted and 

their complaint should be dismissed per NRCP 12(b)(5). 

DATED this 24th day of June, 2020. 

/s/ Michael P. Lowry 
BY:   

MICHAEL P. LOWRY, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10666 
VIRGINIA T. TOMOVA, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 12504 
6689 Las Vegas Blvd. South, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 
Attorneys for Dave & Buster’s of Nevada, Inc. 

Memorandum of Points & Authorities 

I. Generic allegations are insufficient when multiple defendants are involved. 

A complaint must contain “a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the 

pleader is entitled to relief.”1  Dave & Buster’s opening brief detailed how the complaint did not 

contain any specific factual allegations against it.  The complaint instead pleads only generic facts 

and causes of action as to all defendants.2  The specific factual allegations the complaint contains 

apply only to acts by Aparicio, Hurley, and Casa del Matador. 

Merely lumping all the defendants together does not comply with NRCP 8(a)(2).  “A 

complaint that lumps together thirteen ‘individual defendants,’ where only three of the individuals 

was alleged to have been present for the entire period of the events alleged in the complaint, fails 

1 NRCP 8(a)(2). 
2 Opposition at n.1 “Plaintiffs used the term ‘defendants’ to refer to all defendants including Dave 
& Buster’s of Nevada, Inc.….”). 
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to give ‘fair notice’ of the claim to those defendants.”3  “Additionally, the Court notes that 

undifferentiated pleading against multiple defendants is improper.”4

At a bare minimum, Plaintiffs current complaint does not plead specific facts as to Dave & 

Buster’s that would support a claim for relief. 

II. NRS 41.1305(1) precludes liability against Dave & Buster’s. 

Dave & Buster’s assumed if Plaintiffs filed an amended complaint, it would allege that 1) 

Dave & Buster’s sells alcoholic beverages; 2) sold them to Aparicio; 3) resulting in Aparicio 

driving drunk; and 4) that injured the plaintiffs.  Plaintiffs have confirmed this is what they plan.  

No matter how phrased, Plaintiffs’ theory of liability against Dave & Buster’s arises from these 

alleged facts.   

Plaintiffs’ problem is NRS 41.1305(1) bars any recovery from Dave & Buster’s under this 

fact pattern. 

A person who serves, sells or otherwise furnishes an alcoholic beverage to another 
person who is 21 years of age or older is not liable in a civil action for any damages 
caused by the person to whom the alcoholic beverage was served, sold or furnished as 
a result of the consumption of the alcoholic beverage. 

a. Plaintiffs’ first-party liability arguments are inapplicable. 

Plaintiffs offer various arguments about why NRS 41.1305(1) should not apply.  Within 

their arguments are citations to first-party cases.5  “First-party” cases are those where the drinker 

who consumed the alcohol sues the bar for injuries the drinker sustained.  These cases are 

distinguishable because Plaintiffs here are presenting a third-party claim.  They are not the drinker 

(a first-party claim), they people who were injured by the drinker (a third-party claim). 

Billingsley v. Stockmen’s Hotel is a first party case, but it did not concern liquor liability 

like Plaintiffs wish to impose here.6 Billingsley was about an altercation between hotel security 

3 In re Sagent Tech., Derivative Litig., 278 F. Supp. 2d 1079, 1094-95 (N.D. Cal. 2003) (decided 
pre-Iqbal, applying the same Conley standard as presently applies in Nevada); Gauvin v. 
Trombatore, 682 F. Supp. 1067, 1071 (N.D. Cal. 1988) (lumping together multiple defendants in 
one broad allegation fails to satisfy notice requirement of Rule 8(a)(2). 
4 Aaron v. Aguirre, No. 06-cv-1451, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 90384, 2006 WL 8455871 n.12 (S.D. 
Cal. Dec. 13, 2006). 
5 E.g. Harris v. Gower, Inc., 506 N.E.2d 624 (Ill. App. 1987) (bar removed intoxicated guest and 
put him in his car where he froze to death). 
6 111 Nev. 1033, 901 P.2d 141 (1995). 

AA062



-4- 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

and a guest who was being escorted off property.  No argument was presented about whether the 

hotel could be liable for damages for serving him alcohol. 

Plaintiffs also cite Brockett v. Kitchen Boyd Motor Co. where an employer served alcohol 

to a minor employee who became intoxicated.7  The employer then guided the intoxicated minor 

to his car, placed him in it, and directed him to drive home.  This gave rise to third-party liability 

but is inapplicable here because Aparicio was not a minor and because Plaintiffs allege Casa del 

Matador engaged in that conduct, not Dave & Buster’s. 

b. Dave & Buster’s owed no duties once Aparicio left the restaurant. 

Plaintiffs alternatively argue their claims do not arise from conduct that NRS 41.1305(1) 

protects.  They argue their “claims herein also arise out of the negligent conduct of Dave & 

Buster’s personnel when they placed Plaintiffs in peril by allowing Aparicio and Hurley into 

society in their obviously intoxicated state.”8  They argue Dave & Buster’s could be liable because 

it knew “or should have known the patrons would be driving from the premises.”9  They assert 

Dave & Buster’s instead owed a duty to provide alternative transportation home such as a taxi.  

First, this is a distinction without meaning.  The facts alleged in the complaint assert Aparicio was 

drunk because Dave & Buster’s served, sold or furnished alcohol to him.  Thus the duty Plaintiffs 

allege still arose from conduct that NRS 41.1305(1) protects. 

Second, the Supreme Court of Nevada has rejected the idea that Dave & Buster’s owed a 

duty once Aparicio left the premises.  In Rodriguez v. Primadonna Co., LLC three men were 

ejected from a casino for being drunk and disorderly.  After being ejected, they were subsequently 

involved in a motor vehicle accident.  One of the injured parties sued the casino.  The Supreme 

Court first noted “it is well settled in Nevada that commercial liquor vendors, including hotel 

proprietors, cannot be held liable for damages related to any injuries caused by the intoxicated 

patron, which are sustained by either the intoxicated patron or a third party.”10  Consequently, 

“when a hotel proprietor rightly evicts a disorderly, intoxicated patron, the hotel proprietor is not 

7 264 Cal. App. 2d 69 (1968). 
8 Opposition at 10:15-17. 
9 Opposition at 11:19. 
10 125 Nev. 578, 585, 216 P.3d 793, 798 (2009). 
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liable for any torts that an evicted patron commits after he or she is evicted that result in injury.”11

This meant “because Nevada commercial alcohol vendors are not liable for injuries sustained by 

intoxicated patrons, [the hotel] did not have a duty to ensure safe transportation for the young 

men, keep Fabian on the premises, or otherwise prevent injuries subsequent to their eviction.”12

Therefore, although the Primadonna may have known that Fabian’s step-uncle was 
intoxicated and could not safely drive, we conclude, as a matter of law, that 
Primadonna did not have the duty to arrange safer transportation, prevent an 
intoxicated driver from driving, or prevent Fabian, a passenger, from riding with a 
drunk driver.  In so concluding, we note that it would be contrary to existing authority 
for this court to hold otherwise and require a proprietor to monitor the intoxication 
level or other factors related to patrons who elect to drive while intoxicated or who 
engage in other dangerous activity after they are evicted.13

Applied here, Aparicio left Dave & Buster’s of his own accord; he was not evicted or 

asked to leave.  Regardless, once he left the premises, whatever duties Dave & Buster’s might 

have owed ended for the same reasons that Rodriguez v. Primadonna Co. described. 

c. Clark County Code § 8.20.300 cannot create civil liability for Dave & Buster’s.

Plaintiffs continue to argue CCC 8.20.300 can be used to impose civil liability against 

Dave & Buster’s via negligence per se.  Plaintiffs do not dispute that if read as they propose, CCC 

8.20.300 would conflict with NRS 41.1305(1).  If so, NRS 41.1305(1) controls.   

Plaintiffs instead argue a 2007 amendment to NRS 41.1305 allows them to pursue only a 

negligence per se theory against Dave & Buster’s.  Before the 2007 legislature, NRS 41.1305 read 

as follows: 

1) No person who serves or sells alcoholic beverages is liable in a civil action based 
on the grounds that the service or sale was the proximate cause of injuries 
inflicted by an intoxicated person upon himself or another person. 

2) The violation of any statute, regulation or ordinance which regulates the sale or 
service of alcoholic beverages to a minor or an intoxicated person does not 
constitute negligence per se in any action brought against the server or seller for 
injuries inflicted by an intoxicated person upon himself or another person. 

The 2007 Legislature combined these two statutes into NRS 41.1305(1). 

A person who serves, sells or otherwise furnishes an alcoholic beverage to another 
person who is 21 years of age or older is not liable in a civil action for any damages 

11 Id., 216 P.3d at 798-99. 
12 Id. at 587, 216 P.3d at 800. 
13 Id. 
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caused by the person to whom the alcoholic beverage was served, sold or furnished as 
a result of the consumption of the alcoholic beverage. 

Plaintiffs argue by deleting the specific reference to negligence per se, the 2007 legislature 

intended to allow third-party claims such as are at issue here.  This is inaccurate as the revised 

NRS 41.1305(1) provides even broader protection that its predecessor.  This interpretation also 

leads to the absurd result of there being no general negligence duty, but only a regulatory duty that 

varies by locality and creates liability NRS 41.1305(1) otherwise eliminated. 

III. NRS 41.1305(1) is constitutional. 

Plaintiffs’ final argument is that if NRS 41.1305(1) applies to the facts alleged and bars a 

recovery against Dave & Buster’s, then NRS 41.1305(1) is unconstitutional.  Plaintiffs “must 

make a clear showing of invalidity.”14  Preliminarily, while Plaintiffs’ cite extensively from the 

1994 dissent in Snyder v. Viani, NRS 41.1305(1) was not created until 1995.  Snyder could not 

have considered the constitutionality of a statute that did not exist. 

a. The Legislature may reasonably restrict access to the courts. 

Plaintiffs argue NRS 41.1305(1) violates their right to a jury trial because it bars them 

from recovering against Dave & Buster’s.  The Supreme Court of Nevada has repeatedly ruled 

that the right to sue for damages “does not involve a fundamental constitutional right.”15  When a 

fundamental constitutional right is not implicated, the Legislature may restrict court access “if 

there exists a rational basis for doing so.  In other words, constitutional ‘right of access’ challenges 

that do not implicate a fundamental right are subjected to the lowest level of judicial scrutiny--the 

‘rational basis’ test.”16  The rational basis test is satisfied if the statute is rationally related to a 

legitimate government purpose.  “This Court may not, under such a standard, superimpose its own 

preferences on the work product of a coordinate branch of government.”17

At least two other jurisdictions have considered rational basis challenges to statutes 

substantively similar to NRS 41.1305(1).  Wisconsin’s Supreme Court concluded such a statute 

satisfied the rational basis test, noting distinguishing between two groups of persons who furnish 

14 Tam v. Dist. Ct., 131 Nev. Adv. Rep. 80, 358 P.3d 234, 237-38 (2015). 
15 Barrett v. Baird, 111 Nev. 1496, 1507, 908 P.2d 689, 697 (1995); Tam v. Dist. Ct., 131 Nev. 
Adv. Rep. 80, 358 P.3d 234, 237-38 (2015). 
16 Id. 
17 Allen v. State, 100 Nev. 130, 136, 676 P.2d 792, 796 (1984). 
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alcohol beverages to others was rationally related to the legitimate governmental purpose of 

protecting persons under the legal drinking age.18

Wyoming’s Supreme Court considered a similar statute in Greenwalt v. Ram Rest. Corp.19

The statute at issue read “[n]o person who has legally provided alcoholic liquor or malt beverage 

to any other person is liable for damages caused by the intoxication of the other person.”20

Greenwalt noted many potential reasons the Wyoming Legislature may have had for passing the 

statute that could satisfy a rational basis test. 

[T]he legislature could reasonably have concluded that the full nature and scope of 
the liability and immunity of all alcohol providers, licensed vendors and non-licensed 
persons alike, was uncertain.  …  The legislature could have rationally thought that it 
must create a comprehensive, yet simple to administer tort claim to cover all liquor 
providers and intoxicated persons. It could have rationally thought that the 
establishment of an unquestioned and predictable yet limited basis for legal liability 
would provide a more effective incentive for the responsible furnishing of alcohol and 
the realization of the primary purpose.21

Ultimately, a legislature is not required to “draw its lines with mathematical certainty or 

even that it exercise its policy-making judgment in the best or wisest way. We hold that the 

legislative classifications at issue are rationally related to the legitimate legislative objectives of” 

the statute.22

The rational bases that Wisconsin and Wyoming found for their statutes are equally 

applicable in Nevada.  NRS 41.1305(1) is rationally related to any of these legitimate government 

purposes, so its restrictions upon access to the courts are constitutionally sound. 

b. NRS 41.1305(1) is consistent with equal protection. 

“When the law . . . does not implicate a suspect class or fundamental right, it will be 

upheld as long as it is rationally related to a legitimate government interest.”23  NRS 41.1305(1)’s 

text does not implicate any suspect class.  It is a statute of general application.  While Plaintiffs 

present political arguments that assert NRS 41.1305(1) systemically discriminates against those 

18 Doering v. WEA Ins. Group, 532 N.W.2d 432 (Wis. 1995). 
19 71 P.3d 717 (Wyo. 2003). 
20 W.S. § 12-8-301(a). 
21 Greenwalt, 71 P.3d at 738. 
22 Id. 
23 Zamora v. Price, 125 Nev. 388, 395, 213 P.3d 490, 495 (2009). 
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who are minorities or economically disadvantaged, they present no meaningful support for these 

arguments.  Fatally, Plaintiffs do not allege they are even members of these classes.24

IV. Plaintiffs have not pled a claim for relief against Dave & Buster’s. 

Even if Plaintiffs amended their complaint, the operative facts are still that Aparicio 

consumed alcohol, drove drunk, and killed two people.  Amending the complaint will not change 

those facts, nor will it change the end result: NRS 41.1305(1) is constitutional and bars Plaintiffs 

from recovering against Dave & Buster’s for Aparicio’s conduct.  Plaintiffs have not pled, nor can 

they plead, a set of facts against Dave & Buster’s that could entitle them to relief, so dismissal per 

NRCP 12(b)(5) is proper. 

DATED this 24th day of June, 2020. 

/s/ Michael P. Lowry 
BY:   

MICHAEL P. LOWRY, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10666 
VIRGINIA T. TOMOVA, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 12504 
6689 Las Vegas Blvd. South, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 
Attorneys for Dave & Buster’s of Nevada, Inc. 

24 Allen v. State, 100 Nev. 130, 135, 676 P.2d 792, 795 (1984) (“Equal protection of the law has 
long been recognized to mean that no class of persons shall be denied the same protection of the 
law which is enjoyed by other classes in like circumstances.”). 
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Certificate of Service 

Pursuant to NRCP 5, I certify that I am an employee of Wilson Elser Moskowitz Edelman 

& Dicker LLP, and that on June 24, 2020, I served Dave & Buster’s of Nevada, Inc’s Reply re 

Motion to Dismiss as follows: 

 by placing same to be deposited for mailing in the United States Mail, in a sealed 
envelope upon which first class postage was prepaid in Las Vegas, Nevada;  

 via electronic means by operation of the Court’s electronic filing system, upon each 
party in this case who is registered as an electronic case filing user with the Clerk;  

Thomas F. Christensen
Christensen Law 
1000 S Valley View Blvd 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89107 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs

BY: /s/ Michael Lowry
An Employee of
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    Parties Present

Return to Register of Actions
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MICHAEL P. LOWRY, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10666 
E-mail: Michael.Lowry@wilsonelser.com  
VIRGINIA T. TOMOVA, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 12504 
E-mail: Virginia.Tomova@wilsonelser.com   
6689 Las Vegas Blvd. South, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 
Tel: 702.727.1400/Fax: 702.727.1401 
Attorneys for Dave & Buster’s of Nevada, Inc. 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

 

/// 

 

/// 

 

/// 

 

 

   Damaso S. Puente, individually and on behalf of the 
Estate of Damaso I. Puente; Maria Puente; Daniel 
Malone; and Diane Malone, individually and on 
behalf of the Estate of Christa Puente,  

Plaintiffs,  

vs.  

Henry Biderman Aparicio; Morgan Hurley; Dave & 
Buster’s of Nevada, Inc. dba Dave & Buster’s; MAT-
Summerlin, LLC dba Casa del Matador Summerlin; 
Mocore, LLC; Does I-V, and Roe Corportations I-V, 
Roe Manufacturer I-V; Roe Wholesaler I-V; Roe 
Retailer I-V,  

Defendants. 

 Case No.: A-20-813787-C 
Dept. No.: 18 
 
 
Order on Dave & Buster’s of Nevada, 
Inc’s Motion to Dismiss 
 
 

   

Case Number: A-20-813787-C

Electronically Filed
7/14/2020 6:59 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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Dave & Buster’s of Nevada, Inc. moved to dismiss per NRCP 12(b)(5).  Plaintiffs opposed 

and the motion was heard on July 1, 2020.  Michael Lowry appeared for Dave & Buster’s, 

Thomas Christensen appeared for Plaintiffs.  The Court denies Dave & Buster's motion without 

prejudice. As pled, it is unclear to the Court what Plaintiffs allege Dave and Buster's did. Plaintiffs 

are granted leave to file an amended complaint.   

 

 
 
 
 

/s/ Michael Lowry    
MICHAEL P. LOWRY, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10666 
6689 Las Vegas Blvd. South, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89119 
Attorneys for Dave & Buster’s of Nevada, 
Inc. 

CHRISTENSEN LAW 
 
 
 
/s/ Tom Christensen   
THOMAS F. CHRISTENSEN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 2326 
1000 S Valley View Blvd 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89107 
Attorney for Plaintiffs 
 

 It is so ordered. 
 
 
                                           
DISTRICT JUDGE 
 
 
Date:                                      
 

 

July 13th, 2020
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Kelley, Cynthia H.

From: Dawn Hooker <dawnh@injuryhelpnow.com>

Sent: Wednesday, July 8, 2020 4:05 PM

To: Lowry, Michael

Subject: Re: Puente: Proposed Order

[EXTERNAL EMAIL]

Yes, that looks fine.  
You may use my esignature. Thank you very much.  

Dawn Allysa Hooker, Esq. 
Nevada Bar 7019
Christensen Law Offices, LLC
1000 S Valley View Blvd.
Las Vegas, NV 89107
Office: (702) 870-1000
Direct Line: (702) 204-8490 
Fax: (702) 870-6152
www.injuryhelpnow.com

*****  PLEASE NOTE *****  This E-Mail/telefax message and any documents accompanying this transmission may contain privileged and/or 
confidential information and is intended solely for the addressee(s) named above.  If you are not the intended addressee/recipient, you are hereby 
notified that any use of, disclosure, copying, distribution, or reliance on the contents of this E-Mail/telefax information is strictly prohibited and may 
result in legal action against you. Please reply to the sender advising of the error in transmission and immediately delete/destroy the message and 
any accompanying documents.  Thank you.*****

On Wed, Jul 8, 2020 at 4:00 PM Lowry, Michael <Michael.Lowry@wilsonelser.com> wrote: 

I could live with that.  Attached is a revised order.  Will it work for you too?

From: Dawn Hooker [mailto:dawnh@injuryhelpnow.com]  
Sent: Wednesday, July 8, 2020 15:43 
To: Lowry, Michael <Michael.Lowry@wilsonelser.com> 
Cc: courtnotices@injuryhelpnow.com
Subject: Re: Puente: Proposed Order

[EXTERNAL EMAIL]

Okay, keeping that sentence would be okay to keep. So, it would say :  

"The Court denies Dave & Buster's motion without prejudice. As pled, it is unclear to the Court what Plaintiffs 
allege Dave and Buster's did. Plaintiffs are granted leave to file an amended complaint."  
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Dawn Allysa Hooker, Esq. 
Christensen Law Offices, LLC
1000 S Valley View Blvd.
Las Vegas, NV 89107
Office: (702) 870-1000
Direct Line: (702) 204-8490 
Fax: (702) 870-6152
www.injuryhelpnow.com

*****  PLEASE NOTE *****  This E-Mail/telefax message and any documents accompanying this transmission may contain privileged and/or 
confidential information and is intended solely for the addressee(s) named above.  If you are not the intended addressee/recipient, you are hereby 
notified that any use of, disclosure, copying, distribution, or reliance on the contents of this E-Mail/telefax information is strictly prohibited and may 
result in legal action against you. Please reply to the sender advising of the error in transmission and immediately delete/destroy the message and 
any accompanying documents.  Thank you.*****

On Tue, Jul 7, 2020 at 5:40 PM Lowry, Michael <Michael.Lowry@wilsonelser.com> wrote: 

Thank you, but the order needs to state some reason why the court ruled as it did.  I kept it as simple as I 
could based upon what the judge said during the hearing.  If you have alternative language to “As pled it is 
unclear to the court what Plaintiffs’ allege Dave & Buster’s did” I’m willing to consider it.

From: Dawn Hooker [mailto:dawnh@injuryhelpnow.com]  
Sent: Tuesday, July 7, 2020 15:55 
To: Lowry, Michael <Michael.Lowry@wilsonelser.com> 
Cc: courtnotices@injuryhelpnow.com
Subject: Re: Puente: Proposed Order

[EXTERNAL EMAIL]

Hello Michael:  

I spoke to Mr. Christensen, who appeared at the hearing on this and he would prefer to have more simple 
language in the order.  

 After the introductory  sentences regarding the motion, date and appearances, etc. could you change it to read 
as follows:  

"The Court denies Dave and Buster's Motion without prejudice. Plaintiffs are granted leave to file an amended 
complaint." 

If you are okay with that language, you may affix my electronic signature. (Bar number 7019). Thank you.  

Dawn Allysa Hooker, Esq. 
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Christensen Law Offices, LLC
1000 S Valley View Blvd.
Las Vegas, NV 89107
Office: (702) 870-1000
Direct Line: (702) 204-8490 
Fax: (702) 870-6152
www.injuryhelpnow.com

*****  PLEASE NOTE *****  This E-Mail/telefax message and any documents accompanying this transmission may contain privileged and/or 
confidential information and is intended solely for the addressee(s) named above.  If you are not the intended addressee/recipient, you are hereby 
notified that any use of, disclosure, copying, distribution, or reliance on the contents of this E-Mail/telefax information is strictly prohibited and may 
result in legal action against you. Please reply to the sender advising of the error in transmission and immediately delete/destroy the message and 
any accompanying documents.  Thank you.*****

On Fri, Jul 3, 2020 at 8:43 AM Lowry, Michael <Michael.Lowry@wilsonelser.com> wrote: 

Hello, 

A draft of the proposed order from the July 1 hearing is attached.  If acceptable, please just reply and confirm 
that.  I will then submit it to the court electronically. 

Michael Lowry 
Attorney at Law 
Wilson Elser Moskowitz Edelman & Dicker LLP 
6689 Las Vegas Blvd. South, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, NV 89119 
702.727.1267 (Direct) 
702.727.1400 (Main) 
702.727.1401 (Fax) 
michael.lowry@wilsonelser.com

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This electronic message is intended to be  
viewed only by the individual or entity to whom it is addressed.  
It may contain information that is privileged, confidential and  
exempt from disclosure under applicable law. Any dissemination,  
distribution or copying of this communication is strictly prohibited  
without our prior permission. If the reader of this message is not 
the intended recipient, or the employee or agent responsible for  
delivering the message to the intended recipient, or if you have  
received this communication in error, please notify us immediately by  
return e-mail and delete the original message and any copies of it  
from your computer system.  

For further information about Wilson, Elser, Moskowitz, Edelman &  
Dicker LLP, please see our website at www.wilsonelser.com or refer to 
any of our offices.  

Thank you.
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CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This electronic message is intended to be  
viewed only by the individual or entity to whom it is addressed.  
It may contain information that is privileged, confidential and  
exempt from disclosure under applicable law. Any dissemination,  
distribution or copying of this communication is strictly prohibited  
without our prior permission. If the reader of this message is not 
the intended recipient, or the employee or agent responsible for  
delivering the message to the intended recipient, or if you have  
received this communication in error, please notify us immediately by  
return e-mail and delete the original message and any copies of it  
from your computer system.  

For further information about Wilson, Elser, Moskowitz, Edelman &  
Dicker LLP, please see our website at www.wilsonelser.com or refer to 
any of our offices.  

Thank you.

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This electronic message is intended to be  
viewed only by the individual or entity to whom it is addressed.  
It may contain information that is privileged, confidential and  
exempt from disclosure under applicable law. Any dissemination,  
distribution or copying of this communication is strictly prohibited  
without our prior permission. If the reader of this message is not 
the intended recipient, or the employee or agent responsible for  
delivering the message to the intended recipient, or if you have  
received this communication in error, please notify us immediately by  
return e-mail and delete the original message and any copies of it  
from your computer system.  

For further information about Wilson, Elser, Moskowitz, Edelman &  
Dicker LLP, please see our website at www.wilsonelser.com or refer to 
any of our offices.  
Thank you.
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ACOM  
THOMAS   F.   CHRISTENSEN,   ESQ.  
Nevada   Bar   No.   2326  
CHRISTENSEN   LAW   OFFICES,   LLC  
1000   S.   Valley   View   Blvd.  
Las   Vegas,   Nevada   89107  
T:   702-870-1000  
F:   702-870-6152  
courtnotices@injuryhelpnow.com  
 

DISTRICT   COURT  
CLARK   COUNTY,   NEVADA  

 
Damaso   S.   Puente,   individually   and   on   behalf   of  
the   Estate   of   Damaso   I.   Puente,   Maria   Puente,  
Daniel   Malone,   and   Diane   Malone,   individually  
and   on   behalf   of   the   Estate   of   Christa   Puente,   
  
  

Plaintiffs,   
vs.  
 
Henry   Biderman   Aparicio,   Morgan   Hurley,   Dave  
&   Buster’s   of   Nevada,   Inc.,;   MAT-SUMMERLIN  
LLC,   dba   Casa   del   Matador   Summerlin;  
MOCORE,   LLC;   DOES   I   -   V,   and   ROE  
CORPORATIONS    I   -   V,    ROE  
MANUFACTURER   I   -   V;    ROE   WHOLESALER,  
I   -   V;    ROE   RETAILER,   I   -   V;  

 
Defendants.   
 
 

 
CASE   NO:  
DEPT.   NO:   
 
FIRST   AMENDED  
COMPLAINT  
 
 

 
COME  NOW  the  Plaintiffs,  Damaso  S.  Puente,  individually  and  on  behalf  of  the  Estate  of                

Damaso  I.  Puente,  Maria  Puente,  Diane  Malone,  individually  and  on  behalf  of  the  Estate  of                

Christa  Puente,  and  Daniel  Malone,  by  and  through  Plaintiffs’  attorney,  THOMAS            

CHRISTENSEN,  of  the  law  firm  of  CHRISTENSEN  LAW  OFFICES,  and  complain  against  the              

Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   as   follows:  

I. PARTIES/JURISDICTION  

 
1  

Case Number: A-20-813787-C

Electronically Filed
8/7/2020 12:45 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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1.  Upon  information  and  belief,  that  at  all  times  relevant  to  this  action,  the  Defendant,                

Henry   Biderman   Aparicio,   was   a   resident   of   Clark   County,   Nevada.  

2. Upon  information  and  belief,  that  at  all  times  relevant  to  this  action,  the  Defendant,               

Morgan   Hurley,   was   a   resident   of   Clark   County,   Nevada.  

3. Upon  information  and  belief,  that  at  all  times  relevant  to  this  action,  the  Defendant,               

MAT-SUMMERLIN  LLC  dba  Casa  del  Matador  Summerlin,  was  a  business  located  in  Clark              

County,   Nevada.  

4. Upon  information  and  belief,  that  at  all  times  relevant  to  this  action,  the  Defendant,  Dave                

&  Buster’s  of  Nevada,  Inc.  dba  Dave  &  Buster’s,  was  a  business  located  in  Clark  County,                 

Nevada.  

5. That  Plaintiff  Damaso  S.  Puente  is  the  Special  Administrator  of  the  Estate  of  Damaso  I.                

Puente,   who   died   in   Clark   County,   Nevada.  

6. That  Damaso  S.  Puente  and  Maria  Puente,  at  all  times  relevant  to  this  action  were  the                 

parents   of   and   are   the   heirs   of   Decedent   Damaso   I.   Puente.  

7. That  Plaintiff  Diane  Malone  is  the  Special  Administrator  of  the  Estate  of  Christa  Puente,               

who   died   in   Clark   County,   Nevada.  

8. That  Daniel  Malone  and  Diane  Malone,  at  all  times  relevant  to  this  action  were  the                

parents   of   and   are   the    heirs   of   Decedent   Christa   Puente.  

9. Upon  information  and  belief,  MAT-SUMMERLIN,  LLC  is  and  was  a  business  entity             

registered  in  the  State  of  Nevada  and  in  the  State  of  Washington,  doing  business  as  Casa  del                  

Matador   in   Clark   County,   Nevada.   

10. That  Defendant  MOCORE,  LLC;  is  a  Washington  State  and/or  Nevada  entity  doing             

business  as  Casa  del  Matador  and/or  El  Matador  (hereinafter  collectively  referred  to  as              
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“Matador”)  in  and  subject  to  the  laws  of  the  State  of  Washington  and  doing  business  in  and                  

subject   to   the   laws   of   the   State   of   Nevada.  

11.  That  Defendant  Dave  &  Buster’s  of  Nevada,  Inc.  (hereinafter  “Dave  &  Buster’s”)  is  a                

Delaware  Corporation,  registered  as  a  foreign  Corporation  and  doing  business  in  and  subject  to               

the   laws   of   the   State   of   Nevada.  

12.  That  the  true  names  and  capacities,  whether  individual,  corporate,  partnership,  associate             

or  otherwise,  of  Defendants  DOES  I  through  V,  and  ROES  I  through  V,  ROE               

MANUFACTURER  I  -  V;  ROE  WHOLESALER,  I  -  V;  ROE  RETAILER,  I  -  V;  are  unknown                 

to  Plaintiffs,  who  therefore  sues  said  Defendants  by  such  fictitious  names.  Plaintiffs  are              

informed  and  believe  and  thereon  allege  that  each  of  the  Defendants  designated  herein  as  DOE,                

ROE,  ROE  MANUFACTURER  I  -  V;  ROE  WHOLESALER,  I  -  V;  ROE  RETAILER,  I  -  V  is                  

responsible  in  some  manner  for  the  events  and  happenings  referred  to  and  caused  damages               

proximately  to  Plaintiffs  as  herein  alleged,  and  that  Plaintiffs  will  ask  leave  of  this  Court  to                 

amend  this  Complaint  to  insert  the  true  names  and  capacities  of  DOES  I  through  V  and  ROES  I                   

through  V,  ROE  MANUFACTURER  I  -  V;  ROE  WHOLESALER,  I  -  V;  ROE  RETAILER,  I  -                 

V    when   the   same   have   been   ascertained,   and   to   join   such   Defendants   in   this   action.  

II.   GENERAL   ALLEGATIONS  

13. Upon  information  and  belief,  at  all  times  relevant  hereto,  Defendant  Henry  Biderman             

Aparicio  was  the  operator  and  Defendant  Morgan  Hurley  was  the  owner  of  a  certain  2014                

Mercedes-Benz,  Nevada  license  plate  number  UNLV16935  (hereinafter  referred  to  as           

"Defendant's  Vehicle").  He  was  operating  the  vehicle  with  the  knowledge  and  consent  of              

Defendant   Morgan   Hurley   and   in   carrying   out   a   joint   venture   common   purpose.  
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14.  At  all  times  relevant  hereto,  Decedent  Damaso  I.  Puente  was  the  operator  of,  and                

Christa  Puente  was  a  passenger  in,  a  certain  2010  Toyota  Prius,  Nevada  license  plate  number                

240ATX   (hereinafter   referred   to   as   "Plaintiff's   Vehicle").  

15.  On  May  15,  2018  at  approximately  9:08  pm,  Defendant  Henry  Biderman  Aparicio  was               

operating  the  Defendant's  Vehicle  with  the  consent  of  Morgan  Hurley  for  a  common  purpose  in                

an  eastbound  direction  on  W.  Sahara  Ave  approaching  the  intersection  of  S.  Hualapai  Way,               

located   in   Clark   County,   Nevada.  

16.  Plaintiffs  are  informed  and  thereon  allege,  that  on  the  date  and  time  as  set  forth  in  the                   

preceding  paragraph,  Plaintiff’s  vehicle  was  stopped  for  a  red  light  in  the  first  eastbound  travel                

lane   of   West   Sahara   Ave.,   at   its   intersection   with   Hualapai   Way.  

17.  On  or  about  May  15,  2018,  Defendant  Henry  Biderman  Aparicio,  acting  in  the  course                

and  scope  of  his  employment  with  Defendants  and  each  of  them,  did  carelessly  and  negligently                

operate  Defendant’s  vehicle  so  as  to  cause  the  same  to  collide  with  the  rear  of  Plaintiff’s  vehicle                  

while   far   exceeding   the   posted   speed   of   45   mph   (hereinafter   “the   crash.”)  

18.  At  the  time  of  the  crash,  Defendant  Henry  Biderman  Aparicio  was  driving  under  the                

influence  of  alcohol  .204  Blood  Alcohol  Content  per  blood  test  performed  by  LVMPD,  which               

was  obtained  at  1:47am  and  was  4  hours  and  40  minutes  after  the  crash.  with  such  an  elevated                   

B.AC.  the  Defendant  showed  signs  of  sedation,  loss  of  memory  and  lack  of  comprehension,               

delayed  motor  reactions,  balance  problems,  blurred  vision  and  sensation  impairment,  at  the  time              

of   the   crash  

19.  Immediately  prior  to  the  crash,  Defendant  Henry  Biderman  Aparicio  and  Morgan             

Hurley,  acting  in  concert  and  as  part  of  a  joint  venture,  consumed  alcohol  on  the  premises  of  the                   

business  of  other  named  Defendants  as  a  result  of  the  Defendants  illegal  dangerous  activities  and                

without   being   warned   of   the   dangerous   product.   
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20. On  information  and  belief,  immediately  prior  to  the  crash,  Defendant  Henry  Biderman             

Aparicio  and  Morgan  Hurley,  acting  in  concert  and  as  part  of  a  joint  venture,  consumed  alcohol                 

on  the  premises  of  Dave  &  Buster’s  in  excess  of  8  hard  liquor  drinks  served  to  Aparicio  after  he                    

was  intoxicated  in  violation  of  law  and  as  result  of  Dave  &  Buster’s  illegal  and  dangerous                 

activities   and   without   being   warned   of   the   danger.   

21. On  May  15th,  2018,  Defendant  Henry  Biderman  Aparicio  consumed  at  least  13  tequila               

based  alcoholic  beverages  in  3  hours  and  15  minutes,  before  colliding  with  the  Plaintiffs’               

vehicle.  These  drinks  were  consumed  on  the  premises  of  Defendants  including  Dave  and              

Buster’s  and  Matador  which  are  located  in  close  proximity  in  the  same  mall  building  complex                

and   share   common   parking.  

22.  Defendant  Aparacio,  with  the  knowledge  and  consent  of  Morgan  Hurley,  Dave  and              

Buster’s  and  The  Matador,  consumed  alcohol  each  knowing  that  he  would  later  operate  a  motor                

vehicle.   

23.  Defendants,  and  each  of  them,  promoted  and  encouraged  the  acts  of  the  other               

Defendants.   

24. On  information  and  belief,  on  May  15th,  2018  Defendant  Henry  Biderman  Aparicio             

consumed  at  least  13  alcoholic  beverages,  which  were  served  at  the  location  of  and  by  Dave  &                  

Buster’s  after  Defendant  Aparicio  was  obviously  intoxicated  and  even  though  Dave  &  Buster’s              

knew   Aparicio   would   thereafter   be   operating   a   motor   vehicle.  

25. On  information  and  belief,  on  May  15th,  2018,  and  for  some  period  of  time  leading  up  to                  

that  date,  Defendants  Aparicio  and  Hurley  enjoyed  a  friendly  relationship  with  Dave  &  Buster’s               

whereby  Defendant  Dave  &  Buster’s  provided  Aparicio  and  Hurley  with  alcoholic  beverages  for              

free.   
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26. On  information  and  belief,  Defendant  Dave  &  Buster's  conspired  with  Aparicio  and             

Hurley  in  providing  alcohol  beyond  the  point  of  intoxication,  knowing  that  the  Defendant              

Aparicio  would  drive  and  in  helping  Defendant  Aparicio  to  the  vehicle  and  providing  him  with                

keys.   

27. On  information  and  belief,  Defendant  Dave  &  Buster’s  solicited  Defendant  Aparicio  and             

enticed  him  to  drink  at  its  establishment  by  offering  free  and/or  discounted  drinks  based  upon  his                 

status   as   a   bartender   and/or   frequent   patron.   

28. On  information  and  belief,  Dave  &  Buster’s  provided  an  excess  amount  of  alcohol  to               

Defendant  Aparicio  and  continued  to  provide  alcohol  despite  actual  or  implied  knowledge  that              

he   was   intoxicated   and   planning   to   drive.   

29.    Defendant   Aparicio   did   not   eat   food   during   the   time   he   consumed   alcoholic   drinks.  

30.  Plaintiffs  are  informed  and  thereon  allege  that  Henry  Biderman  Aparicio  was  employed              

by  Casa  Del  Matador  and  that  five  of  the  beverages  were  consumed  at  Casa  Del  Matador  just                  

prior   to   the   crash.   

31.  At  the  time  Defendant  was  served  at  Casa  Del  Matador,  he  was  obviously  intoxicated                

within  the  meaning  of  Clark  County  Ordinance  8.20.300  and  Washington  Code RCW  66.44.200              

(1) .  Morgan  Hurley  and  Aparicio’s  co-employees  knew  he  was  intoxicated  and  knowingly             

conspired   to   violate   company   policy   and   the   law   by   providing   alcohol   to   an   intoxicated   person.  

32. At  the  time  Defendant  was  served  at  Dave  &  Buster’s,  he  was  obviously  intoxicated               

within  the  meaning  of  Clark  County  Ordinance  8.20.300.  Morgan  Hurley  and  Aparicio’s  friends              

and  acquaintances,  agents  for  Dave  &  Buster’s,  knew  Defendant  Aparicio  was  intoxicated  and              

knowingly  conspired  to  violate  company  policy  and  the  law  by  providing  alcohol  to  an               

intoxicated   person.  
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33.  Defendant  Aparicio  was  served  alcoholic  drinks  despite  his  obvious  intoxication            

because  he  was  an  employee  and  was  given  preferential  treatment;  he  and  his  joint  venturer,                

Defendant  Morgan  Hurley,  were  served  drinks  until  Defendant  Hurley  fell  off  her  barstool  due  to                

her  drunken  state  and  Defendant  Aparicio  staggered  to  the  vehicle  in  the  parking  lot  with  the  aid                  

of  fellow  employees.  Defendants  continued  alcohol  service  because  Aparicio  and  Hurley  were             

known  by  Aparicio’s  co-workers  and  given  preferential  treatment  in  violation  of  company  policy              

due   to   Aparicio’s   employment   status   at   Casa   Del   Matador.  

34. Defendant  Aparicio  was  served  alcoholic  drinks  despite  his  obvious  intoxication  because            

he  was  a  friend/acquaintance  and  regular  patron  of  Defendant  Dave  &  Buster’s  and  he  was  given                 

preferential  treatment;  he  and  his  joint  venturer,  Defendant  Morgan  Hurley,  were  served  drinks              

in  reckless  disregard  for  the  safety  of  the  public  while  in  an  obvious  drunken  state  and                 

Defendant  Aparicio  staggered  to  the  vehicle  in  the  parking  lot  with  the  aid  of  Dave  &  Buster’s                  

employees.  Defendant  Dave  &  Buster’s  continued  to  serve  alcohol  to  Defendants  Aparicio  and              

Hurley  because  these  Defendants  were  well  known  and  given  preferential  treatment  in  violation              

of   company   policy   due   to   their   friendly   relationship   and   in   order   to   make   greater   profit.  

35.  On  or  about  January  11,  2018,  and  at  other  times  and  in  similar  ways,  Casa  del  Matador                   

Summerlin  used  a  photograph  of  Aparicio,  holding  a  bottle  of  Tequila,  advertising  happy  hour               

on   social   media.   

36.  On  or  about  January  15,  2018  and  at  other  times  and  in  similar  ways  Casa  del  Matador                   

Summerlin  posted  on  Instagram:  “Start  your  week  right  with  our  bottomless  MONDAYS!!!  All              

you  can  eat  tacos  and  Margaritas  for  $25.  #tequila  #tgifridays  #mondays  #tacos  #mlkweekend              

#downtownsummerlin”.  
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37.  On  or  about  July  13,  2018  and  at  other  times  and  in  similar  ways,  Casa  del  Matador                   

Summerlin  posted  on  Instagram  a  picture  with  the  caption  “You  have  10  minutes  to  drink  30                 

tequila   shots…who’s   your   team?”   

38. Defendants  Matador  and  Dave  &  Buster’s,  at  all  relevant  times,  each  was  the  possessor               

of  a  Liquor  License,  issued  by  Clark  County,  State  of  Nevada  and  each  offered  intoxicating                

liquors   of   various   kinds   for   sale   to   the   public.  

39. At  all  relevant  times,  Defendants  Matador  and  Dave  &  Buster’s  owed  a  duty  to  comply                

with  all  applicable  statutes,  regulations  and  rules  related  to  responsible  behavior  expected  of              

liquor   licensees   for   serving   obviously   intoxicated   patrons.  

40. Defendants  Matador  and  Dave  &  Buster’s  sold  alcoholic  beverages  to  Defendant            

Aparicio  and  Defendant  Hurley  at  a  time  when  Matador  and  Dave  &  Buster’s,  knew,  or  in  the                  

exercise  of  reasonable  care  should  have  known,  that  Defendant  Aparicio  and  Defendant  Hurley              

were   intoxicated.  

41. At  all  materials  times,  each  of  the  Defendants  were  either  joint  tortfeasors  with  other               

Defendants,  were  concurrently  or  jointly  and  severally  liable  and/or  otherwise  derivatively  or             

vicariously  liable  for  the  events  described  herein,  which  caused  Plaintiff’s  injuries  and  damages              

described   in   this   Complaint.  

42. At  all  material  times,  each  of  the  Defendants  were  the  agent  and  employee  of  every  other                 

Defendant  in  doing  the  events  described  and  was  at  all  times  acting  within  the  purpose  and  scope                  

of  such  agency  and  employment  and  are  vicariously  liable  under  the  theory  of respondeat               

superior    for   the   actions   and   inactions   of   their   employees   and   contractors.  

43. At  all  material  times,  Defendants  Dave  and  Busters  and  Matador  includes  and  included              

any  and  all  parents,  subsidiaries,  affiliates,  divisions,  franchises,  partners,  joint  ventures,  and             
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organization  units  of  any  kind,  predecessors,  successors  and  assigns  and  their  officers,  directors,              

employees,   agents,   representatives   and   any   and   all   other   persons   acting   on   their   behalf.  

44. The  Plaintiffs  have  been  required  to  retain  the  law  firm  of  Christensen  Law  Offices,  LLC                

to   prosecute   this   action,   and   are   entitled   to   a   reasonable   attorney's   fee.  

III.   CAUSES   OF   ACTION  

FIRST   CAUSE   OF   ACTION   

45. Plaintiffs  repeat  and  reallege  each  and  every  allegation  contained  in  the  foregoing             

paragraphs   and   incorporate   the   same   herein   by   reference.   

46. Defendants,  and  each  of  them,  specifically  including  Dave  and  Buster’s  and  Matador             

owed   a   duty   of   care   to   Plaintiffs.   

47. Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   breached   the   duty   of   care   owed   to   Plaintiffs.  

48. Defendants,  and  each  of  them,  were  negligent  so  as  to  proximately  cause  the  crash               

described   herein   which   resulted   in   the   deaths   of   Damaso   I.   Puente   and   Christa   Puente.  

49. That,  at  all  times  mentioned  herein,  Defendants  acted  recklessly,  maliciously  and            

willfully,   as   set   forth   herein,   whereupon   Defendants   breached   their   duty   of   care.   

50. That  as  a  direct  and  proximate  result  of  the  aforesaid  negligence  and/  or  reckless,               

malicious  and  willful  acts  of  Defendants,  and  each  of  them,  specifically  including  Dave  and               

Buster’s  and  Matador,  Decedents  Damaso  I.  Puente  and  Christa  Puente  sustained  grievous  and              

serious   personal   injuries   and   damages,   which   caused   their   deaths.   

51. At  the  time  of  the  crash  herein  complained  of,  and  immediately  prior  thereto,  Defendant,               

Henry  Biderman  Aparicio,  and/or  Defendant  Morgan  Hurley  and  each  of  the  defendants  in              

breaching  a  duty  owed  to  Plaintiffs,  and  each  of  them,  were  negligent  and  careless,  inter  alia,  in                  

the   following   particulars:  
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a. Dave  and  Buster’s  and  Matador  in  providing  alcohol  in  violation  of  law,  internal  rules  and                

in  a  conspiracy  and  inherently  dangerous  activity  to  Aparicio  and  Hurley  thus  initiating              

and   enabling   the   tort.  

b. Dave  and  Buster’s  and  Matador  in  supporting,  encouraging  and  enabling  the  activity  of              

Aparicio   and   Hurley   in   operating   a   vehicle.  

c. In   failing   to   keep   Defendant's   vehicle   under   proper   control;  

d. In   operating   Defendant's   vehicle   without   due   caution   for   the   rights   of   Decedents;  

e. In   failing   to   keep   a   proper   lookout   for   Decedents;   

f. In  driving  recklessly  and  with  reckless  disregard  for  the  safety  of  Damaso  I  and  Christa                

Puente;   

g. In  operating  the  Defendant’s  vehicle  under  the  influence  of  alcohol  and/or  other  controlled              

or   prescribed   substances;   

h. In   entrusting   the   vehicle   to   the   driver   of   the   vehicle;   and  

i. In  violating  certain  Nevada  revised  statutes  and  Clark  County  Ordinances,  including  but             

not  limited  to Clark  County  Ordinance  8.20.300,  NRS  484.377,  484.379  and  484.3795;             

the  Plaintiffs  will  pray  leave  of  Court  to  insert  additional  statutes  or  ordinances  at  the                

time   of   trial.  

52. Defendant  was  convicted  of  the  crime  of  driving  under  the  influence  and  reckless  driving               

and   is   therefore   civilly   liable   under    NRS   41.133    for   all   damages   caused   pursuant   to   Nevada   law.  

SECOND   CAUSE   OF   ACTION  

53. Plaintiffs  repeat  and  reallege  each  and  every  allegation  contained  in  the  foregoing             

paragraphs   and   incorporate   the   same   herein   by   reference.   
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54.  That  at  the  time  of  the  crash  herein  complained  of,  and  immediately  prior  thereto,                

Defendant  Morgan  Hurley,  in  breaching  a  duty  owed  to  the  Plaintiffs,  was  negligent  and               

careless,   inter   alia,   in   the   following   particulars:  

a. In   failing   to   properly   maintain   the   Defendant’s   Vehicle;  

b. In   negligently   entrusting   the   Defendant’s   Vehicle   to   Defendant   Aparicio;  

c. Vicarious   liability   through   operation   of   NRS   41.440;   and  

d. The   Defendant   violated   certain   state   and   local   statutes,   rules,   regulations,   codes   and  

ordinances,   and   the   Plaintiff   will   pray   leave   of   Court   to   insert   the   exact   citations   at   the   time  

of   trial.  

41. Alternatively,   Plaintiffs   allege   Defendant   Hurley   was   the   driver   in   the   crash.   

THIRD   CAUSE   OF   ACTION   

42. Plaintiffs   repeat   and   reallege   each   and   every   allegation   contained   in   the   foregoing  

paragraphs   and   incorporate   the   same   herein   by   reference.   

43. Defendants,   including   Dave   and   Buster’s   and   Matador,   in   concert   with   each   other,   carried  

on   an   abnormally   dangerous   activity   that   risked   harm   to   the   person   of   Decedent,   which   was  

foreseeable   even   if   reasonable   care   had   been   used.   

44.   The   carrying   on   of   this   activity   resulted   in   harm   to   the   person   of   the   Decedents.  

FOURTH   CAUSE   OF   ACTION  

45.     Plaintiffs   repeat   and   reallege   each   and   every   allegation   contained   in   the   foregoing  

paragraphs   and   incorporate   the   same   herein   by   reference.   
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46. Defendant   ROE   RETAILER   is   an   unknown   entity   engaged   in   the   business   of   selling  

tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages   at   retail   and   was   and   is   the   distributor,   retailer   and/or   seller  

of   the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages   and   as   such   did   transport,   ship,   introduce   and/or  

cause   said   product   to   be   introduced   into   the   State   of   Nevada,   the   State   of   Washington,   and   other  

states,   for   the   purpose   of   its   sale,   distribution   and/or   use   within   the   State   of   Nevada,   the   State   of  

Washington   and   other   states.   

47. Defendants,   including   Dave   and   Buster’s   and   Matador,   and   each   of   them,   expected   the  

tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages   so   sold   to   reach   consumers   or   users   in   the   condition   in  

which   it   was   sold.  

48. Defendant   Aparicio   either   purchased   or   was   provided   with    tequila   and   other   alcoholic  

beverages    from   each   defendant   including   Dave   and   Buster’s,   Matador   and   ROE   RETAILER   for  

a   drink   and   actually   used   the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages    as   a   drink,   and   Aparicio’s   use  

and   manner   of   use   of   the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages    was   reasonably   foreseeable   by   the  

Defendants,   and   each   of   them.   

49. Plaintiff   is   informed   and   believes,   and   in   reliance   thereon   alleges,   that   the   tequila   and  

other   alcoholic   beverages    were   then   and   there   in   the   condition   existing   when   Defendant   ROE  

MANUFACTURER   sold   and/or   delivered   it   to   Defendant   ROE   WHOLESALER,   and   in   the   same  

condition   existing   when   Defendant   ROE   WHOLESALER   sold   and/or   delivered   it   to   ROE  

RETAILER,   Dave   and   Buster’s   and   Matador.   

50. Plaintiff   is   informed   and   believes,   and   in   reliance   thereon   alleges,   that   the   same   condition  

of   the   product   existed   when   Defendants,   Dave   and   Buster’s,   Matador   and   ROE   RETAILER   sold  

and/or   delivered   the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages    to   Aparicio,   and   the   condition   of   the  

product   remained   unchanged   when   Aparicio   used   the   product   which   resulted   in   injuries   and  

damages   because   of   the   unreasonably   dangerous   condition   of   the   product.  
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51. When   Plaintiffs   sustained   the   injuries   hereinafter   alleged,   the   tequila    and   other   alcoholic  

beverages   were   in   a   defective   condition   and   were   unreasonably   dangerous   to   a   user   or   consumer  

in   that   the   tequila   was   defective   and   unreasonably   dangerous.  

52. Defendants,   including   Dave   and   Buster’s,   Matador   and   ROE   RETAILER,   and   each   of  

them,   knew   or   through   the   exercise   of   reasonable   care   and   diligence,   should   have   known   of   such  

defective   and   unreasonably   dangerous   conditions.  

53. Plaintiffs   relied   on   the   duty   of   Defendants,   including   Dave   and   Buster’s,   Matador   and  

ROE   RETAILER,   and   each   of   them,   to   deliver   the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages    at   the  

time   of   sale   and/or   delivery   by   each   in   a   condition   fit   for   use   for   the   purpose   intended.    The  

tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages    were   defective,   unreasonably   dangerous,   and   were   in   fact  

not   fit   for   the   purposes   and   uses   for   which   they   were   intended.   

54. The   breach   of   such   duty   by   Defendants,   including   Dave   and   Buster’s,   Matador   and   ROE  

RETAILER,   and   each   of   them,   and   such   defective   condition   of   the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic  

beverages,   were   a   proximate   cause   of   the   injuries   sustained   by   Plaintiff.  

55. By   reason   of   the   premises   and   as   a   direct   and   proximate   result   of   all   of   the   foregoing,  

Defendants,   including   Dave   and   Buster’s,   Matador   and   ROE   RETAILER,   and   each   of   them,   are  

strictly   liable   to   Plaintiff   for   the   injuries   and   damages   hereinabove   set   forth.  

56. Defendants,   including   Dave   and   Buster’s,   Matador   and   ROE   RETAILER,   and   each   of  

them,   owed   a   duty   to   all   persons   who   could   reasonably   be   foreseen   to   use   the   tequila   and   other  

alcoholic   beverages    or   be   injured   as   a   result   of   the   use   of   the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic  

beverages,   and   such   a   duty   was   specifically   owed   to   Plaintiff.  

57. Defendants,   including   Dave   and   Buster’s,   Matador   and   ROE   RETAILER,   and   each   of  

them,   breached   a   duty   owed   to   the   Plaintiff   consisting   of,   among   other   things,   the   following:  
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a. Failure  to  warn  by  statement  on  the  product,  in  the  instruction  booklet,  or  otherwise,  of  the                 

unreasonably   dangerous   conditions   of   the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages;  

b. Failure  to  properly  design  the  tequila  and  other  alcoholic  beverages  in  such  a  manner  as  to                 

avoid  or  minimize  the  unreasonable  danger  to  users  of  the  tequila  and  other  alcoholic               

beverages;  

c. Failure  to  properly  and  adequately  test  and  inspect  the  tequila  and  other  alcoholic              

beverages  to  ascertain  its  unreasonably  dangerous  condition;  Failure  to  give  adequate            

instructions  regarding  the  safe  use  of  the  tequila  and  other  alcoholic  beverages;  i.e.  Tequila               

and  other  alcoholic  beverages  should  not  be  consumed  on  an  empty  stomach,  should  not               

be  consumed  quickly,  designed  to  be  sipped  and  not  taken  in  shot  form.  Failure  to  use  due                  

care   to   avoid   misrepresentations,   cannot   operate   machinery.  

58. As  a  direct  and  proximate  result  of  the  actions  and  inactions  of  Defendants,  and  each                

of   them,   Plaintiffs   were   caused   to   suffer   the   injuries   and   damages   hereinabove   set   forth.  

59. The  Alcoholic  Beverage  Labeling  Act  (ABLA)  of  The  Anti-Drug  Abuse  Act  of             

1988,  enacted  November  18,  1988,  is  United  States  federal  law  requiring  that  (among  other               

provisions)  the  labels  of  alcoholic  beverages  carry  a  government  warning.  The  warning  reads:  (1)               

According  to  the  Surgeon  General,...  (2)  Consumption  of  alcoholic  beverages  impairs  your  ability              

to  drive  a  car  or  to  operate  machinery  ....;  The  ABLA  also  contains  a  declaration  of  policy  and                   

purpose,  which  states  the  United  States  Congress  finds  that:  The  American  public  should  be               

informed  about  the  health  hazards  that  may  result  from  the  consumption  or  abuse  of  alcoholic                

beverages,  and  has  determined  that  it  would  be  beneficial  to  provide  a  clear,  non-confusing               

reminder  of  such  hazards,  and  that  there  is  a  need  for  national  uniformity  in  such  reminders  in                  

order  to  avoid  the  promulgation  of  incorrect  or  misleading  information  and  to  minimize  burdens               

on   interstate   commerce.  
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60. Defendants,  including  Dave  and  Buster’s,  Matador  and  ROE  RETAILER,  and  each            

of   them,   placed   on   the   market   a   defective   product.  

61.   Decedents’   deaths   were   caused   by   the   defect   in   the   product.  

62. Such  defects  existed  when  the  product  left  the  hands  of  the  Defendants  including              

Dave   and   Buster’s,   Matador   and   ROE   RETAILER,   and   each   of   them.  

63. It  is  unreasonably  dangerous  to  place  the  product  in  the  hands  of  a  consumer  without                

adequate   warning   concerning   its   safe   and   proper   use.  

64. As  a  direct  and  proximate  result  of  the  defective  product,  Plaintiffs  have  been              

deprived  of  the  services,  assistance,  comfort,  society,  support  maintenance,  and  companionship  of             

Damaso  I.  Puente  and  Christa  Puente,  and  were  caused  great  emotional  damage  and  injury  in  an                 

amount  to  be  more  specifically  determined  at  the  time  of  trial,  but  which  is  an  amount  in  excess                   

of   $15,000.00.   

65. As  a  direct  and  proximate  result  of  the  defective  product,  Damaso  I.  Puente  and               

Christa  Puente  were  caused  great  pain  and  suffering  in  an  amount  to  be  more  specifically                

determined   at   trial,   but   which   is   an   amount   in   excess   of   $15,000.00.  

FIFTH   CAUSE   OF   ACTION  

66. Plaintiffs   repeat   and   reallege   each   and   every   allegation   contained   in   the   foregoing  

paragraphs   and   incorporate   the   same   herein   by   reference.   

67. Prior   to   the   purchase   or   use   of   the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages,   Defendants,  

including   Dave   and   Buster’s,   Matador   and   ROE   RETAILER,   and   each   of   them,   in   order   to   induce  

the   purchase   or   use   of   the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages,   provided   express   warranties   and  

representations,   including,   but   not   limited   to,   the   warranty   that   the   products   were   fit   for   use   for  

the   purpose   intended.  
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68. The   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages   were   purchased   and/or   used   in   reliance   on  

said   express   warranties   and   representations.  

69. Said   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages   were   defective   and   unreasonably  

dangerous,   were   not   fit   for   the   purposes   and   uses   for   which   they   were   intended,   and   were   not   of  

merchantable   quality.  

70. As   a   direct   and   proximate   result   of   the   breach   of   express   warranties   and  

representations   by   the   Defendants,   including   Dave   and   Buster’s,   Matador   and   ROE   RETAILER,  

and   each   of   them,   Plaintiff   was   caused   to   suffer   the   injuries   and   damages   as   herein   set   forth.  

SIXTH   CAUSE   OF   ACTION  

71. Plaintiffs   repeat   and   reallege   each   and   every   allegation   contained   in   the   foregoing  

paragraphs   and   incorporate   the   same   herein   by   reference.   

72. Defendants,   including   Dave   and   Buster’s,   Matador   and   ROE   RETAILER,   and   each  

of   them,   impliedly   warranted   that   the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages   were   fit   for   use   for  

the   purpose   for   which   they   were   designed,   and   that   the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages  

were   fit   and   suitable   for   the   use   in   fact   made   by   Aparicio.  

73. In   purchasing   and   using   the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages,   Aparicio   relied   on  

the   skill   and   judgment   of   Defendants,   including   Dave   and   Buster’s,   Matador   and   ROE  

RETAILER,   and   each   of   them,   and   the   implied   warranty   of   fitness   for   the   purpose   for   which  

Aparicio   purchased   and/or   used   the   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages.  

74. The   tequila   and   other   alcoholic   beverages   were   not   fit   for   use   for   its   intended  

purpose   and   Defendants,   including   Dave   and   Buster’s,   Matador   and   ROE   RETAILER,   and   each  

of   them,   breached   the   implied   warranty   of   fitness.  
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75. As   a   direct   and   proximate   result   of   the   breach   of   implied   warranty   of   fitness   by  

Defendants,   including   Dave   and   Buster’s,   Matador   and   ROE   RETAILER,   and   each   of   them,  

Plaintiffs   were   caused   to   suffer   said   injuries   and   damages   herein   set   forth.  

SEVENTH   CAUSE   OF   ACTION   

76. Plaintiffs   repeat   and   reallege   each   and   every   allegation   contained   in   the   foregoing  

paragraphs   and   incorporate   the   same   herein   by   reference.  

77. The   Defendants,    including   Dave   and   Buster’s,   Matador   and   ROE   RETAILER,    and  

each   of   them,   promoted   a   dangerous   activity   with   a   complete   lack   of   disregard   for   the   safety   of  

the   community   in   which   they   live   and   do   business.   

78. The   Defendants,    including   Dave   and   Buster’s,   Matador   and   ROE   RETAILER,    and  

each   of   them,   were   promoting   and   encouraging    drinking   and   driving.  

79. There   is   a   special   relationship   between   the   Defendants    including   Dave   and   Buster’s,  

Matador   and   ROE   RETAILER,    and   Defendant   Aparicio;   

the   harm   created   by   Aparicio's   conduct   is   foreseeable.  

80. Defendants    including   Dave   and   Buster’s,   Matador   and   ROE   RETAILER,    condone  

bartenders   to   do   shots   with   customers.  

81. Defendants,    including   Dave   and   Buster’s,   Matador   and   ROE   RETAILER,    and   each  

of   them,   failed   to   warn   or   take   steps   to   provide   transportation   for   competitors    in   any   of   these  

drinking   challenges.   

EIGHTH   CAUSE   OF   ACTION  

82. Defendants,   including   Dave   and   Buster’s,   Matador   and   ROE   RETAILER,   and   each  

of   them,   were   negligent   and   careless   in   failing   to   adequately   investigate   the   background,  

personality   traits   and   work   history   of   their   employees,   and   each   of   them,   subsequent   to   hiring.   
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83. Defendants,   including   Dave   and   Buster’s,   Matador   and   ROE   RETAILER,   in   the  

exercise   of   ordinary   care,   should   have   known   of   the   individual   employees’   unfitness   to   act   as  

responsible   employees   and   should   not   have   hired/retained   the   employees.   

84. Defendants,   including   Dave   and   Buster’s,   Matador   and   ROE   RETAILER,   and   each  

of   them,failed   to   adopt   and   administer   adequate   procedures   to   protect   third   parties.   

85. Defendants,   including   Dave   and   Buster’s,   Matador   and   ROE   RETAILER,   and   each  

of   them,   failed   to   evaluate,   supervise   and/or   investigate   factual   indications   which   suggested   that  

overserving   and/or   serving   to   employees   would   create   risks   to   third   parties.   

86. Defendants,   including   Dave   and   Buster’s,   Matador   and   ROE   RETAILER,   and   each  

of   them,   failed   to   reasonably   supervisor   or   monitor   service   of   alcoholic   beverages   to   ensure  

adequate   safety   precautions   were   taken   and   to   recognize   and   evaluate   potential   risks   to   third  

parties.   

87. Defendants,    including   Dave   and   Buster’s,   Matador   and   ROE   RETAILER,    and   each  

of   them   was   negligent   and   careless   in   failing   to   adequately   train   and   educate   its   employees   on   the  

dangers   of   serving   intoxicated   co-workers,    patrons   and   friends.   

88. Defendants,    including   Dave   and   Buster’s,   Matador   and   ROE   RETAILER,    and   each  

of   them,   failed   to   adequately   evaluate,   supervise   and/or   investigate   activities   on   its   premises   that  

indicated   danger   to   society.  

89. Defendants,    including   Dave   and   Buster’s,   Matador   and   ROE   RETAILER,    and   each  

of   them,   failed   to   use   reasonable   care   to   protect   third   parties   from   risk.  

90. Defendant   Matador   breached   its   duty   by   failing   to   exercise   due   care   in   the   hiring,  

training,   retention   and   supervision   of   its   managers,   bartenders   and   servers.  

91. Defendant   Dave   &   Buster’s   breached   its   duty   by   failing   to   exercise   due   care   in   the  

hiring,   training,   retention   and   supervision   of   its   managers,   bartenders   and   servers.  
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92. Defendant   Matador   breached   its   duty   by   intentionally   encouraging   its   managers,  

bartenders   and   servers   to   violate   the   law   through   its   hiring,   training,   retention   and   supervision   of   its  

managers,   bartenders   and   servers   in   order   to   maximise   profits   for   the   company.  

93. Defendant   Dave   &   Buster’s   breached   its   duty   by   intentionally   encouraging   its  

managers,   bartenders   and   servers   to   violate   the   law   through   its   hiring,   training,   retention   and  

supervision   of   its   managers,   bartenders   and   servers   in   order   to   maximise   profits   for   the   company.  

94.   At   all   times   material   to   this   complaint,   Defendant   Henry   Biderman   Aparicio   was  

employed   at   Casa   Del   Matador   working   behind   the   bar.   Defendant   Casa   Del   Matador,   and   DOE  

1-2   knew   or   should   have   known   that   this   Defendant   exhibited   known   vicious,   dangerous,   and  

lawless   propensities   that   posed   a   substantial   risk   of    harm   to   the   public.   These   known   propensities  

included:  

a. Arrest   for   drug   use;  

b. Reckless   driving   on   the   wrong   side   of   the   road;  

c. Arrest   for   carrying   a   concealed   weapon   around   schools;  

d.   Social   media   posts   indicating   a   contempt   for   the   law   and   law   enforcement  

95. At   all   times   complained   of,     Morgan   Hurley,    Casa   Del   Matador   and   its   employees  

acted   in   concert   with   Defendant   Aparicio.    Due   to   Aparicio’s   employment   relationship   with   Casa  

Del   Matador,   Defendants   escorted   him   out   of   the   establishment   and   looked   in   on   him   while   in  

his   vehicle   in   the   parking   lot,   knowing   that   Aparicio   was   going   to   operate   a   motor   vehicle   on   a  

public   roadway   while   intoxicated   in   violation   of   State   Law.  

96.   Defendants   Casa   Del   Matador   and   their   employees   violated   their   duty   of   care   by:  

a. Affirmatively   aiding   a   severely   intoxicated   person   to   operate   a   motor   vehicle;  

b. Affirmatively   participating   in   the   commission   of   a   crime;  
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c. Failing   to   render   aid   to   a   severely   intoxicated   person   unable   to   safely   operate   a  

motor   vehicle;  

d. Failing   to   obtain   transportation   for   Defendant   Aparicio   and   Hurley;  

e. Failing   to   call   the   police   to   prevent   a   crime.  

97. As   a   direct   and   proximate   result   of   the   conduct   of   Defendants   and   Henry   Biderman  

Aparicio’s   employment   at   Casa   Del   Matador,   Damaso   I.   Puente   and   Christa   Puente   were   killed,  

all   to   Plaintiffs’   damages   as   are   hereinafter   alleged.  

98. The   Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   under   the   doctrine   of   respondeat   superior,   are  

liable   to   the   Plaintiffs   for   their   damages   caused   by   the   Defendant   Aparicio.  

99. The   actions   of   Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   in   this   matter   have   been   intentional,  

fraudulent,   malicious,   oppressive,   reckless,   and   in   conscious   disregard   of   Plaintiffs'   rights   and  

therefore   Plaintiffs   are   entitled   to   punitive   damages   in   an   amount   in   excess   of   Fifteen   Thousand  

Dollars   ($15,000.00).  

100. Casa   Del   Matador   knew   or   should   have   known   that   Defendant   was   not   fit   for   the  

employment   and   was   a   danger   to   others   and   still   employed   Aparicio.    Defendant   breached   a   duty  

in   hiring   an   employee   knowing   or   should   have   known   of   dangerous   propensities.     Matador   and  

Casa   Del   Matador   ratified   the   acts   of   Defendant   Aparicio   and   his   co-actor.    Matador   and   Casa  

del   Matador   promoted   illegal   behavior.     Employees   received   preferential   treatment   which  

directly   caused   injuries   and   damages   to   Plaintiffs.   

101. The   actions   of   Defendants   were   reckless   and   in   violation   of   NRS   42.010   and   give  

rise   to   punitive   damages   pursuant   to   that   section   and   other   state   laws.   

102. Defendants   knew   that   driving   under   the   influence   was   breaching   a   duty   owed   to  

Plaintiffs.  
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103. Defendants   substantially   assisted   and   encouraged   Aparicio’s   conduct   and   Plaintiffs  

thereby   sustained   damages.  

104. As   a   result   of   the   foregoing   wrongful   conduct,   Plaintiffs   have   suffered   great   physical  

and   mental   harm,   mental   anxiety,   grief   and   sorrow.   

NINTH   CAUSE   OF   ACTION   

105. Plaintiffs   repeat   and   reallege   each   and   every   allegation   contained   in   the   foregoing  

paragraphs   and   incorporate   the   same   herein   by   reference.  

106. Clark   County   code   section   8.20.300   provides   that   it   is   unlawful   for   any   licensee  

under   the   provisions   of   this   chapter,   or   any   of   his   servants   or   employees,   to   sell,   serve   or   give  

away   alcoholic   liquor   to   any   intoxicated   person.     Matador   is   subject   to   the   Statutes   of  

Washington   including   RCW   66.44.200   (1)   which   provides   that   no   person   shall   sell   any   liquor   to  

any   person   apparently   under   the   influence   of   liquor.  

107. That   Defendant   Matador   and   Defendant   Dave   &   Buster’s   violated   these   laws   by  

overserving   Defendants   Aparicio   and   Hurley   when   each   was   obviously   intoxicated.   

108. That   Plaintiffs   were,   at   the   time   of   the   incident   complained   of,   within   the   class   of  

persons   whom   the   above   referenced   laws   were   designed   to   protect   and   that   the   violation   of   the  

laws   by   Defendants   was   the   direct   and   proximate   cause   of   the   Decedents’   injuries   and   deaths   and  

the   Plaintiff’s   grief   and   sorrow.   

109. Violation   of   these   statutory   and   code   provisions   establish   negligence   per   se   on   the  

part   of   Defendant   Matador   and   Defendant   Dave   &   Buster’s.   

110. That    Defendants’   actions   are   not   protected   by   NRS   41.1305   as   they   were   outside   of  

the   limited   merely   “serves,   sells   or   otherwise   furnishes”   alcoholic   beverages   specifically   were  

violations   of   the   county   code   section   cited.   

 
21  AA100



 

111. As   a   result   of   the   foregoing   wrongful   conduct,   Plaintiffs   have   suffered   great   physical  

and   mental   harm,   mental   anxiety,   grief   and   sorrow.   

TENTH   CAUSE   OF   ACTION  

112. Plaintiffs   repeat   and   reallege   each   and   every   allegation   contained   in   the   foregoing  

paragraphs   and   incorporate   the   same   herein   by   reference.  

113. To   the   extent    NRS   41.1305   is   ambiguous   or   protects   the    Defendants   under   the   facts  

of   this   case,   it   is   an   unconstitutional   taking   and   violation   of   the   equal   protection   of   the   law   and   a  

taking   of   life   liberty   and   the   pursuit   of   happiness   of   the   Plaintiffs   without   due   process   of   law.  

NRS   41.1305   is   unconstitutional.   

114. Plaintiffs   further   allege   that   application   of   NRS   41.1305   immunity   against  

“dramshop”   type   civil   claims   under   the   facts   of   this   case   is   a   violation   of   Plaintiff’s   Civil   rights  

under   the   Due   Process   and   Equal   Protection   provisions   of   the   Constitution   of   the   State   of   Nevada,  

and   the   Constitution   of   the   United   States   of   America.   

115. That    Defendants’   actions   are   not   protected   by   NRS   41.1305   as   they   were   outside   of  

the   limited   merely   “serves,   sells   or   otherwise   furnishes”   alcoholic   beverages.   

116. That   decedent   Damaso   Puente   was   a   person   of   latin   descent   and   was   the   victim   of  

the   violation   of   the   laws   stated   herein.  

117. An   actual   controversy   has   arisen   and   now   exists   between   Plaintiffs   and   Defendants  

concerning   the   respective   rights   and   duties   under   the   law   and   related   to   the   law.   

118. Plaintiffs   desire   a   judicial   determination   of   their   rights   and   duties   and   a   declaration  

as   to   their   rights   and   remedies   under   the   law   and   that   the   law   is   unconstitutional.  

ELEVENTH    CAUSE   OF   ACTION   

119.   Plaintiffs   repeat   and   reallege   each   and   every   allegation   contained   in   the   foregoing  

paragraphs   and   incorporate   the   same   herein   by   reference.   
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120. Upon   information   and   belief,   at   all   times   herein   mentioned   each   of   the   Defendants  

was   the   agent   and   employee   of   the   other   Defendants   and   was   acting   within   the   course,   scope   and  

authority   of   said   agency;   each    Defendant   approved,   ratified   and   authorized   the   acts   of   each   of   the  

other   Defendants   as   herein   alleged;   each   Defendant    was   subject   to   a   right   of   control   by   the   other  

Defendants;   each   Defendant   was   authorized   to   act   for   each   and   all   of   the   other   Defendants;   and  

each   Defendant   is   a   successor   in   interest   to   each   of   the   other   Defendants.   

121. Upon   information   and   belief,   Defendant   Aparicio,   was   employed   by   Defendants,  

and   each   of   them,   and   was   acting   within   the   course   and   scope   of   his   employment   when   the  

incident   herein   complained   of   occurred.  

122. Under   the   doctrine   of   respondeat   superior,   Defendants   are   jointly   and   severally  

liable   for   the   torts   and   conduct   of   its   employees   herein   referenced   directly   and   proximately  

damaging   the   Plaintiffs   in   an   amount   to   be   more   specifically   determined   at   the   time   of   trial.  

IV.   DAMAGES  

123. By   reason   of   the   premises,   and   as   a   direct   and   proximate   result   of   the   aforesaid  

negligence,   carelessness,   criminal   and   other   wrongful   acts   of   Defendants,   and   each   of   them,  

delineated   herein,   Decedents   Damaso   I.   Puente   and   Christa   Puente,   sustained   multiple   blunt   force  

trauma   injuries,   and   conscious   pain   and   suffering,   which   were   the   proximate   cause   of   their   death,  

amounting   to   damage   in   an   amount   in   excess   of   $15,000.00.  

124. Prior   to   the   injuries,   complained   of   herein,   Decedents   Damaso   I.   Puente   and   Christa  

Puente   were   able-bodied   persons,   capable   of   being   gainfully   employed   and   capable   of   engaging  

in   all   other   activities   for   which   they   were   otherwise   suited   and   have   thereby   suffered   a   loss   of  

future   earnings   and   household   services.   
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125. That   Damaso   S.   Puente,   Maria   Puente,   Daniel   Malone   and   Diane   Malone,   were   each  

caused   to   suffer   grief   and   sorrow,   loss   of   probable   support,   companionship,   society,   comfort   and  

consortium   as   a   result   of   the   death   and   disfigurement   of   Damaso   I.   Puente   and   Christa   Puente,  

amounting   to   damage   in   an   amount   in   excess   of   $15,000.00.  

126. By   reason   of   the   premises,   and   as   a   direct   and   proximate   result   of   the   aforesaid  

negligence   and   carelessness,   criminal   and   other   wrongful   acts   of   Defendants,   and   each   of   them,  

Plaintiffs   have   been   caused   to   expend   monies,   for   funeral   and   miscellaneous   expenses   incidental  

thereto   as   of   this   time   in   the   approximate   amount   of   $15,000.00   and   may   in   the   future   be   caused  

to   expend   additional   monies   for   funeral   expenses   and   miscellaneous   expenses   incidental   thereto,  

in   a   sum   not   yet   presently   ascertainable,   and   leave   of   Court   will   be   requested   to   include   said  

additional   damages   when   the   same   have   been   fully   determined.  

127. The   Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   are   guilty   of   oppression,   fraud   and   malice,  

express   or   implied,   and   Plaintiffs   in   addition   to   compensatory   damages,   should   recover   punitive  

damages,   pursuant   to   NRS   42.010   and   other   legal   basis,   for   the   sake   of   example   and   by   way   of  

punishing   the   Defendants,   and   each   of   them.   

128. The   Plaintiffs   have   been   required   to   retain   the   law   firm   of   Christensen   Law   Offices,  

LLC   to   prosecute   this   action,   and   are   entitled   to   a   reasonable   attorney's   fee.  

WHEREFORE,  Plaintiffs,  expressly  reserving  the  right  herein  to  include  all  items  of             

damage,   demand   judgment   against   the   Defendants,   and   each   of   them,   as   follows:  

1. General   damages   in   an   amount   in   excess   of   $15,000.00;  

2. General   damages   in   an   amount   in   excess   of   $15,000.00;  

3. Special   damages   in   an   amount   in   excess   of   $15,000.00;  

4. Pecuniary   damages   for   Plaintiffs’   grief   and   sorrow   in   excess   of   $15,000.00  
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5. For   damages   for   conscious   pain,   suffering,   disfigurement,   mental   anguish   and   loss   of  

enjoyment   of   life   of   the   Decedents   in   an   amount   in   excess   of   $15,000.00;   

6. For   loss   of   earning   capacity   and   future   loss   of   earning   capacity   of   Decedents   in   amounts  

to   be   proven   at   trial;   

7. Special   damages   for   medical,   funeral   and   other   expenses   according   to   proof;  

8. For   damages   for   wrongful   death   in   an   amount   in   excess   of   $15,000.00;  

9. Punitive   damages   in   excess   of   $15,000.00;  

10. For   declaratory   judgment;   

11. Costs   of   this   suit;  

12. Attorney's   fees;  

13. For   such   other   and   further   relief   as   to   the   Court   may   seem   just   and   proper   in   the  

premises.  

  
DATED   THIS   ____   day   of   August,   2020.  

  
      CHRISTENSEN   LAW   OFFICES,   LLC  
 
 
       BY:___________________________  

THOMAS   CHRISTENSEN,   ESQ.   
Nevada   Bar   No.   2326  
1000   S.   Valley   View   Blvd.   
Las   Vegas,   Nevada    89107  
Attorney   for   Damaso   Puente,   Maria   Puente,   

 Daniel   Malone   and   Diane   Malone  

 
25  AA104

hooke
Typewriter
7th



AA105

hooke
Typewriter
#8: Renewed Motion to Dismiss 



 

 

 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

MICHAEL P. LOWRY, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10666 
E-mail: Michael.Lowry@wilsonelser.com  
VIRGINIA T. TOMOVA, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 12504 
E-mail: Virginia.Tomova@wilsonelser.com   
6689 Las Vegas Blvd. South, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 
Tel: 702.727.1400/Fax: 702.727.1401, do  
Attorneys for Dave & Buster’s of Nevada, Inc. 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

Mr. Aparicio drove drunk and killed Damaso & Christa Puente.  He was convicted for his 

actions and is serving a 15 year sentence.  In Nevada, the person who drove drunk is responsible 

for his actions, not the restaurants where he drank.  The facts pled in the original complaint did not 

state a claim upon which Plaintiffs could recover because NRS 41.1305(1) bars any recovery from 

Dave & Buster’s in this scenario.  The court granted Plaintiffs leave to file an amended complaint, 

but the facts alleged are still subject to NRS 41.1305(1).  Consequently the amended complaint 

should be dismissed as to Dave & Buster’s per NRCP 12(b)(5). 

 

 

   Damaso S. Puente, individually and on behalf of the 
Estate of Damaso I. Puente; Maria Puente; Daniel 
Malone; and Diane Malone, individually and on 
behalf of the Estate of Christa Puente,  

Plaintiffs,  

vs.  

Henry Biderman Aparicio; Morgan Hurley; Dave & 
Buster’s of Nevada, Inc.; MAT-Summerlin, LLC dba 
Casa del Matador Summerlin; Mocore, LLC; Does I-
V, and Roe Corporations I-V, Roe Manufacturer I-V; 
Roe Wholesaler I-V; Roe Retailer I-V,  

Defendants. 

 Case No.: A-20-813787-C 
Dept. No.: 18 
 
 
Dave & Buster’s of Nevada, Inc.’s 
Renewed Motion to Dismiss 
 
Hearing Requested 

   

Case Number: A-20-813787-C

Electronically Filed
8/14/2020 4:35 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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DATED this 14th day of August, 2020. 

 
 

BY:  /s/ Michael P. Lowry  
MICHAEL P. LOWRY, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10666 
VIRGINIA T. TOMOVA, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 12504 
6689 Las Vegas Blvd. South, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 
Attorneys for Dave & Buster’s of Nevada, Inc. 
 

Memorandum of Points & Authorities 

I. Plaintiffs are still suing for Aparicio’s decision to drive drunk. 

Plaintiffs’ amended complaint alleges that on May 15, 2018 Aparicio drank at least 13 

tequila based drinks in the 3 hours and 15 minutes.1  He consumed these drinks at “Dave and 

Buster’s and Matador which are located in close proximity in the same mall building complex and 

share common parking.”2  At least five of those drinks were consumed at Casa del Matador.3  

Aparicio consumed no food while he was drinking.4   

Plaintiffs specifically allege Dave & Buster’s continued to serve alcohol to Aparicio 

although he “was obviously intoxicated and even though Dave & Buster’s knew Aparicio would 

thereafter be operating a motor vehicle.”5  Plaintiffs also allege Aparicio had a “friendly 

relationship with Dave & Buster’s,” who provided Aparicio “with alcoholic beverages for free.”6  

Plaintiffs finally accuse Dave & Buster’s employees of “helping Defendant Aparicio to the vehicle 

and providing him with the keys.”7 

                                                 
1 Amended Complaint at ¶ 21. 
2 Id. 
3 Id. at ¶ 30. 
4 Id. at ¶ 29. 
5 Id. at ¶ 24. 
6 Id. at ¶ 25. 
7 Id. at ¶ 26. 

AA107



 

-3- 
 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Plaintiffs allege that, while at Casa del Matador, Aparicio was obviously intoxicated but 

was still served drinks.8  When he left, Casa del Matador’s employees assisted Aparicio to the 

Hurley’s vehicle.9 

Aparicio then drove Hurley’s car, with her permission, eastbound on Sahara.10  At the 

same time, the Puentes were stopped at a red signal on eastbound Sahara, at its intersection with 

Hualapai.11  Aparicio struck the Puentes’ vehicle and killed them.12  A blood draw taken hours 

after the collision indicated Aparicio’s blood-alcohol content was 0.204%.13 

Plaintiffs’ amended complaint pleads 11 causes of action. 

a. First Cause of Action 

This cause of action still appears to allege negligence but Plaintiffs inserted more specific 

allegations as to Dave & Buster’s.  Specifically that Dave & Buster’s was negligent  

 “in providing alcohol in violation of law, internal rules and in a conspiracy and inherently 

dangerous activity to Aparicio and Hurley thus initiating and enabling the tort.”14 

 by “supporting, encouraging and enabling the activity of Aparicio and Hurley in operating a 

vehicle.”15   

 and by breaching Clark County Code 8.20.300.16 

b. Second Cause of Action 

This cause of action is identical to the original complaint.  It appears to expressly allege 

negligent entrustment against Hurley.17  It alternatively alleges Hurley was driving when the 

collision occurred.18  This cause of action still contains no allegations as to Dave & Buster’s. 

 

                                                 
8 Id. at ¶ 31. 
9 Id. at ¶ 33. 
10 Id. at ¶ 15. 
11 Id. at ¶¶ 14, 16. 
12 Id. at ¶¶ 17, 123. 
13 Id. at ¶ 18. 
14 Id. at ¶ 51(a). 
15 Id. at ¶ 51(b). 
16 Id. at ¶ 51(i). 
17 Id. at ¶ 54. 
18 Id. at ¶ 41 (it appears the amended complaint is misnumbered.  After paragraph 54 the 
numbering restarts at 41). 
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c. Third Cause of Action 

It is still unclear specifically what legal theory this cause of action attempts to invoke.  The 

only change between the original and amended complaints is italicized here: “defendants, 

including Dave & Buster’s and Matador, in concert with each other, carried on an abnormally 

dangerous activity that risked harm to the person of Decedent, which was foreseeable even if 

reasonable care had been used.”19  This is not a substantive change because even as originally 

drafted the cause of action encompassed all defendants.  This change still does not distinguish 

between the numerous defendants. 

d. Fourth Cause of Action 

The fourth cause of action appears to allege products liability against fictional defendants 

who manufactured, distributed, and sold the tequila Aparicio consumed.  Specifically, that “the 

tequila and other alcoholic beverages were in a defective condition and were unreasonably 

dangerous to a user or consumer in that the tequila was defective and unreasonably dangerous.20  

The amended complaint is identical to the original except that at various points it adds the 

language “including Dave and Buster’s, Matador, and ROE RETAILER….”21  This does not 

substantively change the allegation as Dave and Buster’s was already included in this cause of 

action.  The amendment still contains no specific factual allegations against Dave & Buster’s. 

e. Fifth Cause of Action 

This cause of action seems to allege a breach of an express warranty.  The only change to 

the amended complaint is to add the language “including Dave and Buster’s, Matador and ROE 

RETAILER….”22  This would again relate to a product claim.  Again, amended cause of action 

still contains no specific allegations against Dave & Buster’s. 

f. Sixth Cause of Action 

This cause of action alleges the tequila Aparicio consumed was “not fit for use for its 

intended purpose and Defendants, including Dave and Buster’s, Matador and ROE RETAILER, 

                                                 
19 Id. at ¶ 43. 
20 Id. at ¶ 51. 
21 E.g. id. at ¶¶ 47, 48, 50, 51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 56, 57, et. al. 
22 Id. at ¶ 67. 
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and each of them, breached the implied warranty of fitness.”23  The italicized text is the only 

change, but it is not a substantive change for the reasons previously discussed. 

g. Seventh Cause of Action 

The theory of liability this cause of action alleges is unclear.  Plaintiffs allege defendants 

“including Dave and Buster’s, Matador and ROE RETAILER, and each of them, promoted a 

dangerous activity with a complete lack of disregard [sic] for the safety of the community in 

which they live and do business.”24  Plaintiffs further allege that defendants “were promoting and 

encouraging drinking and driving” and had a “special relationship” with Aparicio.25  Plaintiffs also 

alleged “Dave and Buster’s, Matador and ROE RETAILER, and each of them, failed to warn or 

take steps to provide transportation for competitors in any of these drinking challenges.”26  Again, 

the italicized language is all that was added to the cause of action.  The cause of action still 

contains no specific factual allegations against Dave & Buster’s. 

It appears instead this cause action relates to Casa del Matador’s advertising.  Plaintiffs 

allege on January 11, 2018 Casa del Matador advertised its happy hour using a picture of Aparicio 

holding a bottle of tequila.27  They allege on January 15, 2018 Casa del Matador advertised “all 

you can eat tacos and margaritas for $25.”28  Plaintiffs also allege that, approximately two months 

after Aparicio drove drunk, Casa del Matador advertised a team tequila drinking contest.29 

h. Eighth Cause of Action 

As originally pled, this cause alleged negligent hiring as to Aparicio but the facts pled 

asserted only that Aparicio was an employee of Casa del Matador.30  The amended complaint still 

contains those allegations.31  It also adds generalized allegations that “Dave and Buster’s, Matador 

and ROE RETAILER, and each of them, failed to evaluate, supervise and/or investigate factual 

indications which suggested that overserving and/or serving to employees would create risks to 

                                                 
23 Id. at ¶ 74. 
24 Id. at ¶ 77. 
25 Id. at ¶¶ 78-79. 
26 Id. at ¶ 81. 
27 Id. at ¶ 35. 
28 Id. at ¶ 36. 
29 Id. at ¶ 37. 
30 Complaint at ¶¶ 90-91. 
31 Amended Complaint at ¶¶ 94, 95, & 97. 
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third parties.”32  Another allegation asserts each were “negligent and careless in failing to 

adequately train and educate its employees on the dangers of serving intoxicated co-workers, 

patrons and friends.”33  “Dave & Buster’s breached its duty by intentionally encouraging its 

managers, bartenders and servers to violate the law through its hiring, training, retention and 

supervision of its managers, bartenders and servers in order to maximise [sic] profits for the 

company.”34 

i. Ninth Cause of Action 

This cause of action alleges negligence per se for a violation of Clark County Code § 

8.20.300.  The only change to it is to allege “Defendant Matador and Defendant Dave & Buster’s 

violated these laws by overserving Defendants Aparicio and Hurley when each was obviously 

intoxicated.”35  This is not a substantive change from the original complaint. 

j. Tenth Cause of Action 

This section still alleges that NRS 41.1305 is unconstitutional.  The only new factual 

allegation is that “Damaso Puente was a person of latin [sic] descent….”36 

k. Eleventh Cause of Action 

This cause asserts only that respondeat superior applies to all defendants.  It is unchanged 

from the original complaint.  It still does not distinguish between any of the defendants or identify 

specific factual allegations against Dave & Buster’s. 

II. Plaintiffs must plead a set of facts that could entitle them to relief. 

When evaluating a motion to dismiss per NRCP 12(b)(5), the district court accepts all 

factual allegations in the complaint as true and draw all inferences in the plaintiffs’ favor.  

Dismissal is appropriate “only if it appears beyond a doubt that [the plaintiff] could prove no set 

of facts, which, if true, would entitle [her] to relief.”37 

                                                 
32 Id. at ¶ 86. 
33 Id. at ¶ 87. 
34 Id. at ¶ 93. 
35 Id. at ¶ 107. 
36 Id. at ¶ 116. 
37 Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas, 124 Nev. 224, 228, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008).  Dave & 
Buster’s urges an appellate court to discard this standard in favor of the federal Iqbal standard, but 
acknowledges Buzz Stew controls the district court’s evaluation at this time. 
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III. Plaintiffs have not pled facts against Dave & Buster’s that could entitle them to relief. 

Read as a whole, Plaintiffs’ original complaint alleged they were injured because Aparicio 

was served alcoholic drinks, consumed them, and drove drunk.  The same operative facts are pled 

in the amended complaint.  Plaintiffs’ problem is NRS 41.1305(1) bars any recovery from Dave & 

Buster’s under this fact pattern. 

a. Certain causes of action still plead no facts against Dave & Buster’s. 

A complaint must contain “a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the 

pleader is entitled to relief.”38  Merely lumping all the defendants together does not comply with 

NRCP 8(a)(2).  “A complaint that lumps together thirteen ‘individual defendants,’ where only 

three of the individuals was alleged to have been present for the entire period of the events alleged 

in the complaint, fails to give ‘fair notice’ of the claim to those defendants.”39  “Additionally, the 

Court notes that undifferentiated pleading against multiple defendants is improper.”40  

This same problem still applies to all causes of action except the first (negligence).  The 

original complaint merely lumped all defendants together.  The changes to the amended complaint 

specifying all defendants includes Dave & Buster’s still does not distinguish between the 

defendants.  They are still impermissibly lumped together.  As this is Plaintiffs’ second 

opportunity to provide the required distinctions, it appears Plaintiffs are unable to do so. 

b. NRS 41.1305 bars liability against Dave & Buster’s under the facts alleged. 

Read as a whole, the amended complaint alleges that 1) Dave & Buster’s sells alcoholic 

beverages; 2) sold them to Aparicio; 3) as a result of Dave & Buster’s selling alcoholic drinks to 

Aparicio, Aparicio drove drunk; and 4) injured plaintiffs.  NRS 41.1305(1) expressly prohibits this 

exact type of liability. 
 
A person who serves, sells or otherwise furnishes an alcoholic beverage to another 
person who is 21 years of age or older is not liable in a civil action for any damages 

                                                 
38 NRCP 8(a)(2). 
39 In re Sagent Tech., Derivative Litig., 278 F. Supp. 2d 1079, 1094-95 (N.D. Cal. 2003) (decided 
pre-Iqbal, applying the same Conley standard as presently applies in Nevada); Gauvin v. 
Trombatore, 682 F. Supp. 1067, 1071 (N.D. Cal. 1988) (lumping together multiple defendants in 
one broad allegation fails to satisfy notice requirement of Rule 8(a)(2). 
40 Aaron v. Aguirre, No. 06-cv-1451, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 90384, 2006 WL 8455871 n.12 (S.D. 
Cal. Dec. 13, 2006). 
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caused by the person to whom the alcoholic beverage was served, sold or furnished as 
a result of the consumption of the alcoholic beverage.41 

NRS 41.1305(2) creates the only exception to NRS 41.1305(1)’s prohibition.  That 

exception allows liability if the person served was underage, but Plaintiffs still do not allege 

Aparicio was less than 21 years old so the exception does not apply.  In short, even if Plaintiffs 

proved all the facts alleged, NRS 41.1305(1) prohibits liability against Dave & Buster’s. 

NRS 41.1305 was enacted in 1995 and represented the Legislature’s codification of a 

common law doctrine, but with a twist.  The Supreme Court had repeatedly ruled refused to allow 

a tort claim for negligence arising out of the distribution of alcohol.  Instead it had concluded the 

proximate cause of any damage caused by a person who has consumed alcohol is the consumption 

of alcohol itself, not its distribution.42  The motivation for NRS 41.1305 may have been 

Hinegardner v. Marcor Resorts, which refused in 1992 to allow such a claim even against vendors 

who serve alcohol to minors.43  NRS 41.1305 was then enacted in 1995 and expressly allowed a 

claim only when minors are served. 

c. NRS 41.1305(1) is constitutional. 

Plaintiffs’ recognize NRS 41.1305(1) as a barrier to any recovery, so the amended 

complaint alleges NRS 41.1305(1) is unconstitutional.  “Statutes are presumed to be valid, and the 

challenger bears the burden of showing that a statute is unconstitutional.  In order to meet that 

burden, the challenger must make a clear showing of invalidity.”44  “When the law . . . does not 

implicate a suspect class or fundamental right, it will be upheld as long as it is rationally related to 

a legitimate government interest.”45 

NRS 41.1305(1) does not involve a suspect class such as one based upon race, religion, 

gender, etc.  Its text creates a statute of general application. 

NRS 41.1305(1) also does not impede a fundamental right.  Plaintiffs argue NRS 

41.1305(1) violates their right to a jury trial because it bars them from recovering damages from 

                                                 
41 NRS 41.1305(1). 
42 Hamm v. Carson City Nugget, Inc., 85 Nev. 99, 450 P.2d 358, 359 (1969); Snyder v. Viani, 110 
Nev. 1339, 885 P.2d 610, 612 (1994). 
43 108 Nev. 1091, 844 P.2d 800, 803 (1992). 
44 Tam v. Dist. Ct., 131 Nev. Adv. Rep. 80, 358 P.3d 234, 237-38 (2015). 
45 Zamora v. Price, 125 Nev. 388, 395, 213 P.3d 490, 495 (2009). 
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Dave & Buster’s.  The Supreme Court of Nevada has repeatedly ruled that the right to sue for 

damages “does not involve a fundamental constitutional right.”46  When a fundamental 

constitutional right is not implicated, the Legislature may restrict court access “if there exists a 

rational basis for doing so.  In other words, constitutional ‘right of access’ challenges that do not 

implicate a fundamental right are subjected to the lowest level of judicial scrutiny--the ‘rational 

basis’ test.”47  The rational basis test is satisfied if the statute is rationally related to a legitimate 

government purpose.  “This Court may not, under such a standard, superimpose its own 

preferences on the work product of a coordinate branch of government.”48 

NRS 41.1305(1) does not impede a fundamental right, so it is subject to a rational basis 

test.  At least two other jurisdictions have considered rational basis challenges to statutes 

substantively similar to NRS 41.1305(1).  Wisconsin’s Supreme Court concluded such a statute 

satisfied the rational basis test, noting distinguishing between two groups of persons who furnish 

alcoholic beverages to others was rationally related to the legitimate governmental purpose of 

protecting persons under the legal drinking age.49 

Wyoming’s Supreme Court considered a similar statute in Greenwalt v. Ram Rest. Corp.50  

The statute at issue read “[n]o person who has legally provided alcoholic liquor or malt beverage 

to any other person is liable for damages caused by the intoxication of the other person.”51  

Greenwalt noted many potential reasons the Wyoming Legislature may have had for passing the 

statute that could satisfy a rational basis test. 
 
[T]he legislature could reasonably have concluded that the full nature and scope of 
the liability and immunity of all alcohol providers, licensed vendors and non-licensed 
persons alike, was uncertain.  …  The legislature could have rationally thought that it 
must create a comprehensive, yet simple to administer tort claim to cover all liquor 
providers and intoxicated persons. It could have rationally thought that the 
establishment of an unquestioned and predictable yet limited basis for legal liability 
would provide a more effective incentive for the responsible furnishing of alcohol and 
the realization of the primary purpose.52 

                                                 
46 Barrett v. Baird, 111 Nev. 1496, 1507, 908 P.2d 689, 697 (1995); Tam v. Dist. Ct., 131 Nev. 
Adv. Rep. 80, 358 P.3d 234, 237-38 (2015). 
47 Id. 
48 Allen v. State, 100 Nev. 130, 136, 676 P.2d 792, 796 (1984). 
49 Doering v. WEA Ins. Group, 532 N.W.2d 432 (Wis. 1995). 
50 71 P.3d 717 (Wyo. 2003). 
51 W.S. § 12-8-301(a). 
52 Greenwalt, 71 P.3d at 738. 
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Ultimately, a legislature is not required to “draw its lines with mathematical certainty or 

even that it exercise its policy-making judgment in the best or wisest way. We hold that the 

legislative classifications at issue are rationally related to the legitimate legislative objectives of” 

the statute.53 

The rational bases that Wisconsin and Wyoming found for their statutes are equally 

applicable in Nevada.  NRS 41.1305(1) is rationally related to any of these legitimate government 

purposes, so its restrictions upon access to the courts are constitutionally sound. 

d. NRS 41.1305 overrides Clark County Code § 8.20.300. 

Plaintiffs then argue that even if NRS 41.1305(1) applies, they could still recover against 

Dave & Buster’s via negligence per se because Clark County Code (“CCC”) 8.20.300 creates 

liability to Dave & Buster’s that NRS 41.1305(1) does not eliminate.  CCC 8.20.300 was enacted 

in 1965.  “It is unlawful for any licensee under the provisions of this chapter, or any of his 

servants or employees, to sell, serve or give away alcoholic liquor to any intoxicated person.” 

Plaintiffs’ position is incorrect.  CCC chapter 8.20 creates regulations for liquor licenses.  

CCC 8.20.300 states only that it is unlawful for a licensee to act in a certain manner.  Its text does 

not purport to create liability civil liability against the licensee for a violation of the regulation.  To 

this extent, CCC 8.20.300 is consistent with NRS 41.1305. 

But CCC 8.20.300 cannot be read to create civil liability to Dave & Buster’s because it 

would then conflict with NRS 41.1305.  “[C]ounties are legislative subdivisions of the state.  

Because counties obtain their authority from the legislature, county ordinances are subordinate to 

statutes if the two conflict.”54 

e. Dave & Buster’s owed no duties once Aparicio left the restaurant. 

Plaintiffs also attempt to avoid NRS 41.1305(1) by alleging “Dave and Buster’s, Matador 

and ROE RETAILER, and each of them, failed to warn or take steps to provide transportation for 

competitors in any of these drinking challenges.”55  This allegation assumes Dave and Buster’s 

owed a duty to Aparicio when he left the restaurant. 

                                                 
53 Id. 
54 Falcke & Herbig Props. v. Cty. of Douglas, 116 Nev. 583, 588, 3 P.3d 661, 664 (2000). 
55 Amended Complaint at ¶ 81. 
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First, in the factual context of this case if such a duty existed it would conflict with NRS 

41.1305(1).  The facts alleged in the complaint assert Aparicio was drunk because Dave & 

Buster’s served, sold or furnished alcohol to him.  The duty Plaintiffs allege still arose from 

conduct that NRS 41.1305(1) protects. 

Second, the Supreme Court of Nevada has rejected the idea that Dave & Buster’s owed a 

duty once Aparicio left the premises.  In Rodriguez v. Primadonna Co., LLC three men were 

ejected from a casino for being drunk and disorderly.  After being ejected, they were subsequently 

involved in a motor vehicle accident.  One of the injured parties sued the casino.  The Supreme 

Court first noted “it is well settled in Nevada that commercial liquor vendors, including hotel 

proprietors, cannot be held liable for damages related to any injuries caused by the intoxicated 

patron, which are sustained by either the intoxicated patron or a third party.”56  Consequently, 

“when a hotel proprietor rightly evicts a disorderly, intoxicated patron, the hotel proprietor is not 

liable for any torts that an evicted patron commits after he or she is evicted that result in injury.”57  

This meant “because Nevada commercial alcohol vendors are not liable for injuries sustained by 

intoxicated patrons, [the hotel] did not have a duty to ensure safe transportation for the young 

men, keep Fabian on the premises, or otherwise prevent injuries subsequent to their eviction.”58 
 
Therefore, although the Primadonna may have known that Fabian’s step-uncle was 
intoxicated and could not safely drive, we conclude, as a matter of law, that 
Primadonna did not have the duty to arrange safer transportation, prevent an 
intoxicated driver from driving, or prevent Fabian, a passenger, from riding with a 
drunk driver.  In so concluding, we note that it would be contrary to existing authority 
for this court to hold otherwise and require a proprietor to monitor the intoxication 
level or other factors related to patrons who elect to drive while intoxicated or who 
engage in other dangerous activity after they are evicted.59 
 

Applied here, Aparicio left Dave & Buster’s of his own accord; he was not evicted or 

asked to leave.  Regardless, once he left the premises, whatever duties Dave & Buster’s might 

have owed ended for the same reasons that Rodriguez v. Primadonna Co. described. 

 

                                                 
56 125 Nev. 578, 585, 216 P.3d 793, 798 (2009). 
57 Id., 216 P.3d at 798-99. 
58 Id. at 587, 216 P.3d at 800. 
59 Id. 
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f. A bailment relationship would also not state a claim. 

Plaintiffs’ final attempt to avoid NRS 41.1305(1) relies upon a bailment relationship.  

Plaintiffs’ original complaint alleged only that Casa del Matador’s employees assisted Aparicio to 

the Hurley’s vehicle.60  The amended complaint presents this factual allegation alternatively.  It 

alleges either Dave & Buster’s employees helped “Aparicio to the vehicle and providing him with 

the keys”61 or that Casa del Matador’s employees assisted Aparicio to the Hurley’s vehicle.62 

If the factual allegation that Dave & Buster’s possessed the keys to the vehicle and gave 

them to Aparicio is accurate, it would not create liability to Dave & Buster’s.  In Mills v. Cont'l 

Parking Corp. the question was “whether the heirs of a pedestrian who was killed by a car driven 

by a drunken driver have a claim for relief for wrongful death against the operator of a parking lot 

who surrendered the car to the inebriate with knowledge of his drunken condition.”63  In that 

situation a bailor-bailee relationship was created where “the bailee is duty bound to surrender 

control of the car to the bailor upon demand or suffer a possible penalty for conversion. Indeed, if 

the bailee refuses to return the car at the end of the bailment it is presumed that the car was 

converted by him.”64  As applied, the relationship ended when the driver “appeared at the parking 

lot to reclaim possession of his car and paid for the parking services. At that moment the bailee 

lost his right to control the car.”  As the bailor had no right to keep or control the car, there was no 

liability for returning it to the driver’s control. 

If Dave & Buster’s did have the keys to the car Aparicio drove, a bailment relationship 

existed that obligated Dave & Buster’s to return the keys upon demand.  Those facts do not state a 

claim for relief, just as Mills concluded. 

IV. Plaintiffs have not pled a claim for relief against Dave & Buster’s. 

This case involves a tragic set of facts.  While tragic, in Nevada these facts do not create 

liability to someone in Dave & Buster’s position.  NRS 41.1305(1) and Nevada common law that 

preceded it all state that when Aparicio decided to consume alcohol and drive drunk, he was 

                                                 
60 Complaint at ¶ 26. 
61 Amended Complaint at ¶ 26. 
62 Id. at ¶ 33. 
63 86 Nev. 724, 725, 475 P.2d 673, 674 (1970). 
64 Id. at 725-26, 475 P.2d at 674. 
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responsible for the consequences of his choices, not the place where he was served.  Plaintiffs 

have had two opportunities to plead a set of facts against Dave & Buster’s that could entitle them 

to relief.  They have been able to do so, meaning Dave & Buster’s should be dismissed per NRCP 

12(b)(5). 

DATED this 14th day of August, 2020. 

 
 

BY:   /s/ Michael P. Lowry  
MICHAEL P. LOWRY, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10666 
VIRGINIA T. TOMOVA, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 12504 
6689 Las Vegas Blvd. South, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 
Attorneys for Dave & Buster’s of Nevada, Inc. 
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Certificate of Service 

 Pursuant to NRCP 5, I certify that I am an employee of Wilson Elser Moskowitz Edelman 

& Dicker LLP, and that on August 14, 2020, I served Dave & Buster’s of Nevada, Inc.’s 

Renewed Motion to Dismiss as follows: 
 

 by placing same to be deposited for mailing in the United States Mail, in a sealed 
envelope upon which first class postage was prepaid in Las Vegas, Nevada;  

 
 via electronic means by operation of the Court’s electronic filing system, upon each 

party in this case who is registered as an electronic case filing user with the Clerk;  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Thomas F. Christensen 
Christensen Law 
1000 S Valley View Blvd 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89107 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

Shea Backus 
Backus, Carranza & Burden 
3050 S. Durango Dr. 
Las Vegas, NV 89117 
Attorneys for Morgan Hurley; Henry Aparicio 
 

Michael S. Rawlings 
Wolfe & Wyman 
6757 Spencer St. 
Las Vegas, NV 89119 
Attorneys for Mocore, LLC; MAT-Summerlin, 
LLC 

 

BY: /s/ Agnes R. Wong      
 An Employee of 
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OMD(CIV)  
THOMAS   F.   CHRISTENSEN,   ESQ.  
Nevada   Bar   No.   2326  
CHRISTENSEN   LAW   OFFICES,   LLC  
1000   S.   Valley   View   Blvd.  
Las   Vegas,   Nevada   89107  
T:   702-870-1000  
F:   702-870-6152  
courtnotices@injuryhelpnow.com  
 

DISTRICT   COURT  
CLARK   COUNTY,   NEVADA  

 
Damaso   S.   Puente,   individually   and   on   behalf   of  
the   Estate   of   Damaso   I.   Puente,   Maria   Puente,  
Daniel   Malone,   and   Diane   Malone,   individually  
and   on   behalf   of   the   Estate   of   Christa   Puente,   
  
  

Plaintiffs,   
vs.  
 
Henry   Biderman   Aparicio,   Morgan   Hurley,   Dave  
&   Buster’s   of   Nevada,   Inc   dba   Dave   &   Buster’s;  
Dave   &   Buster’s   Inc;   MAT-SUMMERLIN   LLC,  
dba   Casa   del   Matador   Summerlin;   MATADOR  
INVESTMENTS,   LLC;   OPPER   MELANG   5410,  
LLC;   MEL-OPP   &   GRIFF,   LLC;   OPP   MEL   &  
GRIFF,   INC.;   MOCORE,   LLC;   DOES   I   -   V,   and  
ROE   CORPORATIONS    I   -   V,    ROE  
MANUFACTURER   I   -   V;    ROE   WHOLESALER,  
I   -   V;    ROE   RETAILER,   I   -   V;  

 
Defendants.   
 
 

 
CASE   NO:A-20-813787-C  
DEPT.   NO:   18  
 
Hearing:  
September   16,   2020  
10am  
 
 

 
PLAINTIFFS’   OPPOSITION   TO   DAVE   &   BUSTER’S   

RENEWED   MOTION   TO   DISMISS  
 

COME  NOW  the  Plaintiffs,  Damaso  S.  Puente,  individually  and  on  behalf  of  the  Estate  of                

Damaso  I.  Puente,  Maria  Puente,  Diane  Malone,  individually  and  on  behalf  of  the  Estate  of                

Christa  Puente,  and  Daniel  Malone,  by  and  through  Plaintiffs’  attorney,  THOMAS            

CHRISTENSEN,  of  the  law  firm  of  CHRISTENSEN  LAW  OFFICES,  and  hereby  submit  this              

 
1  

Case Number: A-20-813787-C

Electronically Filed
9/2/2020 6:32 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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Opposition  to  Dave  &  Buster’s  of  Nevada,  Inc.’s  Motion  to  Dismiss.  This  Opposition  is  made  and                 

based  upon  the  pleadings  on  file  herein,  the  following  Points  and  Authorities,  and  any  arguments                

elicited  at  the  hearing  of  this  matter.  Plaintiff  respectfully  requests  the  Court  consider  plaintiffs’               

opposition  to  the  original  motion  to  dismiss  in  addition  to  these  further  points  and  authorities  as  if                  

fully   set   forth   herein.   
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MEMORANDUM   OF   POINTS   AND   AUTHORITIES  
 

Introduction   

Dave  &  Buster’s  of  Nevada,  Inc.,  (hereinafter  “Dave  &  Buster’s”)  has  filed  a  renewed               

Motion  to  Dismiss,  admitting  that  the  facts  pled  do  support  the  eight  independent  recognized               1

causes  of  action  against  Dave  and  Buster’s,  but  claiming  that  all  of  those  causes  of  action  are                  

eliminated  by  NRS  41.1305(1).  NRS  41.1305(1)  by  its  language  does  not  eliminate  any  of  the                

above  causes  of  action  nor  give  liquor  vendors  a  license  to  kill  in  Nevada.  It  does  not  authorize                   

serving  alcohol  to  an  already  drunk  individual  minor  or  adult.  In  fact  the  legislative  history  of                 

NRS  41.1305(1)  suggests  the  opposite  to  be  true.  Dave  &  Busters  cites  no  Nevada  law  holding                 2

that   NRS   41.1305(1)   removes   all   liability   from   a   liquor   licensee.   

1   The   eight   include:   negligence,   gross   negligence,   willful   and   wanton   misconduct,   strict   products  
liability,   breach   of   express   and   implied   warranties,   acting   in   concert   in   an   abnormally   dangerous  
activity,   negligent   supervision   and   hiring,   and   negligence   per   se  

2  See   Exhibit   1   hereto:   legislative   history   of   1995   and   amendment   in   2007.  
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 Dave  &  Buster’s  sole  defense  to  the  instant  motion  is  that  NRS  41.1305  is  a  complete  bar                   

to  all  causes  of  action  for  licensees  providing  alcohol  in  Nevada.  Since  that  is  not  the  law  in                   

Nevada,  and  Dave  &  Buster’s  failed  to  even  address  the  various  valid  causes  of  action  that  were                  

pled,  its  motion  must  be  denied.  Further,  since  Dave  &  Buster’s  did  not  present  any  affirmative                 

reasons  in  their  motion  to  dismiss,  it  cannot,  in  any  reply,  now  address  those  issues. See Moon  v.                   

McDonald  Carano  &  Wilson,  129  Nev.  547,  553  n.3,  306  P.3d  406,  410  n.3  (2013) ; Fr ancis  v.                  

Wynn   Las   Vegas,    127   Nev.   657,   671   n.7,   262   P.3d   705,   715   n.7   (2011).  

Dave  and  Buster’s  misstates  Nevada’s  notice  pleading  rules,  requesting  specificity  that            
is   not   required   or   possible   at   the   pleading   stage  

 
Dave  and  Buster’s  continued  criticism  of  the  general  allegations  of  the  complaint  are,  at               

best,  disingenuous.  At  worst,  it  is  an  intentional  attempt  to  lead  the  court  into  error,  delaying  the                  

litigation  and  increasing  the  cost.  “Because  Nevada  is  a  notice-pleading  jurisdiction,  our  courts              

liberally  construe  pleadings  to  place  into  issue  matters  which  are  fairly  noticed  to  the  adverse                

party" Hay  v.  Hay ,  100  Nev.  196,  198,  678  P.2d  672,  674  (1984).  It  is  obvious  to  the  court  and                     

Dave  and  Buster’s  that  plaintiffs  do  not  have  the  benefit  of  discovery  to  determine  the  names  of                  

the  bartenders,  their  employment  history,  their  training,  their  reprimands,  the  rules  and             

regulations  they  operate  under,  their  knowledge,  what  they  observed,  what  drinks  were  served,              

what  promotions  were  being  offered,  what  warnings  were  provided,  what  the  condition  of  the               

product  was,  what  the  internal  video  surveillance  shows.  etc.  That  is  what  discovery  would               

reveal.  Additionally,  summary  judgment  motions  can  be  made.  Both  Dave  and  Buster’s  and  The               

Matador  engaged  in  the  improper  and  illegal  activities  alleged  in  the  complaint.  Both  are  on  fair                 

notice   as   to   the   basis   of   liability   in   the   eight   causes   of   action   against   each   Defendant.   

The  facts  alleged  by  the  Plaintiffs  herein must  be  taken  as  true  in  evaluation  of  the  Motion.                  

Simpson  v.  Mars,  Inc.,  113  Nev.  188,  929  P.2d  966  (1997). A  district  court  order  granting  an                  
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NRCP  12(b)(5)  motion  to  dismiss  is  subject  to  rigorous  appellate  review. Lubin  v.  Kunin,  117                

Nev.  107,  110-11,  17  P.3d  422,  425  (2001) . A  motion  to  dismiss  a  “complaint  under  NRCP                  

12(b)(5)  is  subject  to  a  rigorous  standard  of  review  on  appeal.  Accordingly,  this  court  will                

recognize  all  factual  allegations  in  [the]  complaint  as  true  and  draw  all  inferences  in  its  favor.                 

[The]  complaint  should  be  dismissed  only  if  it  appears beyond  a  doubt  that  it  could  prove  no  set                   

of  facts,  which,  if  true,  would  entitle  it  to  relief.  We  review  the  district  court's  legal  conclusions                  

de   novo.’     Buzz   Stew,   LLC   v.   City   of   N.   Las   Vegas ,   124   Nev.   224,   227-28   (Nev.   2008).  

Dave   and   Buster’s   admits   that   but   for   NRS   41.1305,   Plaintiffs   have   alleged   facts   supporting  
the   eight   valid   Nevada   causes   of   action.   
 

The  facts  alleged  against  Dave  and  Buster’s  and  the  Matador  are  sufficient  to  give  notice                

to  Dave  and  Buster’s  and  to  establish  claims  for  negligence,  gross  negligence,  willful  and  wanton                

misconduct,  strict  products  liability,  breach  of  express  and  implied  warranties,  acting  in  concert  in               

an  abnormally  dangerous  activity,  negligent  supervision  and  hiring,  and  negligence  per  se.  Read              

as  a  whole,  the  complaint  alleges  that  Dave  and  Buster’s  participated  in  willful  and  wanton                

misconduct,  violated  laws  enacted  to  protect  the  public,  knew,  facilitated  and  participated  with              

Aparicio  in  driving  drunk,  introduced  a  defective  product  into  commerce,  provided  alcohol  to  an               

already  intoxicated  person,  failed  to  follow  company  policy  established  to  protect  the  public  from               

the  very  harm  that  occured,  and  that  acting  in  concert  with  Aparicio  deprived  the  Puentes  of  their                  

lives,   etc.  

 The  tragic  collision  giving  rise  to  this  litigation  took  the  lives  of  the  Puentes,  two  successful                  

and  appreciated  members  of  this  community,  on  May  15,  2018.  That  evening,  Henry  Aparicio               

and  Morgan  Hurley  were  served  alcoholic  drinks  by  Dave  &  Busters  of  Nevada,  Inc.,  after  they                 

were  clearly  intoxicated.  The  Court must  construe  the  pleadings  liberally  and  accept  all  factual               

allegations  in  the  Complaint  as  true. Blackjack  Bonding  v.  City  of  Las  Vegas  Municipal  Court ,                
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116  Nev.  1217  (2000). The  appropriate  standard  requires  a  showing  beyond  a  doubt.  B uzz  Stew,                

LLC  v.  City  of  N.  Las  Vegas ,  181  P.  3d  670,  (2008). Plaintiffs  herein  assert  that  their  complaint                   

alleges   facts   upon   which   to   support   their   claims.   

The  facts  pled  support  a  claim  under  Nevada’s  strict  product  liability  jurisprudence  against              
retailer   Dave   and   Buster’s   causing   injury   to   the   Puentes  
  

Nevada  recognizes  strict  liability  in  tort  for  products  including  products  to  be  ingested  or               

inhaled   like   drugs   and   alcohol.   

To  successfully  prove  a  failure-to-warn  case,  a  plaintiff  must          
produce  evidence  demonstrating  the  same  elements  as  in  other          
strict  product  liability  cases:  "  (1)  the  product  had  a  defect  which             
rendered  it  unreasonably  dangerous,  (2)  the  defect  existed  at  the           
time  the  product  left  the  manufacturer,  and  (3)  the  defect  caused            
the  plaintiff's  injury." SeeFyssakis  v.  Knight  Equipment  Corp., 108         
Nev.  212,  214,  826  P.2d  570,  571  (1992).  A  product  may  be  found              
unreasonably  dangerous  and  defective  if  the  manufacturer  failed  to          
provide  an  adequate  warning. SeeYamaha  Motor  Co.  v.  Arnoult, 114         
Nev.  233,  238-39,  955  P.2d  661,  665  (1998). Rivera  v.  Philip            
Morris,   Inc. ,   209   P.3d   271,   275   (Nev.   2009).  

Under  strict  liability  rules,  a  retailer  is  liable  to  the  injured  party  for  a  defective  product                 

though  the  retailer  may  be  able  to  be  indemnified  by  the  manufacturer. Piedmont  Equipment               

Co.   v.   Eberhard   Manufacturing   Co. ,   99   Nev.   523,   528   (Nev.   1983).  

Willful   and   Wanton   misconduct   of   Dave   &   Buster’s   causing   injury   to   the   Puentes   

Once  Aparicio  passed  the  threshold  of  intoxication,  he  was  no  longer  able  to  consent  to                

further  sales  and  consumption  of  alcohol.  Dave  &  Buster’s  had  stepped  into  control;  and               

instead  of  acting  reasonably,  acted  with  wanton  and  reckless  disregard  for  the  consequences  of               

its  actions.  This  illegal  activity  was  taken  for  the  sole  purpose  of  greater  profits  and  amounts  to                  

egregious  disregard  for  the  safety  of  the  patron  and  the  public. Ordinary  and  gross  negligence                 

differ  in  degree  of  inattention,  while  both  differ  in  kind  from  wilful  and  intentional  conduct                
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which  is  or  ought  to  be  known  to  have  a  tendency  to  injury. (Emphasis  added.) Hart  v.  Kline , 61                    

Nev.   96,   101 ,    116   P.2d   672,   674    (1941),    D avies   v.   Butler ,   95   Nev.   763,   771   (Nev.   1980).  

The  evidence  in  the  instant  case  supports  an  instruction  regarding           
the  willful  or  wanton  misconduct  of  the  respondents.  The  jury           
could  conclude  that  the  intent  of  respondents  was  to  administer           
dangerous  quantities  of  alcohol  to  Davies  within  a  short  period  of            
time.  190  proof  alcohol  was  deliberately  chosen  to  be          
administered,  as  it  had  been  on  previous  occasions,  and          
respondents  were  fully  aware  of  its  nature.  Further,  they  were           
aware  that  retention  of  large  amounts  of  alcohol  in  the  system  can             
be  highly  dangerous,  as  an  initiate  had  had  to  be  hospitalized  the             
year  before.  Despite  respondents'  protestation  that  they  assumed         
decedent  would  not  swallow  most  of  the  alcohol  administered  to           
him,  they  admitted  having  no  way  to  determine  whether  that  was            
so,  while  continuing  to  put  bottles  of  liquor  to  his  lips  and             
screaming  at  him  to  drink  it.  Other  courts  have  had  no  difficulty             
finding  willful,  wanton,  or  reckless  misconduct  in  the  furnishing  of           
alcohol  in  sufficient  quantities  to  cause  death,  even  under  less           
aggravated  circumstances. E.g. ,  Ewing  v.  Cloverleaf  Bowl,  572         
P.2d  1155  (Cal.  1978);  McCue  v.  Klein,  60  Tex.  168  (1883).            
Davies   v.   Butler ,   95   Nev.   763,   773   (Nev.   1980).  
 

 Dave  &  Buster’s  is  in  a  superior  position  to  measure  the  dangers  and  the  potency  of  the  at                     

least  eight  hard  liquor  drinks  it  provided  to  Aparicio.  This  callous  approach  to  the  obviously                

dangerous  situation  is  actionable.  Dave  &  Buster’s  cannot  hide  behind  consent  either  because  it               

knowingly   took   away   Aparicio’s   ability   to   consent   and   cannot   now   hide   behind   it.   

Furthermore,  capacity  to  consent  requires  the  mental  ability  to          
appreciate  the  "nature,  extent  and  probable  consequences  of  the          
conduct  consented  to."  Restatement,  Torts, supra ,  comment  b,  at          
365.  As  noted  by  Prosser, Law  of  Torts ,  §  18,  at  102  (4th  ed.  1971),                
"[i]f  the  plaintiff  is  known  to  be  incapable  of  giving  consent            
because  of  .  .  .  intoxication  .  .  .  his  failure  to  object,  or  even  his                 
active   manifestation   of   consent   will   not   protect   the   defendant."  
Davies   v.   Butler ,   95   Nev.   763,   774   (Nev.   1980).  

///  

///  

///  
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Intentional   criminal   act   in   concert   with   Aparicio   caused   injury   to   the   Puentes  

Dave  &  Buster’s,  by  participating  and  taking  control  of  the  dangerous  instrumentality  of  an               

intoxicated  driver,  participated  in  the  tort.  Its  actions  in  creating  consequences  dangerous  to  the               

community   amount   to   participation   in   a   criminal   conspiracy.   

In McCue  v.  Klein , supra ,  the  widow  of  a  man  who  had  died  as  a                
result  of  drinking  a  toxic  quantity  of  alcohol  sued  those  who  had             
furnished  him  the  alcohol  and  induced  him  to  drink  it,  on  a  wager.              
The   court   held,   60   Tex.   at   169,  

[T]he  maxim  of volenti  non  fit  injuria  presupposes  that  the  party  is             
capable  of  giving  consent  to  his  own  injury.  If  he  is  divested  of  the               
power  of  refusal  by  mental  faculties,  the  damage  cannot  be           
excused  on  the  ground  of  consent  given.  A  consent  given  by  a             
person  in  such  condition  is  no  consent  at  all,  —  more  especially             
when  his  state  of  mind  is  well  known  to  the  party  doing  the  injury.               
.  .  .  And  so  if  one  whose  mental  faculties  are  suspended  by              
intoxication  is  induced  to  swallow  spiritous  liquors  to  such  excess           
as  to  endanger  his  life,  the  persons  taking  advantage  of  his            
condition  of  helplessness  and  mental  darkness  and  imposing  the          
draught  upon  him  must  answer  to  him  if  such  injury  should  fall             
short  of  the  destruction  of  life,  and  to  his  family  if  death  should  be               
the   result.     Davies   v.   Butler ,   95   Nev.   763,   774   (Nev.   1980).  

When   Dave   &   Buster’s   chose   to   place   greater   profit   above   reasonable   behavior,   as   alleged  

in   the   complaint   on   file   herein,   it   divested   power   from   its   patrons.   Instead,   without   warnings,   it  

plied   excessive   amounts   of   high   octane   alcohol   on   a   youthful   already   disabled   patron   in   wanton  

and   reckless   disregard   for   the   safety   of   its   patron   and   the   general   public.   

Plaintiffs   have   alleged   facts   to   support   a   cause   of   action   against   Dave   and   Buster’s   for  
engaging   in   an   abnormally   dangerous   activity  
 

“One  who  carries  on  an  abnormally  dangerous  activity  is  subject  to  liability  for  harm  to  the                 

person,  land  or  chattels  of  another  resulting  from  the  activity,  although  he  has  exercised  the                

utmost  care  to  prevent  the  harm."” Valentine  v.  Pioneer  Chlor  Alkali  Co. ,  109  Nev.  1107,  1110                 

(Nev.  1993).  Nevada  has  adopted  strict  liability  for  engaging  in  an  abnormally  dangerous              

activity.  Plying  already  compromised  customers  with  excessive  alcohol  is  an  abnormally            
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dangerous  activity.  The  sponsoring  of  a  contest  or  merely  providing  excessive  amounts  of              

alcohol   establishes   the   factual   basis   for   this   claim.   

Plaintiffs  alleged  facts  supporting  negligence,  gross  negligence  and  negligence  per  se  for             
serving  an  intoxicated  person  on  the  part  of  Dave  and  Buster’s  causing  the  death  of  the                 
Puentes  
 

 Nevada  has  adopted  the  common  law  principle  and  statutory  principle  of  negligence  per  se                

when  violating  a  statute  or  code.  This  concept  is  reinforced  in  Nevada  by NRS  41.133  which                 

provides  that  conviction  of  crime  is  conclusive  evidence  of  facts  necessary  to  impose  civil               

liability  for  related  injury.  Thus,  Clark  County  Code  (8.20.300)  is  applicable  to  the  finding  of                

negligence  per  se  of  Dave  &  Buster’s.  This  does  not  create  liability;  it  is  a  statute  that  established                   

the  standard  of  care  that  is  reasonable  under  the  common  law  negligence,  gross  negligence  or                

willful   and   wanton   liability.   

In Barnes  v.  Delta  Lines,  Inc. ,  we  held  that  where  a  plaintiff             
adduced  evidence  at  trial  showing  that  the  defendant  violated  a           
statute  designed  to  protect  a  class  of  persons  to  which  the  plaintiff             
belonged,  the  district  court  erred  by  failing  to  instruct  the  jury            
regarding  the  negligence  per  se  doctrine.  And  later,  in Del  Piero  v.             
Phillips ,  we  applied  the  same  analysis  to  a  municipal  ordinance.  In            
that  case  we  determined  that  a  violation  of  the  Reno  Municipal            
Code,  along  with  the  defendant's  failure  to  yield  to  pedestrians  as            
required  by  the  "rules  of  the  road,"  required  that  the  jury  be             
instructed  regarding  negligence  per  se. Vega  v.  Eastern  Courtyard          
Assocs ,   117   Nev.   436,   440   (Nev.   2001).  

 
Even  in  jurisdictions  that  recognize  dram  shop  liability,  the  dram  shop  statute  is  not  the                 

exclusive  remedy  when  an  independent  cause  of  action  recognized  at  common  law,  like              

negligence,  exists.  For  example,  in  Harris  v.  Gower ,  Inc .,  the  plaintiff‘s  husband  drank  himself               

into  an  unconscious  state  in  the  defendant's  establishment. Harris ,  506  N.E.2d  624,  625  (Ill.  App.                

1987).  While  unconscious,  the  plaintiff‘s  husband  was  dragged  outside  and  placed  in  his  car,               

where  he  subsequently  froze  to  death. Id .  The  Illinois  court,  which  recognizes  dram  shop  liability,                

held  that  the  plaintiff  was  entitled  to  maintain  her  cause  of  action  in  common  law  negligence                 
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because  her  complaint  was  based  on  defendant's  negligent  conduct  toward  her  husband  after  he               

became  intoxicated,  rather  than  defendant's  negligence  in  serving  him  liquor.  Id.  Therefore,  the              

defendant   could   be   found   negligent   for   placing   the   plaintiff's   husband   in   obvious   peril.    Id.   

Also,  even  in  the  absence  of  dram  shop  legislation,  the  common  law  imposes  liability  on                

establishments  that  serve  liquor  based  on  ordinary  negligence. Alegria  v.  Payonk ,  619  P.2d  135,               

137  (Idaho  1980).  An  establishment  that  serves  liquor  is  not  abrogated  from  claims  of  ordinary                

negligence. Manuel ,  at  477.  Here,  it  is  irrelevant  where  the  operator  of  the  subject  vehicle                

consumed  the  alcohol,  be  it  on  Defendants’  premises  or  that  of  another  establishment.  Like  the                

Plaintiff  in Harris ,  Plaintiffs’  claims  herein  also  arise  out  of  the  negligent  conduct  of  Dave  &                 

Buster’s  personnel  when  they  placed  Plaintiffs  in  peril  by  conspiring  with  and  supporting              

Aparicio   and   Hurley   in   driving   in   their   obviously   intoxicated   state.  

In  a  negligence  action,  the  plaintiff  must  show:  "(1)  that  the  defendant  had  a  duty  to                 

exercise  due  care  with  respect  to  the  plaintiff;  (2)  that  the  defendant  breached  this  duty;  (3)  that                  

the  breach  was  both  the  actual  and  proximate  cause  of  the  plaintiff's  injury;  and  (4)  that  the                  

plaintiff  was  damaged." Joynt  v.  California  Hotel  and  Casino ,  108  Nev.  539,  542,  835  P.2d  799,                 

801   (1992).  

All  of  these  elements  have  been  alleged  against  Defendant  Dave  &  Buster’s  in  the               

Plaintiffs’  complaint  herein.  It  is  axiomatic  that  whether  or  not  Defendants  were  negligent  in  the                

present  case  is  a  question  of  fact  for  a  jury  to  decide.  "...[F]oreseeability,  duty, proximate  cause                 

and  reasonableness  usually  are  questions  of  fact  for  the  jury." Thomas  v.  Bokelman ,  86  Nev.  10,                 

13,  462  P.2d  1020,  1022  (1970).  The  Nevada  Supreme  Court  has  held  that  businesses  have  a  duty                  

to  act  reasonably  toward  patrons  like  Aparicio,  even  if  the  patron  is  intoxicated  or  considered  a                 

trespasser.    Billingsley   v.   Stockmen's   Hotel   Inc. ,   111   Nev.   1033,   1037,   901   P.2d   141,   144   (1995).   
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In Billingsley ,  an  intoxicated  patron  at  the  defendant's  hotel  fell  asleep  in  the  empty               

showroom. Id .,  111  Nev.  at  1034,  901  P.2d  at  142.  Hotel  Security  officers  woke  him  up,  and                  

evicted  him  from  the  hotel.  Id. ,  111  Nev.  at  1035,  901  P.2d  at  143.  The  plaintiff  was                  

uncooperative,  and  an  altercation  ensued,  resulting  in  injury  to  the  plaintiff. Id.  The  defendant  in                

Billingsley  argued  that  the  only  duty  it  owed  to  an  intoxicated  patron  was  to  refrain  from  willfully                  

and  wantonly  injuring  him. Id. ,  111  Nev.  at  1037,  901  P.2d  at  144.  The  Nevada  Supreme  Court                  3

disagreed,  and  held  that,  while  the  court  can  consider  intoxication  and  other  factors  in               

determining  reasonableness,  proprietors  have  a  duty  to  act  reasonably  toward  patrons. Id.             

"[T]he  overriding  factor  is  whether  the  land  owner  or  occupier  has  acted  reasonably  toward  the                

plaintiff   under   the   circumstances."    Id.  

Here,  Dave  and  Buster’s  had  a  duty  to  act  reasonably  toward  Aparicio  and  Hurley.               

Whether  continuing  to  serve  patrons  after  they  reached  an  obvious  state  of  intoxication,  when  the                

server  knew  or  should  have  known  the  patrons  would  be  driving  from  the  premises,  was  "act[ing]                 

reasonably  toward  [Aparicio  and  Hurley]  under  the  circumstances,"  is  a  genuine  issue  of  material               

fact  for  a  jury  to  decide.  The  general  duty  of  Dave  and  Buster’s  to  act  reasonably  toward  the                   

guests  aside,  Dave  and  Buster’s  created  an  additional  affirmative  duty  when  it  encouraged  the               

guests  to  drink  more,  in  order  to  obtain  a  greater  profit  from  the  compromised  guest.  This  profit                  

approach  to  this  industry  disregarding  the  foreseeable  consequences  to  the  public  is  no  different               

from  the  conduct  condemned  in  auto  manufacturers. Grimshaw  v.  Ford  Motor  Co. ,  119  Cal.  App.                

3d   757,   174   Cal.   Rptr.   348   (1981).  

When  a  defendant  enters  into  an  affirmative  course  of  conduct  that  affects  the  interests  of                

another  person,  he  assumes  a  duty  to  exercise  reasonable  care  toward  that  person's  safety,  and  the                 

3  Plaintiffs   allege   wilful   and   wanton   misconduct   by   Dave   &   Buster’s,   as   set   forth   below   and   in   the  
complaint.  
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defendant  will  be  liable  thereafter  for  negligent  acts  or  omissions. Brockett  v.  Kitchen  Boyd  Motor                

Co. ,  264  Cal.  App.  2d  69,  71  (1968).  The  facts  of  the Brockett  case  are  relevant  and  analogous  to                    

the  facts  of  the  present  case.  In Brockett ,  the  defendant's  employee,  Jimmie  Huff,  became               

intoxicated  at  the  company's  holiday  party.  Id.  at  70.  A  representative  of  the  company  placed  Huff                 

in  his  car  and  directed  him  to  drive  home.  Id.  Huff  subsequently  had  a  car  accident. Id.  While  the                    

Brockett Court  recognized  that  providing  alcohol  does  not  ordinarily  make  a  defendant  liable  for               

the  acts  of  the  consumer,  the  affirmative  act  of  placing  Huff  in  his  car  and  directing  him  to  drive                    

home  established  a  duty  on  the  defendant  to  exercise  reasonable  care.  Specifically,  the Brockett               

court  held  that  the  defendant  "activated  the  tort,  and  anyone  hurt  as  a  consequence  should  be                 

entitled   to   recover   from   it."    Id.    at   73.   

In  the  present  case,  Dave  &  Buster’s  "activated  the  tort"  to  a  far  greater  extent  than  the                  

defendant  in  Brockett by  continuing  to  provide  further  debilitating  substances  to  an  already              

compromised  guest  to  obtain  greater  profit.  As  a  consequence,  Plaintiffs  have  suffered             

overwhelmingly  debilitating  injuries,  and  they  are  entitled  to  have  the  question  of  Dave  &               

Buster’s   negligence   submitted   to   the   jury.   

Dave   &   Buster’s   violated   its   own   internal   policies   and   industry   standards.  

Further,   while   a   defendant   may   ordinarily   have   no   duty   to   anticipate   the   conduct   of   another  

  person,   the   law   will   impose   an   affirmative   duty   to   abide   by   an   established   standard   of   care.   An   

established  company  policy  is  evidence  of  a  standard  of  care  which  the  company  finds               

appropriate  to  serve  the  purpose  of  the  policy. O'Toole  v.  Carlsbad  Shell  Service  Station ,  202  Cal.                 

App.  3d  151  (1988).  "A  violation  of  a  rule  of  care  established  by  a  party  to  the  litigation  is                    

evidence  of  negligence." Id.  The  undersigned  counsel  believes  that  discovery  in  this  case  -  which                

has  not  yet  commenced  -  will  reveal  that  Dave  &  Buster’s  has  violated  its  own  company  policy.                  

Specifically,  Dave  &  Buster’s  likely  has  a  formal  policy  to  cease  service  to  intoxicated  persons,                
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encourage  them  to  obtain  a  taxi,  and  even  report  disorderly  conduct  to  police.  This  fairly  standard                 

policy  serves  to  protect  patrons  like  Hurley  and  Aparicio,  and  when  reasonably  followed,  also               

avoids   an   establishment’s   “activating   the   tort”   as   occurred   in    Brockett .   

Additionally,  NRS 369  requires  that  restaurant  and  bar  businesses  in  Nevada,  such  as  Dave               

&  Buster’s,  have  their  employees  certified  in  alcohol  awareness  training  that  presumably  instructs              

them  to  decline  service  to  intoxicated  persons. Dave  &  Buster’s  likely  breached  its  own  company                

policy  and  the  NRS  369  educational  directives  against  directing  intoxicated  patrons  (and  intended              

occupants)  into  their  vehicles,  endangered  the  exact  group  of  persons  the  policy  and  law  were                

intended  to  protect,  and  this  constitutes  further  support  for  the  claim  of  negligence  against  Dave                

&   Buster’s   here.   

Foreseeability   and   proximate   cause   are   also   genuine   issues   of   material   fact   for   the   jury   to   

decide,   both   of   which   are   important   factors   in   this   case.   Negligence   is   actionable   when   the   injury  

resulting  from  the  wrongful  act  should  have  been  foreseen  in  light  of  the  circumstances. Van                

Cleve  v.  Kietz-Mill  Minit  Mart ,  97  Nev.  414,  416,  633  P.2d  1220,  1221  (1981),  citing Crosman  v.                  

Southern  Pacific  Co. ,  42  Nev.  92,  108-109,  173  P.  112,  228  (1918).  Unquestionably,  on  the  facts                 

of  this  case,  the  jury  may  decide  that  it  was  reasonably  foreseeable  that  plying  the  customers  with                  

alcohol  well  beyond  their  limits  could  result  in  substantial  harm.  Further,  the  jury  will  be  entitled                 

to  conclude  that  facilitating  driving  while  intoxicated  was  a  substantial  factor  in  the  resulting               

accident,  and  the  catastrophic  injuries  suffered  by  Plaintiffs. A  civil  statute's  violation  establishes              

the  duty  and  breach  elements  of  negligence  when  the  injured  party  is  in  the  class  of  persons                  

whom  the  statute  is  intended  to  protect  and  the  injury  is  of  the  type  against  which  the  statute  is                    

intended  to  protect. Ashwood  v.  Clark  County,  113  Nev.  80,  86,  930  P.2d  740,  744  (1997) ;                 

Sagebrush   Ltd.   v.   Carson   City,    99   Nev.   204,   208,   660   P.2d   1013,   1015   (1983) .  

///  
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Liability  is  not  based  on  merely  furnishing  alcohol  that  is  then  consumed  outside  the               
presence   of   the   seller.  
 

The  present  case  is  very  different  from  the  dram  shop  cases,  like Van  Cleve ,  which  hold                 

that  the  consumption,  not  the  sale,  of  alcohol  is  the  proximate  cause  of  the  resulting  injuries                 

because  the  seller  cannot  foresee  what  the  purchaser  will  do  with  the  alcohol. Id.  97  Nev.  at  417,                   

633  P.2d  at  1222.  In  this  case,  assuming  the  facts  most  favorable  to  the  Plaintiff,  the  employees                  

of  Dave  &  Buster’s  knew  exactly  what  was  being  done  with  the  alcohol  and  what  the  results  of                   

the  ingestion  of  the  alcohol  were.  They  violated  Dave  &  Buster’s  own  policies  and  the  statutorily                 

required  education  they  received,  because  they  knew,  or  at  least  should  have  known,  that  serving                

an  intoxicated  driver  and  his  passengers  would  "very  probably"  result  in  drunk  driving  and  death.                

In  fact,  the  allegations  of  the  complaint  are  that  Dave  &  Buster’s  were  complicit  and  enabled  the                  

drunk  driving.  The  employees  should  have  foreseen  a  drunk  driving  accident,  and  resulting              

injuries,  based  upon  their  actions.  In  fact,  their  actions  did  result  in  two  deaths  that  very  evening.                  

"'As  long  as  the  injuries  incurred  were  the  reasonably  foreseeable  consequences  of  the              

tortfeasor‘s  conduct  .  .  .  the  question  of  foreseeability.  .  .  is  for  the  trier  of  fact." Crislip  v.                    

Holland ,   401   So.2d   1   l   15,   1117   (Fla.   1981).   

It  seems  to  us  that  the  aim  of  the  guest  statute  is  to  allow  recovery  if  the  host's                   

consumption  of  alcohol  proximately  caused  injury  to  (or  the  death  of)  his  guest.  The  term                

"intoxication"  is  to  be  construed  with  this  purpose  in  mind.  The  precise  degree  of  inebriation  is                 

relatively  unimportant  if,  in  fact,  the  host's  consumption  of  alcohol  was  the  proximate  cause  of                

injury.  Reasonable  jurors  can  make  this  determination. Frame  v.  Grisewood ,  399  P.  2d  450,               

(1965).  

The  Nevada  Supreme  Court  has  clearly  stated  that  the  District  Court  errs  in  finding  that  a                 

defendant  acted  reasonably  when  the  defendant  does  not  address  reasonableness  in  its  motion  for               
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Summary  Judgment.  Billingsley ,  111  Nev.  at  1038,  901  P.2d  at  144  (1995).  No  less  a  standard                 

should  apply  here.  Dave  &  Buster’s  did  not  address  reasonableness  or  any  other  factor  pertinent                

to  Plaintiff’s  negligence  cause  of  action  or  any  other  causes  of  action,  it  cannot  belatedly  do  it  in                   

its   reply,   therefore,   the   Court   should   deny   its   Motion.  

Nevada’s  lack  of  a  dram  shop  law  imposing  greater  liability  is  not  a  shield  for  wrongful                 
conduct.  
 

As  with  all  statutes  modifying  the  common  law,  a  statute  must  clearly  remove  rights               

established   under   common   law   or   the   common   law   is   still   operative.   

In  the  absence  of  statutory  restrictions  of  the  common  law  right  [of             
action  upon  judgments],  then  the  common  law  rule  must  prevail,           
and  the  question  be  determined  by  such  rule  only. Mandlebaum  v.            
Gregovich ,   24   Nev.   154,   160   (Nev.   1897).  
 

NRS   41.1305,   passed   in   1995,   did   not   usurp   the   common   law   in   Nevada  
 

The  common  law  in  Nevada  never  provided  for  liability  for  merely  serving  or  even               

consuming  alcohol  appropriately.  NRS  41.1303,  which  Defendant  relies  upon,  was  first  passed  in              

1995.  The  legislative  history  demonstrates  that  the  act  began  as  a  typical  dram  shop  piece  of                 

legislation  to  extend  the  common  law  and  hold  retail  liquor  stores  liable  for  foreseeable  damages                

caused  by  the  sale  or  service  of  liquor.  (See  Exhibit  1  hereto.)  The  Nevada  Resort  Association                 

lobbied  and  obtained  an  amendment  that  only  purported  to  reflect  the  current  law  as  expressed  by                 

the  Nevada  Supreme  Court,  but  also  specifically  removed  negligence  per  se  for  serving  an               

intoxicated  person.  Specifically  it  stated  that  “The  violation  of  any  penal  statute,  regulation  or               

ordinance  regulating  the  sale  of  service  of  alcoholic  beverages  to  an  underage  or  intoxicated               

person  …  shall  not  constitute  negligence  per  se….”  The  legislature  went  on  to  specifically  say                

that  the  statute  was  NOT  meant  to  change  the  common  law  but  was  “intended  to  affirm  and                  

codify   the   common   law   of   the   State   of   Nevada.”    (See   Exhibit   1,   at   bold   bates   number   118.)  
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The  Nevada  Resort  Association  specifically  stated  that  the  method  that  works  to  prevent              

alcohol  related  deaths  “is  mandated  server  training  which  seeks  to  educate  servers  of  alcohol.”               

The  legislature  relied  on  the  NRA  commitment  to  put  together  a  program  “to  serve  as  a  model  to                   

the  country  for  education  and  awareness…” (See  Exhibit  1,  at  bold  bates  number  040).  The  NRA                 

also  provided  policies  and  procedures  to  the  legislature  that  they  promised  would  be  followed  to                

reduce  the  carnage  on  Nevada  highways.  Some  of  the  most  interesting  for  our  purposes  here  is                 

Boyd  Gaming’s  instructions  when  encountering  an  intoxicated  guest  to  “2.2  Attempt  departure             

delay  or  alternative  transportation.  2.2.1  Comp  in  Coffee  Shop  (notify  Beverage  Department  of              

no  further  alcohol  service)  2.2.2  Locate  family/friends  to  transport  2.2.3  Taxi  --  resort  pays  if                

necessary.”   (See   Exhibit   1,   at   bold   bates   number   067).  

NRS  41.1303  has no  language  removing  any  common  law  causes  of  action  regarding              

alcohol, but  the  statute  did  remove  negligence  per  se  resulting  from  failure  to  comply  with                

licensing  statutes. T here  were  several  situations  where  the  court  found  liability,  over  and  above               

the  mere  consumption  of  alcohol,  discussed  above.  These  were  never  removed  and  still  are               

causes   of   action.   

NRS  41.1305  was  amended  in  2007,  which  removed  provisions  in  the  1995  version  that               
serving   intoxicated   persons   was   not   negligence   per   se.   
 

In  2007,  NRS  41.1305  was  amended.  The  purpose  of  the  amendment  was  to  enlarge               

liability  for  the  service  of  alcohol.  The  main  target  was  the  social  host  because  the  alcohol  retailer                  

was  subject  to  the  regulatory  structure  and  prohibition  by  code  and  internal  regulations  as  stated                

above.  (See  Exhibit  1,at  bold  bates  number  248.)  In  addition  to  extending  strict  liability  to  social                 

hosts,  the  amendment  also  reinstated  negligence  per  se  under  the  common  law  for all  persons                

violating  statutes,  regulation  or  ordinances  restricting  the  providing  of  alcohol  to  any  one  who  is                
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already  intoxicated.  This  is  the  very  set  of  facts  that  killed  the  Puentes  and  is  not  protected  under                   

NRS   41.1305.  

If  NRS  41.1305  is  read  as  Dave  and  Buster’s  suggests,  it  is  unconstitutional  and  must  be                 
stricken.  The  statute  violates  the  equal  protection  clause  and  has  a  disproportionate  effect              
on   minorities   and   the   poor.   
 

The  complaint  further  alleges  that  NRS  41.1305,  if  applied  as  Dave  &  Buster’s  has  alleged                 

in  its  Motion  to  Dismiss,  is  unconstitutional  as  it  allows  the  taking  of  a  citizen’s life,  liberty  or                   

property   without   due   process   of   law   including   the   right   to   a   trial   by   jury.   

The  Fifth  Amendment  says  to  the  federal  government  that  no  one  shall  be  "deprived  of  life,                 

liberty  or  property without  due  process  of  law ."  The  Fourteenth  Amendment,  ratified  in  1868,               

uses  the  same  eleven  words,  called  the Due  Process  Clause,  to  describe  a legal  obligation  of  all                  

states.  The  Nevada  constitution  Sec: 3.   Trial  by  jury;  waiver  in  civil  cases.   The  right  of  trial               

by  Jury  shall  be  secured  to  all  and  remain  inviolate  forever;  but  a  Jury  trial  may  be  waived  by  the                     

parties  in  all  civil  cases  in  the  manner  to  be  prescribed  by  law;  and  in  civil  cases,  if  three  fourths                     

of  the  Jurors  agree  upon  a  verdict  it  shall  stand  and  have  the  same  force  and  effect  as  a  verdict  by                      

the  whole  Jury.  The  Nevada  constitution  Section  8.  2.  No  person  shall  be  deprived  of  life,                

liberty,   or   property,   without   due   process   of   law.  

 Dave  &  Buster’s  only  basis  for  dismissal  is  a  misreading  and  unconstitutional  application               

of   NRS   41.1305.   

The  "overwhelming  majority  of  courts"  have  advanced  the         
common  law  to  meet  the  conditions  of  our  present  society  because            
it  should  be  clear  to  all  that  if  vendors  of  alcoholic  beverages  are              
factored  into  the  liability  equation,  there  will  be  fewer  intoxicated           
drivers,  like  Lovett ,  to  continue  the  highway  carnage  that  truly  has            
become  such  a  national  disgrace  and  tragedy.  Fewer  intoxicated          
drivers  translates  into  fewer  victims.  Depreciating  inebriated        
drivers  results  in  the  veneration  of  human  life. Placing  greater           
value  on  human  life  than  economic  advantage,  lifts  society  to  a            
higher  plane.  Conversely,  emphasizing  commercial  advantage       
over  human  life  and  suffering  degrades  society  and  lowers  the           
quality   of   its   civilization.   

 
16  AA136



 

The  majority  would  have  us  believe  that  there  are  so  many            
problems  and  nuances  of  problems  involved  in  placing  negligent          
vendors  of  alcohol  in  the  liability  equation,  that  these  problems  and            
the  difficulties  inherent  in  their  resolution  outweigh  the  substantial          
attenuation  of  human  misery  and  death  that  would  result  from  the            
implementation  of  solutions.  I  suggest  that  the  majority's  fears  are           
as  unjustified  as  its  priorities. Dissent, Snyder  v.  Viani ,  110  Nev.            
1339,   1347   (Nev.   1994),   (emphasis   added.)  
 

The  Equal  Protection  Clause  of  the  Fourteenth  Amendment  to  the  United  States             

Constitution  guarantees  equal  protection  under  the  law.  The  first  step  in  the  equal  protection               

analysis  is  to  determine  the  appropriate  standard  of  scrutiny  to  apply  according  to  the  rights                

infringed   and   the   classification   created.    Hamm   v.   Arrowcreek   HOA ,   183   P.3dd   895   (2008).   

In  2015,  the  Nevada  Court  upheld  a  challenge  to  the  tort  reform  statutes  imposing  a  cap  on                  

damages  in  malpractice  actions.  “To  survive  an  equal  protection  challenge,  NRS  41A.035  need              

only  be  rationally  related  to  a  legitimate  governmental  purpose.  ” Tam  v.  Eighth  Judicial  Dist.                

Court  of  State ,  358  P.3d  234,  239  (Nev.  2015)  “Thus,  we  conclude  that  NRS  41A.035  does  not                  

violate  equal  protection  because  the  imposition  of  an  aggregate  cap  on  noneconomic  damages  in               

medical  malpractice  actions  is  rationally  related  to  the  legitimate  governmental  interests  of             

ensuring  that  adequate  and  affordable  health  care  is  available  to  Nevada's  citizens.  ” Tam  v.                

Eighth   Judicial   Dist.   Court   of   State ,   358   P.3d   234,   239   (Nev.   2015).   

If  interpreted  as  Dave  and  Buster’s  suggests  NRS  41.1305  differs  from  NRS  41A.035  in               

two  constitutionally  fatal  ways.  First,  the  injured  victims  subject  to  NRS  41.1305  have  their  right                

to  damages,  and  therefore  right  to  due  process  and  a  trial  by  jury,  completely  removed,  not                 

limited  as  was  the  case  in  NRS  41A.035.  Following  the  holding  in Tam  NRS  41.1305  is                 

unconstitutional  because  it  completely  obliterates  the  right  which  is  worse  than  a  statute  that  is                

unconstitutional  because  it  makes  “the  right  practically  unavailable.” Barrett  v.  Baird,  111  Nev.              
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1496,  1502,  908  P.2d  689 ,  694  (1995)” Tam  v.  Eighth  Judicial  Dist.  Court  of  State ,  358  P.3d  234,                   

238   (Nev.   2015).   

Secondly,  there  is  no  legitimate  governmental  interest  in  protecting  the  financial  benefits  of              

serving  inebriated  persons  under  NRS  41.1305.  “To  survive  an  equal  protection  challenge,  NRS              

41A.035  need  only  be  rationally  related  to  a  legitimate  governmental  purpose.” Tam  v.  Eighth               

Judicial  Dist.  Court  of  State ,  358  P.3d  234,  239  (Nev.  2015).  Protecting  the  profits  of  bars  is  not  a                    

legitimate  governmental  interest  like  that  protected  in Tam :  “Based  on  this  express  goal,  NRS               

41A.035's  aggregate  cap  on  noneconomic  damages  is  rationally  related  to  the  legitimate             

governmental  interest  of  ensuring  that  adequate  and  affordable  health  care  is  available  to              

Nevada's   citizens.”    Tam   v.   Eighth   Judicial   Dist.   Court   of   State ,   358   P.3d   234,   239   (Nev.   2015).  

 The  decedents  herein  members  of  a  protected  minority  class  did  not  have  underinsured               

motorists  coverage.  They  were  killed  by  a  recklessly  dangerous  business  establishment.  Their             

lives  are  ravaged  and  the  root  cause  hides  behind  the  legislative  and  judicial  branches  of                

government.  

 Given  the  fact  that  Nevada  has  a  singularly  strong  financial            
dependence  upon  segments  of  the  state  economy  that  dispense          
alcohol  as  a  significant  inducement  to  other  forms  of  business           
activity,  it  is  both  unrealistic  and  irresponsible  to  espouse  the           
fantasy  that  the  Legislative  branch  of  government  will  effectively          
consider  and  adopt  dram  shop  legislation.  Although  we  can  hardly           
fault  our  legislators  for  shunning  such  an  act  of  self-immolation,           
there  is  no  excuse  for  the  "non-political"  judicial  branch  of           
government  doing  the  same.  I  realize  the  unfortunate  fact  that           
judges,  including  the  members  of  this  court,  are  elected  in  this  state,             
but  that  constitutes  no  valid  excuse  for  this  court's  failing  to  respond             
to  the  clear  and  increasing  demands  of  our  society  to  give  relief  to              
the  growing  number  of  victims  who  fall  prey  to  inebriated  drivers            
on  our  highways.  Despite  the  apparent  need  to  substantially  finance           
judicial  elections  with  contributions  from  segments  of  our  state          
economy  that  are  purveyors  of  alcoholic  beverages,  "biting  the  hand           
that  feeds  you"  should  never  be  a  consideration  in  the  judicial            
process.    Dissent,     Snyder   v.   Viani ,   110   Nev.   1339,   1346   (Nev.   1994).  
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As  reflected  by  the  positive  response  of  an  overwhelming  majority  of  the  common  law               

courts  of  this  nation,  there  is  a  compelling  need  for  the  judiciary  of  Nevada  to  provide  its  citizens                   

and  the  users  of  its  highways  with  relief  from  the  growing  menace  of  intoxicated  drivers.  We  can                  

realistically  look  to  no  other  source.  This  court  must  recognize  the  fact  that  irresponsible  and                

negligent  vendors  of  alcoholic  beverages  are  priming  people  for  roles  as  drunken  drivers  who  kill                

and  maim  the  innocent  travelers  on  Nevada's  highways.  Entire  families  are  wiped  out  and               

destroyed   by   this   menace.  

Once  again,  the  majority  places  greater  emphasis  on  economic          
concerns  than  on  human  life…. This  court  will  have  only  so  many            
opportunities  to  address  the  issues  raised  in  the  instant  case. Each            
time  we  fail  to  act,  we  assure  the  proliferation  of  needless            
human  death  and  suffering.  Since,  in  my  humble  opinion,  we           
have  far  too  long  perpetuated  a  condition  that  cries  out  for            
principled  remedies,  partial  though  they  may  be,  I  am  again  forced            
to  dissent  from  the  majority's  most  unfortunate  act  of  judicial           
forfeiture. Dissent,  Snyder  v.  Viani ,  110  Nev.  1339,  1348  (Nev.           
1994)(emphasis   added.)  
 

Minorities  and  the  poor  are  disadvantaged  in  electing  officials  and  obtaining  insurance             
coverage.   This   is   systemic   racism   where   the   power   elite   oppress   minorities   and   the   poor.  
 

A  2014  article  authored  by  Jeffery  Stempel,  a  UNLV  law  professor,  discusses  Nevada’s              

approach   to   this   situation:   

Notwithstanding  the  flexibility  that  legislatures  and  courts  have  in          
defining  legal  obligations  and  status,  Nevada’s  current  protection         
of  businesses  already  favored  with  liquor  licenses  comes         
uncomfortably  close  to  being  an  equal  protection  problem,  even  if           
it  is  not  clearly  constitutionally  disfavored  favoritism  such  as  that           
based  on  race,  religion,  gender,  ethnicity,  or  age.  Further,  there  is            
no  strong  public  policy  reason  for  being  so  protective  of           
commercial   hosts.    14   Nev.   L.J.   866,   at   894   (2014).  4

 
///  
 

 

4   Stempel,   Jeffrey   W.   (2014)   "Making   Liquor   Immunity   Worse:   Nevada's   Undue   Protection   of  
Commercial   Hosts   Evicting   Vulnerable   and   Dangerous   Patrons,"    Nevada   Law   Journal :   Vol.   14   :  
Iss.   3   ,   Article   13.   Available   at:   https://scholars.law.unlv.edu/nlj/vol14/iss3/13.  
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Stempel   goes   on   to   conclude:   
 

At  some  point,  Nevada’s  legal  system  must  ask  itself  whether  such            
extensive  immunity  for  commercial  hosts  can  be  justified.         
Nevada’s  resistance  to  the  modern  world  of  dram  shop  liability  is            
embarrassing  enough.  Expanding  it  to  other  aspects  of  the          
hospitality   industry   only   adds   to   the   embarrassment.    Id .   at   896.  
 

Denial   of   trial   by   jury   

In  Nevada,  “[t]he  right  of  trial  by  Jury  shall  be  secured  to  all  and  remain  inviolate  forever.”                  

Nev.  Const.  art.  1,  §  3.  This  provision  guarantees  “the  right  to  have  factual  issues  determined  by  a                   

jury.”    Drummond   v.   Mid–West   Growers   Coop.   Corp., 91   Nev.   698,   711 ,   542   P.2d   198,   207   (1975).  

In  order  for  a  statute  to  violate  the  right  to  trial  by  jury,  a  statute  must  make  the  right  practically                     

unavailable. Barrett  v.  Baird, 111  Nev.  1496,  1502 ,  908  P.2d  689,  694  (1995)  (“[T]he  correct               

standard  for  evaluating  whether  a  statute  unconstitutionally  restricts  the  right  to  a  jury  trial  is  that                 

the  right  must  not  be  burdened  by  the  imposition  of  onerous  conditions,  restrictions  or  regulations                

which  would  make  the  right  practically  unavailable.”  (internal  quotations  omitted)), overruled  on             

other  grounds  by  Lioce  v.  Cohen, 124  Nev.  1,  17, 174  P.3d  970,  980  (2008), Tam  v.  Eighth  Judicial                   

Dist.   Court   of   State ,   358   P.3d   234,   238   (Nev.   2015).  

Life  liberty  and  the  pursuit  of  happiness  are  fundamental  rights.  These  rights  may  not  be                

taken  away  except  with  due  process  of  law,  which,  in  this  case,  includes  trial  by  jury.  It  is  not  a                     

legitimate  state  interest  to  protect  the  profits  of  the  rich  and  powerful.  Most  decisions  regarding                

the  jury  trial  right  arise  in  the  criminal  context  and  have  focused  on  the  magnitude  of  the  possible                   

punishment  to  determine  whether  the  right  is  invoked.  Here  Plaintiffs’  descendants  received  the              

ultimate  punishment  of  death.  Their  right  to  have  all  negligent  parties  liability  determined  by  a                

jury   cannot   be   questioned.   

The  evolution  continued  in Duncan  v.  Louisiana , 391  U.S.  145           
(1968),  where  the  Supreme  Court  more  clearly  emphasized  the          
maximum  authorized  penalty  over  other  criteria  in  determining         
whether  the  crime  is  so  serious  as  to  require  a  jury  trial. Id.  at  159.                
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In Duncan ,  the  Supreme  Court  stated  that  "the  penalty  authorized           
for  a  particular  crime  is  of  major  relevance  in  determining  whether            
it  is  serious  or  not  and  may  in  itself,  if  severe  enough,  subject  the               
trial  to  the  mandates  of  the  Sixth  Amendment." Blanton  v.  North            
Las   Vegas   Mun.   Ct. ,   103   Nev.   623,   629   (Nev.   1987).  

 
 No  one  would  argue  that  a  death  penalty  case  would  need  to  be  tried  to  a  jury  under  the                     

criminal  law.  It  stands  to  reason  that  a  civil  case  seeking  to  establish  liability,  where  the  harm                  

suffered  or  “penalty”  was  death,  would  require  the  issues  establishing  liability  to  be  submitted  to                

a   jury   under   the   constitution.  

Moreover,  concerning  the  problems  that  are  of  such  paramount          
concern  to  the  majority,  I  refer  again  to  my  dissent  in Hinegardner             
where,  quoting  from  the  Colorado  Supreme  Court  in Largo ,  that           
court   instructed:  
"[A]s  to  the  consequences  of  imposing  such  a  burden  upon  tavern            
owners,  we  reject  Largo's  claim  that  civil  liability  for  the  negligent            
sale  of  alcohol  would  impose  insurmountable  proof  problems  on          
tavern  owners.  Whatever  problems  of  proof  exist,  the  plaintiff  will           
be  confronted  with  the  same  obstacles  in  reconstructing  the  facts,           
and  the  plaintiff,  not  the  defendant,  will  bear  the  burden  of  proving             
a  breach  of  duty." Snyder  v.  Viani ,  110  Nev.  1339,  1347-48  (Nev.             
1994).  

 
Again,  Professor  Stempel’s  law  review  article,  under  the  heading  of  “Needlessly  Barring             

Jury   Consideration”   wrote:  

Perhaps  I’m  hopelessly  näıve  about  the  extent  to  which  a  hotel  or             
other  host  establishment  should  go  to  avoid  placing  patrons  (and           
those  who  they  may  encounter)  in  danger.  But  what  better  way  to             
settle  the  issue  than  to  have  trial  and  jury  consideration?  Judges  too             
often  strain  to  grant  summary  judgment  out  of  what  I  suspect  is             
inordinate  fear  of  what  a  jury  may  do  if  the  matter  is  tried.  But               
such  fears  are  probably  misplaced.  Jurors  are  not  Marxist  agents           
of   income   redistribution.     Id.    at    883.  

 
Conclusion:   Dave   &   Buster’s   motion   must   be   denied.  

Dave  &  Buster’s  has  ignored  the  allegations  in  the  pleadings,  failed  to  refute  each  of  the                 

causes   of   action   alleged   and   claimed   without   support   that    NRS   41.1305   is   a   complete   bar   to   all   
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liability   of   a   provider   of   alcohol.    Its   motion   should   be   denied.   

 Dated   this   2nd   day   of   September,   2020.  

                         CHRISTENSEN   LAW   OFFICES,   LLC  
 

                             BY:___________________________  
                               THOMAS   CHRISTENSEN,   ESQ.  

           Nevada   Bar   No.   2326  
                   1000   S.   Valley   View   Blvd.  

                                                                  Las   Vegas,   Nevada   89107  
         Attorney   for   Plaintiff  

 
CERTIFICATE   OF   SERVICE  

I  HEREBY  CERTIFY  that  on  the  2nd  day  of  September,  2020,  this  document  was  filed                

electronically  with  the  Eighth  Judicial  District  Court’s  efiling  system,  Odyssey  Efile  &  Serve,              

and   was   thereby   served   upon   all   registered   users   for   this   case.   

__________________________________  
An   Employee   of   Christensen   Law   Offices  
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